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Author’s Note

|
I have dedicated this book to Peter Howard’s grandchildren. As they grow
up they will hear a great deal about their grandfather, both favourable
and critical, and I want them to know him from his words and letters.

This book is not a biography. For one thing, I do not believe that close
family members should write biographies. For another, it is too soon to
publish much of the available material. Many of my father’s friends are
still alive and his work was, by its nature, concerned with the deepest and
most personal aspects of their lives. People told him things which they
told no one else. He did not talk about these things and he would not
have wished his letters about them to be read by others, particularly in
their lifetimes. These friendships were his daily experience, and without
them his story is incomplete.

That there are omissions in this book I admit at once. Most are made
for the sake of the living not the dead, and I make no apology for them.
Others are due to the fact that his parents kept none of his letters and
papers. :

I have tried to write a book about a man not a movement —to catch
a glimpse of what Peter Howard made of life at a time when life itself
is treated so callously the world over. I have assumed that those who wish
to know more of the results of his and his friends’ work can read the
numerous books which have been written on the subject.

The effects of my father's work are not for me to judge. I know that,
in spite of extensive research, I have found only a small percentage of the
people who were influenced by him. Every year I hear of more of them,
and of many I shall never know. To me, he was a father whom I loved and
respected. He should have written this book himself for he would have
done it far better than I can. I hope, nevertheless, that it will be of interest
to those who knew him and will introduce him to those who did not.

1 would like to thank the following for their recollections and help
during the writing of this book:

Mrs. Edie Alley, Mr. Harry Almond, Wing Commander Charles L. de
Beaumont, O.B.E., Mr. Tom Beeton, Miss Hilary Belden, Mr. K. D. Belden,
Dr. Paul Campbell, Mrs. Russell Carpenter, Mr. A. R. N. Carter, Mrs. J.
Coulter, Mr. Geoffrey Coxon, His Eminence Cardinal Cushing of Boston,
Dr. James Dyce, Mr. Vincent Evans, Mr. Michael Foot, M.P., Professor
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John Forbes of Virginia, Shri Rajmohan Gandhi, Miss K. Green, Mrs.
Alton H. Gross, Mrs. F. T. L. Guilbride, Helen, Lady Hardinge of Penshurst,
Mr. Michael Henderson, Mr. William Hood, Mr. Anthony Howard, Mr.
Philip Howard, Mr. Conrad Hunte, Mrs. Omar Ibargoyen, Mrs. M. L.
Jacks, Mr. William Jaeger, Mr. William Lang, Miss Mary Lean, Dame
Flora Macleod of Macleod, Mr. A. E. Oliver, Mr. Colin Oliver, Mr.
Frank Owen, the Hon. John F. Powers, Miss Mary Rutherfurd, M. Michel
Sentis, Mr. Peter D. Strachan, Mr. Arthur Strong, Mrs. Carroll Wax, Mr.
Peter H. Webb, Mr. J. E. Whitehead, Miss Joy Wimbush, Mr. Keith
Winter, Mr. A. Lawson Wood.

I would also like to thank the following for permission to use extracts
from speeches, messages or letters received at the time of my father’s
death:

Mr. F. J. A. Cruso, Mr. Charles Graham, the Rt. Hon. Quintin Hogg,
Q.C., M.P,, the Rt. Hon. Keith Holyoake, Speaker John W. McCormack,
His Eminence Cardinal Tisserant.

I would especially like to thank the following:

Sir Max Aitken, for the use of the Daily Express Library; the Trustees of .
the Beaverbrook Foundations for permission to use two letters from the
late Lord Beaverbrook; Beaverbrook Newspapers for permission to quote
from articles in the Daily Express, Sunday Express and Evening Standard; Mr.
Garth Lean, for invaluable sub-editing; the Council of Management, the
Oxford Group; Miss Muriel Upton, my father's secretary, for many
months of untiring work in preparing the manuscript; my husband,
Patrick Wolrige Gordon, for constant support and advice; my mother,
Mrs. Peter Howard, for the complete use of all her personal letters and
papers, and without whom this book would never have been written.

AW.G



Chapter 1

ETER HOWARD came from a family which had farmed the land at
PMeldreth in Cambridgeshire for nearly three hundred years. They

were solid, prosperous folk. James Howard was a Church Warden
in 1680 and his son, Johnm, in 1710, was one of the six parliamentary
electors in the village. John's grandson, James Howard, owned a house and
eleven acres. He started to buy much of the game shot in that part of
Cambridgeshire, which he sent up in wicker baskets to be sold at Leaden-
hall Market. He was a Deacon of the independent chapel at Melbourn
and, on his return journeys from London, would bring students back on
his wagon to “preach with a view”.

James's sons did not turn out quite as he had hoped. His second son,
John, in particular, became the outstanding black sheep of the family.
He was sent to prison for debt more than once and, having deserted his
wife for another woman, died in 1850, and was buried in a pauper’s
grave. Through his sons, Henry and Ebenezer, he was the grandfather of
both Peter Howard’s own grandparents.

Henry had emigrated to Canada in 1841, and his wife, after his death,
started a ship-chandler business in Halifax, Nova Scotia. It prospered, and
she returned to England leaving the business in the hands of her sons,
Ebenezer and John. On arrival in England, she naturally got in touch with
her brother-in-law, Ebenezer, who had married a wealthy Yorkshire
mill-owner’s daughter, and himself become a prosperous property owner
in the City of London. He and his wife had one daughter, Gracie, with
whom her cousin, Ebenezer Howard of Halifax, promptly fell in love when
he came to visit his mother in the “old country”. These two became the
grandparents of Peter Howard.

Young Ebenezer made his first visit when Gracie was fifteen years old.
His schooling in Halifax had been rather primitive, but he was a well-read
man, deeply versed in the Bible and a strong puritan. He wrote clear and
excellent English and was an outstanding public speaker. But he was also a
dreamer —and bone lazy. He could not even be bothered to finish what
he was writing, and often broke off in the middle of a sentence. Gracie
wrote, “My mother said that Eben Howard was over from Canada on a
short visit, and added that he was the best-looking young man she had
ever seen. Soon after Christmas I saw him for the first time. He came into
our drawing room at 28, Old Steine, and my mother said, ‘Kiss your
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cousin,” which I thought unnecessary as we were strangers to each other.
The two of us went riding on the Downs together, and I thought him
rather a bad rider.”

Gracie has left a vivid account of their courtship and life together:

“On one occasion, I was paying a visit to an old lawyer friend of my
father’s in Camden Square, and Eben was invited to dinner. He came in
evening dress, and after the meal was over, about eight o'clock, he
whispered, ‘What about going out?’ I said, ‘Tmpossible. These people will
think us very rude.’ ‘Never mind that,’ said he, ‘let us go." And off we
went, after I had offered a few words of explanation to my host and
hostess.

“When we came back, after going to the entertainment — not a theatre —
Mrs. Webber gave Eben a letter to post addressed to my mother. The
result was that the next day I had a wire saying ‘Return at once.” ”

The Howards discouraged meetings between Eben and Gracie, although
it was impossible to avoid them altogether. On one occasion, Gracie and
her mother went to tea with a cousin, not knowing that Eben was in the
house. “Eben appeared and when we bid goodbye said he would see us
off. My mother declared this to be unnecessary, and when his back was
turned she slipped the sitting room key out and locked Eben therein.
When we arrived on the platform, there stood Eben. He had lifted the
sitting room window, jumped into the area and away to the station
before us.”

Just after Gracie’s 21st birthday the family moved to a house near
Hastings, because it was thought that the air would be good for her
father whose health was rapidly failing. One Saturday evening Eben and
another cousin appeared unexpectedly and announced that they were
staying at an hotel for the weekend. They were invited to Sunday lunch
and stayed for tea and supper.

“It was a perfect October night, October 13, 1878,” Gracie recalled.
“After supper Eben whispered to me, ‘What about a walk?’ Together we
climbed, saying little, till we passed St. John's Church, and reached an open
space. I suppose it may have been eight-thirty or nine o’clock for all
the stars were out. He looked at me quietly and said, ‘I wonder, dear,
could you some day ever love me?’ And I said, ‘Yes, I think I love you
now.

So Eben and Mary Grace became engaged, but her parents continued to
oppose the marriage. Gracie was warned by her mother: “She told me
fearsome tales of what resulted from the marriages of first cousins. And
in my heart I offered a prayer that I might never bring such misfortunes
as she described into the lives of innocent beings.”

On April 17, 1880, Gracie and Eben were married. “Father was accus-
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tomed all his life to putting on every day a fresh clean boiled shirt with
attached stiff collar. And he dressed with great care on this occasion.

“A fine carriage and pair came to our door and he and I got in saying
nothing. My mother and cousins came later and stood behind me during
the ceremony. When it started some old memories came back to my
poor old father, and as Eben said the words so he repeated after him, I,
Ebenezer, take thee, Mary Grace, to be my wedded wife.’

“I could feel my cousins shaking with laughter behind me, but Ifelt
turned to ice, both in soul and body, and was not very far from tears.

“That evening, when my father heard I had gone away to Windsor, he
put a £5 note into Matlock’s (the butler) hand saying, ‘Bring her back,
bring her back.’ ”

On this sad note Eben and Gracie began their married life. Their first
child, Ebenezer, Peter Howard’s father, was born a year later on February
10, and four more children —Kitty, Arthur, Catherine, who died in
infancy, and Geoffrey followed. None of them inherited the deformities
forecast by their grandmother. They were all extremely handsome, over
six foot, with strong foreheads and deep-set eyes. They had remarkable
memories, and were gifted both in sport and intellect.

The three boys were sent to Haileybury and Oxford ; the girl to Roedean.
Ebenezer held the record for the mile at school and both he and Arthur
were excellent rugger players. Arthur played cricket for Oxford and
Sussex. Geoffrey was an able writer and entertainer, and later became a
Q.C. and High Court Judge. They were outspoken, sometimes to the point
of cruelty — but endowed with enough charm to allow people to overlook
it. Their friends were many, for they had wit and courage, and their
parents were hospitable.

Gracie and Eben were not as happy as they had hoped. The children felt
closer to Gracie, who had a lightness of touch and gaiety to which children
naturally responded. Their father was a remote figure, with what they
came to regard as strict and Victorian points of view. He was also head-
strong. He founded a paper called Wit and Wisdom. Its editor, Alfred
Harmsworth, later Lord Northcliffe, suggested they go into partnership,
but he refused saying that he preferred to run his own paper. He ran it to
death and the Daily Mail rose gloriously to life. He collected many famous
manuscripts by such men as Barrie, but as he refused to publish them,
they were found unused upon his death. However, his shares in the London
Glove Company, which he had bought before his marriage, brought in a
lot of money.

He entered local politics and ran against Lord de la Warr (of whose
divorce he disapproved) as Mayor of Bexhill. He won the election and
became the first Mayor of the Borough.

Eben Howard took his faith seriously, preaching strong sermons almost
every Sunday morning in church. His sons did not respond. They found
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his brand of Christianity too restricting. The eldest, Ebenezer, came down
from Oxford and read for the Bar. Just before the final examination he
fell in love with Evangeline Bohm, and decided he could not wait to be
married. His parents, who had already paid the £100 fee, were furious,
but in the family tradition Ebenezer took no notice. He married Evangeline
and went to teach at the Cornwallis preparatory school near Oxford.
His home was at 5, Garden Road, Maidenhead. It was a poor little house,
as they had almost no money and he was estranged from his parents
because of the marriage.

In the early morning of December 20, 1908, a son was born to them.
They named him Peter Dunsmore Howard.
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Chapter 2

ETER'S ARRIVAL drew the family together, but the announcement

that he was to be called Peter, and not Ebenezer, created renewed ill-

feeling. Even so, Gracie and her daughter, Kitty, travelled to Maiden-
head soon after Christmas to see the new baby. During the visit Kitty
expressed an interest in her nephew’s legs and feet and, drawing back the
covers to take a closer look, discovered to her horror that his left leg was
extremely thin, and the back of his foot was attached to the knee joint —
the whole calf being bent in a semi-circle.

Gracie insisted that Peter be brought to London immediately to see the
best medical men of the day. Cost was to be no obstacle. Evangeline
protested that there was no need for this, that she was sure everything
would be all right in time. It would be hard to understand her attitude,
except that she blamed herself utterly for Peter’s deformity. She had never
been accepted by the family and was afraid that this tragedy would make
matters worse. She was also suffering from shock. In the end good sense
prevailed and Peter was taken to London. His leg was cut and straightened
but the doctors held out little hope of permanent cure. It was the beginning
of almost weekly visits to the doctor, which continued throughout his
childhood.

Evangeline Howard was a strikingly lovely woman of Austrian descent,
with ice-blue eyes, reddish hair and a hasty temper. She was affectionate
and gay, loved children and lavished affection on Peter. Her husband
Eben, on the other hand, was a strict disciplinarian and an eccentric. He
took cold baths in the morning, exercised by running or skipping before
breakfast —a habit he continued until his dying day —and ate sparingly
and in his own way. He enjoyed huge chunks of brown bread with cheese
and a packet of dates. He disliked “fuss and bother”, and was absolutely
determined that Peter should be brought up in the same way as other boys
he had anything to do with, and if possible more strictly.

In 1909, when Peter was just over a year old, his father bought for £100
a half share in Crescent House School, Cliftonville, Brighton. The family
moved from Maidenhead and Ebenezer Howard became headmaster.
The school, which consisted of a handful of boys, had until then belonged
to the widow of a Mr. Thomas, who had been headmaster for many years.
Thomas had been something of a scholar, and a Latin Primer which he
wrote was a standard work in many schools at that time. Crescent House
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had been in existence since 1860. Ebenezer Cecil Howard became known
to his boys as E.CH.

When E.CH. moved to Brighton, Miss Irene George was employed to
look after Peter as well as to act as school matron. Nanny George, as she
became known, was only twenty years old. She had come from tragic
family circumstances in London, and had been trained as a children’s
nurse in Yorkshire. She was a strict nanny in the Victorian tradition, but
she took to Peter at once.

E.C.H. was an exceptional teacher. He had a gift for imparting knowledge
to boys in ways in which they would never forget. Most of his boys were
not well off, and their only chance of a public school education was a
scholarship. He worked tirelessly to this end. He believed in cutting out
half-holidays and weekends in order to get a boy through an exam, and
often used beatings as an extra spur. His humour was of a strange variety.
One of his favourite jokes was to ask new boys at breakfast on their first
day whether they would like porridge or to “wait for the bacon and
eggs”. Most of the newcomers decided to wait for the main course. It
never came for there was no bacon and eggs. New boys soon learnt to
accept porridge at once.

It was on the question of food that Nanny George had her first disagree-
ment with the Howards. She told them that Peter was not getting enough
to eat and that more food must be sent to the nursery. Often there was
only a pennyworth of herring to share between the two of them for a
meal. Her request was refused. From that day Nanny George would spend
most of her wages on buying food for Peter. She would tuck it under the
blankets of the pram and smuggle it home for the cook, Clara, to prepare.
She also spent her money on clothes in the cold weather, for Peter had the
barest minimum to wear. The Howards, it was true, were very short of
money. But these deprivations were more a matter of principle than
finance, or meanness. They were part of Ebenezer’s way of bringing up
Peter.

From the age of one till seven Nanny George would massage Peter’s
lame leg daily with coconut butter. Each week she would take him to the
doctor. Peter would be given an anaesthetic so that the leg could be
manipulated. It was on these occasions only that he showed fear. He would
refuse to lie down on the couch unless Nanny was beside him. He would
then insist that she put cotton-wool over her mouth and nose before he
would take the mask himself. Nanny George would always oblige.

In her affection Nanny George was generous. She was a perfectionist in
the home, keeping rooms and belongings tidy and spotless. She liked
expeditions and outings of all kinds and would take Peter to the beach
at Brighton, to the Downs and for picnics in the fine weather. Every
Sunday afternoon Nanny George took him to church for the children’s
service. It was a regular and enforced visitation, which Peter remembered :
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“From the pulpit the preacher asked questions which the children had
to answer. ‘Who killed the giant Goliath?’ he would ask. Half the children
were scared to answer that white-surpliced figure which towered above
them. Half the children did not know the answer. I belonged to both
halves.

“But the stern and be-boned elbow of Nanny would give me a dig.
‘David,’ the voice would whisper in my ear. Then another dig, ‘Go on,
say David.” And obediently I would gulp and mutter ‘David’ from our
pew. ‘Very good, very good,’ the preacher would remark from the heights
above and a smile like a sunrise would dawn above the surplice, while
Nanny would proudly look around, taking to herself the admiration of her
charge. I quickly lost my sense of fright at answering the preacher. As
soon as the preacher asked his questions, I would eagerly listen for the
prompting answer swiftly lest anyone should beat me. I was in such a
hurry to reply that one day I shouted ‘Abraham’, when the answer should
have been ‘Ahab’.”

Nanny George was a sport. She was also scrupulously fair. Outspoken
in her criticisms to the Howard parents themselves when she felt their
treatment of Peter unfair, she would never allow one word of comment to
pass in Peter’s hearing. Nor would she allow Peter any liberty of criticism.

“In that nursery in Brighton they brought in a little dish with butter
made into balls,” wrote Peter. “I saw a maid come in and pop one in her
mouth. I thought what an extraordinary thing to do. After the maid had
gone out, Nanny came in. I said, ‘Do you know what the maid did?’
I told Nanny. She said, ‘Tell tale tit, your tongue shall be split, and all the
dogs in Brighton shall have a little bit." "

A young boy, William Hood,! came to Crescent House as a boarder in
1911. “When the front door was opened by the cook, Clara, on my
arrival, I had a large chunk taken out of my calf by a fox terrier called
‘Trimmer’, and the wound had to be dealt with at once by the painful
application of a caustic stick. Ebenezer Howard remarked rather un-
sympathetically that the dog only bit tradespeople.

“Peter Howard was only about two years old, a good-looking child,
very like his mother to look at, with an inward turning foot and wasted
leg which he was inclined to trip over as he rushed madly about the
place. He also had his mother’s hasty temper.

“I owe my scholarship to Haileybury entirely to Ebenezer Howard,
though it meant no half-holidays for at least two years.”

1 From 1946 Master of the Supreme Court (Tax Office).
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When war broke out in 1914, Peter Howard’s much-loved Uncle
Arthur joined up: “Uncle Arthur was of lean and tempered steel. He was
blue-eyed and blond, unlike the other black-browed, tough-hided
Howards. He was a hero, so gay and so gallant. He was a magnificent
footballer and the crowds roared as he swept forward with the ball.

“Once he set me on his back and ran with me down the street so I
felt the air rush by and a sense of peril and yet of escape from the world,
as if I were borne forward in the crow’s nest of a tall-masted and lithe
ship through tumbling seas. It was a relief and a regret when Uncle
Arthur set me down. I said, ‘Again, uncle, again,” and then gulped with
apprehension as he gripped and hoisted me aloft.”

Uncle Arthur went off to France to fight the Germans. The family gave
him a patent body shield. This was a steel waistcoat, proof against bullets
and shell splinters. It covered a man from the neck down to the small of
the back. Arthur Howard made jokes about it before he said goodbye.
To young Peter he was an indestructible conqueror:

“I remember the trains full of troops pulling out and the trains full of
wounded pulling in as dusk fell. The feverish cheers and hectic laughter.
The songs, ‘It’s a long way to Tipperary’, ‘Pack Up your Troubles’, ‘Keep
the Home Fires Burning’ —the potency of such music to tear the heart.
These were the last words so many mothers, wives, daughters heard their
menfolk sing as the trains, slowly but with gathering speed, disappeared
south into the darkness.

“The sudden silence after the troop trains had departed —all conversa-
tion ceased, no need now to pretend to be cheerful so as to send the boys
off with the memory of a smile —the huddles and clusters of women,
standing silent for a moment or two, straining their eyes after the red
tail-lights of the trains, then turning and quietly, quickly, heads down,
slipping off through the barriers towards their empty homes.”

So Peter as a child of six was to remember saying goodbye to his
Uncle Arthur. But the war was to make an even more direct mark upon
him: “Uncle Arthur and a sergeant were out one night on patrol in No
Man’s Land. Someone from the German lines fired a Very light. Uncle
Arthur and the sergeant lay still on the ground. A shell exploded nearby.
Presently the sergeant said, ‘It’s all right, sir, we can get up now.’

“Uncle Arthur answered, T'm trying to get up, sergeant, but I can’t seem
to manage it." They wheeled him to an emergency hospital in a barrow.
A piece of shrapnel had severed his spine. The shrapnel was the size of
half a lump of sugar. It had penetrated his spine about half way down,
just at the point where the covering of the body-shield would have been
most adequate.
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“But Uncle Arthur was generous as well as gay. That night on patrol it
had been the sergeant’s turn to wear the body-shield.”

Never again of his volition did Arthur Howard move the lower half
of his body. The child Peter watched a living man dlsmtegrate year by
year, week by week, day by day for seven long years:

“Uncle Arthur’s lower half shrivelled to the proportion of a mummy.
Those valiant legs which had kicked and run and leapt to the clamour of
applauding multitudes. He died. Most families in the world have the
savagery and sadness of war focused for them by some personal tragedy.
It made me dislike war. I perceived its futility. I believed that Uncle
Arthur had fought in the war to end wars and that therefore war could
not be for me.”

When in 1916 Peter was seven years old, his father decided that he
should join the lowest class at Crescent House. To prove that there was no
favouritism, E.C.H. decided that whenever any boy was punished Peter
would be punished too. It meant that Peter was punished regularly both
for things he did not do, and for plenty that he did:

“We had a thing called the strike list, and if you got strikes you sat at
table without talking and if there was any special food going you did not
get it. I was on those strike lists. Nanny was amazing. She never said a
word to me about my mother or father they would not have been glad to
hear. But she used to fight furious battles on what she felt was justice for
‘rat’ Howard.”

Peter was a bright and energetic schoolboy. He learnt fast. Nanny would
read to Peter for hours —adventure stories, fairy stories and tales of
animals and wild life. Unlike other adults, who were all too apt to treat
Peter differently from other children because of his leg, Nanny insisted
_ that he learn how to do things for himself. She taught him how to make his
bed, clean his room, wash clothes and tidy them away. He learnt how to
dress himself with an iron on his leg and never to be a “cry-baby” when
it hurt. For all this Peter was an invariably scruffy schoolboy, exceptionally
untidy and always on the run. Red-faced, hot and tousle-haired he would
charge into a room with ink all over his face and hands, usually on his
way to perform some practical joke. His leg was something noticed by
others but never by himself. This was perhaps because neither his father
nor Nanny George allowed it to interfere with his life, except that he had
to go to bed ten minutes earlier than the other boys to have his leg
massaged.

19



One of the new boys to join Peter at Crescent House was Geoffref
Coxon:!

“I was delivered two days prior to the official commencement of the
term. I spent those two days in the company of the Headmaster’s son,
Peter Howard, and Miss George, who acted as school matron. Peter was
dressed in a short covert coat and cap to match and my first impressions
were of his large brown expressive eyes, his vitality and the sadly thin
leg with which he had been born. The stocking on this leg would always
come down, and although he dragged it when tired, he never let it
interfere with his intense activity. On those two days we went for walks,
once on the Brighton front in a gale and with a rough sea. Peter’s idea of
fun was rushing out on the groyne near the Palace Pier and then retreating
at speed as the sea dashed over us.

“The Headmaster, Ebenezer Cecil Howard, was a character. Huge and
dark, he seemed to tower over us. Always dressed in a sports coat and
flannel bags of some antiquity. He must have worked tremendously hard
to teach us, and the record of scholarships and entry into the Navy was a
tribute to this. I think he was harder on Peter than any of us, just because
he wished there to be no favouritism. I, fortunately, got on well with
him and have affectionate memories of this rather eccentric but brilliant
schoolmaster. His wife, Peter’s mother, Evangeline Howard, called ‘Madam’
by us boys, was very handsome. Although E.C.H. was tough with Peter,
he was always his mother’s son.

“Peter must have been very bright for he was doing work with those
of two years older before I left at the end of 1920. He was a rumbustious
lad, always charging about and getting hot and dirty. He was nicknamed
unkindly either ‘Beetroot’ or more unkindly ‘Dunsmuck’. The latter a pun
on his second Christian name of Dunsmore.

“I recall in him an inherent kindness and generosity. Sometimes when
his mother had lashed me with her tongue, he would come and say,
‘She doesn’t really mean it.’ He liked to make gifts and I recall his giving
me a postcard album.

“Finally, the outstanding characteristic was his courage. That thin leg
would have held back a more timid character but never Peter. He was
always in the thick of a fight or a football match. We used to do some
boxing and to my own intense surprise, for I hated fighting, I proved to
be fairly good at it. I was wont to await an attack and then counter with a
pretty hard right which earned some respect. Peter must have studied this
and made a plan to undo me. He waited until I had delivered my hard
right, ducked it, and then before I could recover my guard, planted his
own right smack on my chin! It was a grand blow and in later years I
should have been out for the count. Happily for Peter, his father came in

1 Later became a bank manager.
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just in time to see it and for once praise flowed for his son in his words,
‘That was a good one.””
g

E.C.H. had a system called “N.T.N.T.” It meant, “No translation no tea”.
Boys had to do their translation, do it perfectly and neatly or they did not go
down to tea. Hungry boys would watch others going down to tea and
know that unless that translation was finished it was “N.T.N.T.” The last
person down to tea, after the final translation was perfectly done, was E.C.H.

In Peter’s first year at Crescent House he fell on the rugger field and
sprained his thin leg. The doctor who examined the sprain said to Peter,
“Well, cricket is a better game for you. Don't play football. You stick to
cricket, there’s a good boy.”

“It was at that moment that the desire to be a footballer sprang to life
inside me,” wrote Peter later. “As my father and Uncle Arthur had both
been rugby footballers, rugby was the game for me.” So Peter took no
notice of the doctor’s advice. His father did not appear to object.

But life was not all sport or work. Among Peter's enjoyments at
Crescent House was collecting birds’ eggs. Many of the boys did this, and
one of them possessed a small egg with spots on it which Peter much
coveted. Peter stole it and put it in his desk. The owner reported the loss
to E.C.H. and the Headmaster ordered that all desks should be searched.
The egg was found in Peter’s desk. E.C.H. ordered Peter to return the egg in
front of the class. But that was not all. Peter owned a penknife. It was his
most treasured possession, “It had a thing for taking out corks, a thing
for taking out stones from horses’ hooves, and three different blades for
cutting.” “You stole that egg. Now you give him your knife,” said E.C.H.
“To give that boy my knife — it was as if something had been ripped out of
my guts,” said Peter. But he handed it over. He learnt the penalty of theft.

E.CH. hated the ties of human dependence. He wanted his boys to
leave Crescent House able to stand on their own feet. Though not without
a tender heart underneath, he never allowed it to rule him. One hot
summer day Peter was playing in the long grass at the edge of the cricket
field. He put his hand down in the grass and was about to sit down. “I
sprang up and there was a great gash right over my hand. My father was
there, and with my hand bleeding I ran over to him and showed it to him.
My father looked at it and bound it up with his handkerchief. Then he
looked at me and said, ‘Now, you know where the doctor lives?’

“ Yes,’ I said.

““You have got to go there. He may have to put some stitches in it,
and if he does it will hurt, but it will be over in a minute. I want you to
be brave. Now off you go.’ ‘

“I went off with my cut hand thinking, ‘My God, he has let me go
alone.” ”
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One of the blessings of Crescent House was the long summer holidays.
The Howards usually spent them near Harlech in North Wales, fishing,
walking and golfing. E.C.H. would set off early with his rod, and walk for
miles into the hills, Sometimes he took Peter with him and taught him to
fish for brown trout in the deep pools. They were days when very little
was said, and Peter learnt to love the sound of rushing water and the
squelch of peat bog under his feet. At teatime they would meet Evangeline
and Nanny George at a pre-arranged place. They would brew tea and have
hot food ready. Oh the hunger and the enjoyment of that meal! The
excitement of discussing the day’s adventures, the number of fish caught,
the number that got away. It was on one of these holidays that Nanny
George learnt to ride a bicycle. She mounted and wobbled precariously
out of sight down the hill, pursued hotly by Peter shouting, “Come back,
come back Nanny, or you will be gone for ever.” But Nanny returned.
She would take Peter to Harlech beach and they would bathe on those
glorious yellow sands, build endless castles and moats, boil shrimps for
tea and run for miles in the sea air.

From an early age E.CH. took Peter golfing. Peter was a child of eight
and E.CH. was a good golfer. But he did not allow that to mar their
games together. They would set off in the morning by train along the
coast and they would play two rounds (thirty-six holes) at the Royal St.
David’s Golf Club. E.C.H. could not afford a caddy, so they carried their
own clubs. Afterwards they would walk the two and a half miles home.
Between the first two telegraph poles they would walk, and between the
next two they would trot, all the way home. For Peter it was the best
holiday on earth. “I loved it. It built something into me of comradeship.
sweat and go. I took it all so much for granted. My father was pushing
fifty. I don’t think that after two rounds of golf he particularly liked
running two and a half miles home with a boy.”

In 1918, when Peter was ten years old, his only brother, John, was
born. They were so far apart in age that it was almost as if they belonged
to different generations. John's arrival was followed by the departure of
Nanny George. Perhaps Evangeline Howard felt Nanny had become too
close to Peter. Whatever the reasons, her departure remained a mystery,
and one which caused great sorrow to young Peter, just as the new baby
was becoming the focus of all attention. John was a fair-haired boy, with
blue eyes, unlike Peter in almost every way. For Evangeline it was a
great happiness to have a son with no physical deformity whatever —
something she had feared could never happen.

In the summer of 1921 Peter won an open scholarship to Mill Hill
School. He was thirteen years old. At the end of July he left Crescent
House School and put his childhood behind him.
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Chapter 3

THE PIGEONS OF ST. PAUL'S

There are no nightingales in London now,
No larks or finches, crested wrens I trow,
No garden warblers flutter by the walls;
Still, still remain the pigeons of St. Paul's.

Like Hermes flash they swiftly through the air,

Their smooth grey necks stretched low, as if in prayer.
Kind folk with crumbled bread fetch with their calls
The clear, the friendly pigeons of St. Paul’s.

Best loved of all the London beasts and birds.
Their very loveliness beyond all words
Until the majesty of London falls
Still will be loved the pigeons of St. Paul’s.
P. D. Howard
Mill Hill, Summer 1924

Mill Hill School is set, as its name implies, on top of a hill. It is
surrounded by green playing fields and trees, under which you can sit on
a clear summer evening and see the great smoke-bound city of London
stretching away as far as the eye can see. It has a non-conformist tradition.
The buildings are Victorian, set apart from each other, but bound to-
gether by that strange unity which surrounds an English public school.
The corridors and hallways seem to echo to the sound of everlasting boys’
voices and running feet. In the centre of it all lie the playing fields —so
green and rich in summer time, and so muddy and rough after the
winters of rugger and hockey.

It was on September 22, 1922, that Peter Howard arrived at M111 Hill
School for the first time. Unlike other boys, he was not accompanied by
his parents. E.C.H. had felt it would be better for him to go off on his
own. Peter said goodbye to his parents at Gracie and Eben's home in
Inverness Terrace. Like all boys arriving for the first time at public
school, he was apprehensive and nervous. At Golders Green Station he
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passed the war memorial, “Courage: Justice: Loyalty: Honour”. For
many a year he was to pass that memorial on his way to school.

Peter’s House was Priestley. His form the Upper Fifth. A scholar of
thirteen he found himself working with boys of fifteen years of age.
His Housemaster said, “He was placed so high because of his classics. He
had first-rate Latin and Greek. It was done deliberately because we wanted
to encourage Peter’s main subjects, knowing he would catch up on the
rest.”

For Peter it was a difficult burden to bear. The boys of his own age
thought him a prig. The boys in his form considered him an intruder.
They noticed his leg-iron and made fun of it: “We used to bathe in the
school swimming bath. The other boys asked me questions about my
thin leg, and I soon came to suppose there was a shame and uncleanliness
in possessing it.”

At the worst moments, Peter would visit “Buster Brown”, one of the
Mill Hill masters, for tea and crumpets: “Those teas saved my life,” he
used to say afterwards. He had few friends and he felt lonely and unhappy.
He turned his attention to the rugger field. E.C.H. had been doubtful about
the wisdom of allowing Peter to play games in the tougher surroundings
of a public school. As soon as possible Peter sought out the school doctor,
Dr. Edwin Morley, and being a born persuader got him to agree that if
his parents said “Yes” he could shed his leg-iron and play games. Whether
or not E.C.H. agreed we do not know, but anyway Peter cast off the leg-
iron and played. He developed a rollicking gallop on the field, which
made up in speed for what he lost in Jameness.

The Headmaster, Mr. M. L. Jacks, was to remémber Peter in his first
year at school: “He was the inkiest, untidiest scrap of small boyhood that
I have ever known, and one of the most active and irrepressible. This
activity and irrepressibility continued as he grew. There was always
about his doings a flavour of the old saying, ‘Go and see what Billy is
doing and tell him not to.” ”

In 1923, at the age of fourteen, Peter passed his School Certificate and
was moved up to the Classical Sixth. Here he was to stay until he left
Mill Hill. Among his few friends was a boy his own age called Tony
Carter: “Peter was rather unpopular at the beginning of his school life,
but he didn’t appear to give a damn about other people’s opinions. And it
was this that first attracted me about him.”

Tony Carter! and Peter were in the same House. But in 1924 a new
House, Winterstoke, was built and volunteers from established Houses
were asked to start it. Most boys were getting on comfortably where they
were and had no intention of moving. Not Peter. He joined Winterstoke.
His new Housemaster was Mr. J. E. Whitehead. It was to Mr. Whitehead
that Peter would take the occasional letters he received from home:

! Later joined the family leather business, John Carter & Sons, Bishopsgate.
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“Peter’s father treated him very much like another pupil. Whenever he
wrote him at school he never began the letter ‘Dear Peter’, but started
straight in with some criticism of his last Latin essay or translation, and
ended the letter with his initials, ‘E.C.H." Peter did not at any time have a
chip on his shoulder about this. He would bring the letter to me and ask
for the necessary help with his work. It was Peter’s acceptance of correc-
tion without anger that made him unusual.”

But Peter could be maddening as his classics master, Mr. Whitehorn,
discovered: “I would be lecturing on Greek history. I could see Peter
looking out of the window, his mind miles away. He would then, at the
end of some point I had made, suddenly say, ‘I don't agree at all,” and
proceed to argue the opposite of what I had said.”

Suddenly Peter began to make his way at school. He started to make
friends and enjoy himself. His imagination ran riot. He would devise
methods of “catching” unsuspecting masters on the prowl, spending
precious pocket money scattering sugar in the corridors outside their
studies. The crunching footsteps could be heard a long way off. He plotted
long hours on how to help Winterstoke win some sporting event.

In the tug-of-war, at which Winterstoke was not strong, they were
drawn against the top team. Peter gave orders that on the first pull the
Winterstoke side should let the rope go slack altogether. When the whistle
blew the opposing side, taken by surprise, landed flat on their backs and
were pulled helplessly across the line. On the second pull, the opposition
was wise. They were prepared for the same thing to happen again and did
not pull too hard. Peter gave orders for Winterstoke to pull like mad the
moment the whistle blew. The opposition flew across the line, thlS time
flat on their stomachs.

Peter’s parents seldom came to visit him at Mill Hill. When they did
E.C.H. took no trouble with his appearance. If Peter was “scruffy”, E.C.H.
was deplorable. He would arrive in old clothes and show far more
interest in the classics papers and the library than in his son. Peter would
often lose track of him altogether. One Foundation Day, Peter finally
accosted Mrs. Whitehorn and said, “Have you seen my father wandering
around in a mackintosh too ghastly to be seen? We must find hlm and
get it off him.”

In 1926, ECH. left Crescent House and went to teach for a year at
Worksop College. In April 1926 Peter set out to join him there for the
holidays on his new motor-cycle. On the way he skidded and collided
with a truck. He found himself bruised and bleeding in a ditch, but
assured the driver of the truck that there was nothing wrong. He managed
to borrow a pedal cycle and pedalled twelve miles to the Worksop
Hospital, only to discover on arrival that his thin leg was broken in
two places. He went straight to the operating theatre. Coming round
after the anaesthetic he heard the doctor saying, “I shall have to take this
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leg off.” For Peter it was a moment of cold horror. He begged the doctor
to do nothing until his parents had been seen. Finally the doctors agreed
that if Peter would remain in hospital for four months, they could save
the leg: “I sat out those four months with my leg propped up on the
window-sill, but I did not mind because my leg was still there.”

Peter missed that whole summer term at Mill Hill. It was the term he
should have taken an exam held annually at Mill Hill, using old scholar-
ship papers, giving boys a chance to practise for the Oxford scholarship
exam a year later, E.CH. finding hospital no excuse for laziness, looked
up the syllabus and sent Peter the books which he had to read for the
exam in July. Two weeks before examination day, Peter had a letter
from a friend at school, from which he inferred that he might be reading
the wrong books. He wrote to Mill Hill and discovered that this was
indeed so. The correct books arrived and he had just over a week left to
read them: *] think I must have read day and night for that whole week,”
be said afterwards. He passed the exam.

In September 1926, Peter returned to school and went straight into the
Second XV rugger team. On December 20 he had his seventeenth birthday,
and 1927 was just ahead. It was a year which held great prospects for
him. In September 1927, Peter returned to school to find himself a
House Monitor. Before the school year was out he was in the First XV
rugger side, opening bat for the First XI cricket side, a member of the
Boxing Eight, a member of the Athletics side, Vice-President of the
Debating Society, and the winner of an Open Exhibition to Wadham
College, Oxford.

Peter spent many holidays with Tony Carter: ‘We used to go to Hertford
every Whit Sunday to play cricket, and we always brought a signpost
home with us. At least Peter did. He was the only one strong enough to
pull the things out of the ground. We had quite a collection of them in
Alton House (the Carter family home) all pointing the incorrect way to
remote villages in Hertfordshire.”

At Winterstoke Peter was in charge of the big dormitory of twenty-one
beds. His Housemaster says, “He was quite outstanding in the way
he kept all the boys quiet.” One night, however, there was trouble brewing
against Tony Carter in a neighbouring House, and Peter leapt out of the
window to protect his friend. He was fortunate that twenty-one small
boys did not follow him. At the end of the year he was made Head of
Winterstoke House.

In rugger Peter played in the front row of the scrum. He had grown to
six feet three inches, and was broad shouldered and strong. He excelled in
the line-outs, where he seemed to tower above the others. He was fortu-
nate to play rugger for Mill Hill when the sport was at its height — Mill
Hill at that time producing several of the England international players,
including Sobey and Spong. Peter’s success on the rugger field did not

26



satisfy his own sense of ambition: “I only managed to get into the
school football XV in my last year there. I was not pleased with that at all.
I wanted to be the best player in the school. But there were at least nine
others who played better than I did.”

The summer term came almost too soon. It brought with it long days
of cricket. In the final House match between Winterstoke and Priestley,
Peter and Tony Carter were lined up against each other. In the first
innings Carter bowled Howard, and in the second innings Howard bowled
Carter, so they were all square: “Winterstoke opened disastrously,
Beven being run out through a misunderstanding after scoring one.
Howard and Aish! were obviously not at ease to the bowling of A. R. N.
Carter on a wicket affected by rain. Aish was Lb.w. to Carter for the
second time in the match with ten to his credit. Howard and Das? then
knocked off the necessary runs. If Howard had not been missed early in his
innings owing to an unfortunate misunderstanding, the result of the
game might easily have been changed. As it was, he was undefeated for
thirty-eight, and Winterstoke won by eight wickets.”

Peter and Tony Carter were both in the First XI cricket side and so they
shared the enjoyments of their final term. Carter was an excellent spin
bowler, Howard a batsman.

Cricket Report 1928, P. D. Howard:

“A very hard-hitting batsman, who scored runs quickly and who knew
how to sit on the splice when it was required. A very good runner between
the wickets. A very good fielder in most positions, preferably at mid-off.
A capable and efficient secretary.”

Mr. Whitehorn remembers him as “an exceptionally good cricketer,
who ran so fast between wickets that it was embarrassing if you were in
with him because he was over in three strides before you had taken off.”

The summer term rushed gloriously to its close, bringing with it the
numerous rewards and prizes which every end of year will bring. For
Peter the list was long. He was Senior Champion in Athletics. He also took
a lively interest in the school magazine which he edited, in the Music
Circle and the Scriptorium Committee. On leaving he won “In Memoriam”,
the top prize of the school.

Success came easily to Peter Howard, or so it seemed. His friends saw
little of the struggle which had brought a thirteen-year-old schoolboy
with little to his credit to a young man of eighteen with the world at his
feet.

1 Killed in action in World War II
2 Later War Controller of Supplies in Bombay.
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“To back up this success,” said his Headmaster, “he had a tremendous
capacity for enjoying life, a fertile and lively mind, and a nice wit. He
was indeed a figure that challenged attention and enjoyed and courted the
challenge. It was not to be expected that a person with so strong a drive to
triumph over a physical handicap that might well have kept a lesser
individualist permanently in the shadow of the touch-line, should not at
times come into rough contact with other boys, and with authority in
general. Or should not, indeed, have been to some degree self-centred;
he was. It was perhaps his most solid achievement that he learned to
subdue these strong qualities to the service of the spiritual welfare of
mankind.”

28



Chapter 4

ETER HOWARD went up to Oxford in October 1928. He had his

Exhibition to Wadham College. Mr. Jacks, his former Headmaster, had

helped him to acquire a small Government grant on the understanding
that he would become a teacher after he had obtained his degree. Howard
had no serious intention of becoming a teacher, but he needed the money.
His parents could not afford an Oxford education, nor could they supply
him with the adequate pocket money. For Howard the grant made Oxford
possible and, above all, pleasant.

Like many other public schoolboys, Howard found the freedom of
university exhilarating. He loved Oxford —its colleges and walks; the
Isis on lazy summer days; the parties that went on till breakfast; the
college scouts with their observant eyes and dry humour; and the winter
evenings spent arguing in smoke-filled rooms for hours on end about
little or nothing. In 1928, between the two Great Wars, Oxford seemed
the ideal place to be. It was full of undergraduates who either wanted to
forget 1918 or dreamed that 1939 would never come.

Perhaps the best picture of Howard at Oxford is given by his friend
Keith Winter, the novelist and playwright:

“What do I remember about Peter?

“Quickly, without reflection, that he was an experience, a vividly
arresting, quite unforgettable happening. I was a year his senior at
Oxford (though no one felt ‘senior’ to Peter for long!) but we met first
in his last term at Mill Hill when I accompanied a college friend on an
afternoon visit to his old school.

“In a study which seemed too small for his large, athletic frame I was
introduced to a darkly handsome youth whose rabelaisian humour and
extraordinary conversation were far removed from anything I'd encoun-
tered in an English public school —or anywhere else, for that matter.

* ‘What did you think of him?* asked my friend as we drove back to
Oxford. j

“ ‘Mad,’ T replied promptly. But I added after a moment’s reflection,
‘In the right way though.’

“The following October he came to Oxford and we became immediately,
and rather improbably —on a superficial level we had about as much in
common as Othello and Iago — great friends.
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“The relationship was neither cosy nor placid. Standing up to his steam-
roller personality was almost a whole-time job, but worth it, I rather
grudgingly decided.

“Frequently maddening, intermittently unreliable (he had no sense of
time, and to him an appointment was less a fact than a whimsical possi-
bility), on occasions socially outrageous, to people who bored him
frequently very rude, he was never, under any circumstances, dull.

“Finance, or rather the lack of it, was one of our more constant pre-
occupations. Once, after we had treated ourselves to a handsome meal on
the terrace of the Trout Inn at Godstow, I produced a shilling from my
pocket and stared at it sombrely. ‘My last,’ I announced, literally my
last”

“Peter took it from my hand and threw it into the river. My stunned
expression clearly delighted him. ‘Now,’ he said, roaring with laughter,
‘you’ll have nothing to worry about.” I might state here that whatever the
conditions of his finances he was always fantastically generous. In cash,
kind or spirit, he gave without thought.

“Without thought, too, he sometimes hurt and offended people.
Stopping to think was not a habit of our generation. Even so, there was no
malice in Peter, nor any kind of meanness.

“The range of his acquaintances at Oxford was wide but he belonged to
no particular set or clique. He was a natural athlete and a brilliant rugby
football player, but one could spend days in his company without
gathering he knew one end of a ball from another.

“He was a classical scholar, but one never heard about it; a poet, but it
required heavy detective work to unearth the fact. This was less false
modesty than a sense of proportion developed to an unusual degree.

‘A time will come when the flowers are faded,
A time will come when the year is dead.

But now the shoots are newly springing,

No petal yet to the day is spread.

What shall we have to remember?

That is the test.

Only bright flowers, please God, to remember,
Only the best.’

“Again, this was not shown to me by the proud author but discovered
quite by chance in a back number of a magazine. It wasn’t the sound
one would have expected to emerge from the seething heart of a rugby
scrum. At the time I was deeply impressed by its simple beauty. I still
am.
“There were occasions when he appeared no more than a noisy, over-
ebullient extrovert primarily interested in the devising of wildly extrava-
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gant and usually extremely funny pranks, but his real achievements were
made swiftly, silently and without fuss.

“In my last year at Oxford I published a novel. For better or worse,
come hell or high water, I was going to be a writer!

“But where was the turbulent, meteoric mass of energy that made up
Peter going to land?

“I knew, as did all his more intimate friends, that he was a born leader.
But that, when one is a very young tiger ‘burning brightly’ only within -
the mellow confines of an ancient university, can spell, as often as not, less
glory than a disillusioning smack in the eye.

“After all, what was he going to lead? And who? And whither?

“One shouldn’t, as it turns out, have worried.”

Peter Howard’s great ambition upon going to Oxford was to play
rugger for the University. He was a good public school player, but that
was a long way from becoming an Oxford Blue. In November 1928, one
month after he had arrived at Wadham, he had a piece of good fortune:

“One cold Thursday, a winter afternoon, when the Oxford University
Greyhounds (the University Second XV) were playing Cheltenham, a
member of the team fell ill. By a series of chances I was the person available
to take his place. I was pulled in at the last moment.

“Everything went right for me in that game, Next Saturday I was picked
to play for the University.

“I cannot describe the exhilaration which filled me when I heard this
news. I telegraphed to my parents.

“I played for the University all through that season until a fortnight
before the University match. I felt sure of my Blue. All my friends —and
it is odd how many friends a man has who is playing football for a
University — told me it was certain.

“Then I was dropped from the side. I heard that the captain of the
team took the view that my thin leg might snap in the Varsity match. He
would not risk it.

“The decision seemed silly, as I had played in first-class rugger matches
all the way through the season, two days a week and sometimes more,
without my leg snapping. In any case, it was a terrible blow to me, and
my pride bled and suffered.”

For Howard the disappointment was unbearable. He was bitter and
angry when he went home in December —and even more determined to
win his Blue:

“My father and mother bore with me in these tiresome circumstances.
I behaved very badly, becoming ill-tempered, venomous and surly.”
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Howard'’s anger did not last long:

“My only hope rested in the following rugger season. During the
spring I thought of rugger. During the summer I thought of rugger. And
when the autumn came I started training for rugger.

“As I left my home to go up to Oxford and try to win my Blue, my
father and mother stood on the doorstep. We had always been close
together as a family, in spite of the fact that all three of us possess deter-
mined and potentially violent dispositions, hurting each other and sorry
for it afterwards. My father said with emphasis: ‘Well, I hope to God you
don’t get your Blue. That’s all. You're too damned conceited already.’

“I turned and went away. »

“I know now that my father wanted above everything else in the world
that I should get a Blue. But he knew how disappointed I had been at my
earlier failure. He dreaded that I might fail again. He was resolved that, if I
did fail, I should not feel that he and my mother were also disappointed
in me.

“This is now plain to me. Not so at the time. I was wounded and
resented the wound. I felt dislike for my father.”

In the autumn of 1929, Howard was picked to play for Oxford: “I got
my Blue. The days passed in a daze of delight.”
Oxford won the Varsity match at Twickenham.

That November he started writing regularly for the University magazine,
Isis. His first contribution was on November 20 under the heading,
Death by Misadventure:

Oh, there are many ways, grotesque, bizarre—let us be even more
frank and say funny—by which we may come to our deaths, and I
expect even in this present whirl of mechanism and immaturity, of
laughter and caprice, above all of eating and drinking, there are not a
few who give an occasional thought to the end of the story, and discuss
with themselves in their leisure moments their inevitable and ultimate
duty of dying. I am such a one, and if I had the choice I would prefer to
emulate with my ending those happy few who have confounded the
pessimists by dying from laughter. If only God had been sufficiently
kind to a man that he could die with laughter at the sight of his own face
in a mirror; that would be a king of jokes indeed. But I, alas, am not
unhandsome.

Isis followed in December with a feature on their new recruit, It was
entitled, “Peter the Great”, and was reprinted in the Daily Sketch:
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Peter Howard is a giant from Wadham, with extremely black hair and a
disarming manner. Born in 1908, he seems to have conducted his life on
the principle that what is worth doing is worth doing violently.

Strong as a bull, and shaped across the shoulders very much like one,
he is no man to meet when he is in a whimsical humour, for his sense of
a joke is liable to lead him to drop his friends over Magdalen Bridge, if
he felt so inclined.

He does a lot of work on the Isis, which office seems entirely full when
he is in it, and in his capacity as a member of the Isis staff he is perhaps
more irresponsible and irrepressible than anywhere else.

The Oxford Mail followed suit:

Peter Howard is the big blue boy. He is quite young and may grow bigger.
He may yet be known and famous on many fields.

He is neither a proud nor conceited man. He thinks nothing of himself
as either a footballer or a cricketer, but he fancies his chances at ping
pong. Do you know he believes himself to be the finest ping pong player
in the world? He is nothing of the kind.

I have heard it said in dark and obscure corners that he has written
poetry; that’s not the sort of thing one likes to hear about big men; but
then we all have our enemies.

If Howard had enemies they were few. The fame of the rugger field
made him more boisterous than ever. His friends enjoyed it and egged
him on. He and some friends organised massive practical jokes. It was
customary for undergraduates who misbehaved to receive a summons in
writing from the Proctors (University disciplinary authorities) to appear
before them at a specified hour. One morning every male undergraduate
at Oxford came down to breakfast to find they had received a Proctor’s
summons for a certain day the following week at 10.30 a.m. By some
error of judgment, some women undergraduates at Lady Margaret Hall had
also received cards. Unlike the men, they were outraged and frightened.
They went straight to the Dean. The Dean got in touch with the Proctors
and, being forewarned, the iron gates to the Proctor’s lodgings were
firmly shut and locked. None-the-less, at 10.30 on the morning concerned
a crowd of some two thousand had gathered outside the Proctor’s gates,
waving their cards in the air and demanding to be let in. At this point
somebody took the precaution of telephoning the Oxford Fire Brigade
to inform them that the Proctor’s house was in flames. As the fire en-
gines arrived and tried to make their way through the wild excitement
of the crowd, the Pathé News cameras were in operation on the roof
of the building opposite and shot an excellent film of the whole pro-
ceedings. ‘
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The Oxford authorities tried without success to discover where the
cards which had started the whole affair had been printed. Nobody could
be found who knew anything about it. The Oxford Fire Brigade could not
trace the call which had brought them out to deal with a non-existent
fire. Pathé News did not know who had given them the information. The
whole matter had to be overlooked, with a statement from the Proctors
that such behaviour would be severely dealt with in future.

Though Howard was in training for rugger, he attended many parties
and gave some himself. They did not always end cheerfully. On one
occasion a piano was forced through an upper window at Wadham, and
landed in the quad below with its insides a tangled mess of wires and
hammers. The noise was deafening and the owner, returning to find his
piano in bits in the quad, was naturally distressed.

On other occasions, Howard would join his rugger friends at OICCU
(Oxford Inter-Collegiate Christian Union) meetings and heckle from the
back:

“Are you saved?”

“Yes, we are,” the chorus would reply.

During the readings from the New Testament one of Howard’s friends
would ask, “Who said that?”

“Peter, Peter,” the others would shout.

God, who at Mill Hill had been a formal and unmentioned subject,
became at Oxford a term of abuse. What little faith Howard had, he soon
lost. He was later to say, “I rationalised what I knew was wrong, and
before long I saw nothing wrong in it at all.” At the time, he would not
have said that. He felt it was realist and adult to discard faith in the face of
his doubts as to its truth. He was often cruel in his condemnation of
those who possessed faith: “I found it repulsive to see anybody reading a
Bible in a railway carriage.” More often he found it ridiculous and made
fun of it.

At the beginning of 1930, Oxford had become the centre of Howard’s
life. He immersed himself in its politics and its people, but all too little in
its work. At the beginning of January, however, something happened
which was to take him out of Oxford a good deal:

“Tuning in the radio one evening, I heard the announcer give the
names of the players picked to represent England against Wales. My name
was there. The news threw me altogether off balance. I walked as a man
like a god.

“My first International match was to be played at Cardiff. The England
team went to Penarth two days beforehand. ‘Are you coming to see the
game?’ T asked my father. ‘No, I shan't bother,” he replied. ‘It’s a long
way to go, you know, and I think I'll stay at home.’

“I was angry that my father should not be willing to travel to the end
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of the earth, let alone to Wales, to witness the glorification of his son. So I
packed.

“At Cardiff the match was played. We were expected to lose. Instead we
came away with victory perched on our banners. It was tremendous,
exhilarating, triumphant. In addition to the success of the team, I had the
satisfaction of knowing that I myself had played well.

“As I changed back into my ordinary clothes with the rest of the team,
I was told someone was waiting at the dressing room door to see me.
There stood my father.

“I hurried on my overcoat and we walked out together on to the
Cardiff Arms Park. It was almost dark and round us we could see the tiered
stands, which before had trembled with cheers, but now were deserted
except for newspapers and other bits of débris left by the crowd and
flapping in the gale.

“My father and I walked across the muddy, trampled turf, where half-
an-hour before I had been rolling about, fighting, kicking, running and
tumbling.

“He told me he had taken a day excursion from London, that he had to
go back very soon. Then he caught hold of my arm. He is not a man who
shows his emotions easily. For the only time in my life I saw him burst
into tears.

“It was a terrifying and rending experience. I put my arms round him
and tried to comfort him. ‘Whatever is the matter, my dear?’ I asked.

*“ ‘Oh, I can’t tell you what this all means to your mother and me,” he
said. ‘Sorry —so sorry to make such a fool of myself. So sorry. But you
know, you with your lame leg. It’s always been sad for us. We've blamed
ourselves for it. And now to see you playing for England, and the crowd
and the cheering, I can’t explain to you how much it means to us both.’

“This strange incident on the Cardiff Arms Park had two effects upon
me. From that day to this I have never been troubled again about my
thin leg. It has meant no more to me, good or bad. It does not matter to
me in the slightest, one way or another.

“And from that day I never felt the same fever for football.”

The fever for football may have left Howard, the ability to play it
had not. On February 8, he was capped for England to playw against
Ireland:

“I remember landing in Ireland for that game, after a night crossing the
Irish Sea, with the cameramen and the reporters to meet and greet us.

“The wonder of achievement was still fresh upon me.

“In the Shelbourne Hotel, Dublin, I was conscious of the looks which
followed each member of the team —and walked through the‘ lounge
several times in order to enjoy them.
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“We drove out to the ground for the match next day. I had lunched off
hot steak and cold milk. I had the theory that 1 played better after this
diet of contrasts.

“When I opened my bag at the ground, with the hum and moan and
gabble of the multitudes bursting through the window, a frightening but
intoxicating sound, I discovered that I had failed to bring my puttees
from England. I was determined that the England selectors should never
notice on the field how thin my left leg really was in case they took fright
and dropped me from the side. So I used to roll two puttees around it,
mould them into the shape of a sound leg and pull my stocking over
them.,

“Now the puttees were gone. The game was due to begin in five minutes.
I ran into the wash place. I grabbed a towel from the rail, rammed it
somehow around my leg and tied my stocking over it.

“Off we ran on to the field. The air was blurred with the uproar of the
Dublin crowd, co-mingled with the shouts of the boatloads of English
supporters who had made the night crossing to watch the game. The
whistle blew.

“I can see that ball now, silhouetted like a yellow lemon against the
grey Dublin skies, dropping and twisting towards us. I caught it and
kicked to touch as three Irishmen sprang on top of me and knocked the
breath out of my bones against the grass.

“It was a wearing, tearing, worrying, scurrying game. Once, breaking

from the scrum, I caught the ball inside our own twenty-five line and ran
up the field. Three times Irishmen tried to tackle me — three times I ran on
after a stumble and stagger. Finally the full-back crashed me down only a
few yards from the Irish line.

“It was during the last twenty yards of the run, which sticks in my
mind because it was far the longest distance I ever was allowed to carry
the ball in a first-class game, that I sensed rather than saw something
white snapping or worrying at my heels as I moved. I thought it might be a
terrier dog escaped from the crowd.

“As the full-back knocked me over, I perceived a shriller sound of
merriment mixed with the deep baying of the multitude’s applause.
Then I noticed that the towel with which so urgently I had padded
my leg was trickling behind me. I snatched it off, pretending to laugh.
But I felt bitterness within me —forty thousand people all laughing at

me.
Not everyone laughed. Oxford was pleased. Isis wrote:

It would be almost invidious to wish Peter further success, because he
possesses in a rich measure all those qualities that will bring it to him in
the natural course of things. We can only wish him ‘fun tomorrow’ —for
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undoubtedly he knows his C. E. Montague well enough to recognise the
phrase —and assure him of the sincere warmth of our regard.

In February, Howard was invited to join the England rugger tour of
New Zealand. He was tempted to accept. But before doing so he wrote for
advice to Lord Birkenhead, an Honorary Fellow of Wadham College, and
High Steward of the University. Lord Birkenhead replied:

14, Waterloo Place,

London, S.W.1.

February 28, 1930
Dear Howard,

I am very glad to give you my advice for what it is worth.

No one can possibly guarantee you employment on your return to
England from the New Zealand tour. The prospects depend entirely
upon your own capacity, the influence of your friends and the state of the
Labour Market in any field in which you desire to compete.

I do not suppose for an instant that you want to spend your life in writ-
ing criticisms about Rugby Football. It would certainly be a poor career.

My old friend Baxter naturally wants to take the strongest team that he
can to New Zealand and if you were a young man of means who could
afford a six months’ holiday I could not imagine a more agreeable way
of spending it. But I gather that you are not. After all you have gathered
enough football laurels. You have got your Blue and are admitted to be
one of the best forwards in England. It might help other people if you
went to New Zealand; but how is it going to help you? Your business in
life is to equip yourself with such capacity as you possess for the very
acute competition of modern life. You were a scholar of your school and
an Exhibitioner of Wadham. In my judgment fresh football laurels can
mean nothing to you while the obtaining of a degree which after all, the
College which gave you an Exhibition is entitled to expect from you,
would give you some further equipment in that struggle for existence
which today is so acute.

I do not know whether in a letter I could add any more, though my
opinions are fairly clear. My son Furneaux is coming over on Sunday to
lunch at my house near Banbury. If you got into touch with him either at
Micklem Hall where his lodgings are, or the Vincent’s Club he would I
am sure arrange to drive you over on Sunday and I should be very glad
to discuss the matter with you verbally.

Yours very sincerely,
B.

The advice was good and Howard took it. When the rugger season
came to an end, he firmly resolved to do some work. But it was easier
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said than done. The rising unemployment in Britain, and the lack of any
party to remedy it made Howard bitter and scornful. Being by nature on
the side of the underdog, his politics were to the Left and radical. Sir
Oswald Mosley had resigned from the Socialist Party and formed the
New Party. In 1930, Howard joined it. He saw in it a hope of some political
alternative which would enlist the younger generation in Britain and alleviate
the hardships of the working man. Later, he was to see how naive it was.

Howard joined friends in the New Party, among them Harold Nicolson
and Randolph Churchill. It was unfortunate that Howard’s entry into
politics should come at a time when he needed to work.

“Howard is a scrim-shanker,” wrote Iis early in 1931. “Think of old
. Howard sneaking out of Oxford into the Big World in search of adven-
ture. He's gone to romp, taking a knuckle-duster, the Pro-Milone and a
nice new pair of trousers. All this to protect Sir Oswald and Lady Cynthia
Mosley. Howard belongs to the New Party, and believes in youth and
getting on with it.”

Howard certainly did get on with it, as the Daily Express of May 28
reported :

Mr. Hugh Speaight, the leading spirit in the recent flight of the Oxford
Balloon Union, was the host at a freak party held at Oxford tonight when
a party of undergraduates toured the city sewers in canoes.

The invitations sent out by Mr. Speaight stipulated that his guests
should wear nautical dress.

The party included Mr. Peter Howard, the Oxford Rugby Blue, Mr. A.
Hopkinson of the editorial staff of the undergraduate newspaper Isis,
and Mr. Wall, Chairman of the Charles Fox Association.

They entered the city sewers at a point in East Oxford and by the aid of
electric torches found their way under the centre of the city, and emerged
at a point south of Carfax where the sewer joins the River Thames.

Six canoes were used to convey the party and one was wrecked in an
attempt to negotiate an iron gate into the Thames, and the occupants
were thrown into the stream, but rescued.

In what spare time he had left, Howard worked for Isis. He wrote short
stories, feature articles on Oxford events, and each week covered the
Union Debates:

Lsis, May 14, 1930.
The subject for debate last Thursday at the Union was “That one can be
happier in America than in England”.

The three visiting Americans were good, but there was rather too much
“Halitosis” (with explanations of its inner significance) in some of their
joking for it to be anything but deplorable.
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Mr. R. M. McClintock! (Stamford College) had a pleasing voice, an
unusual virtue in an American. He thought that happiness in America
was more ubiquitous in scope than elsewhere. The Englishman took too
much for granted and therefore failed to appreciate his happiness: he was
inclined to accept it in the same way as he accepted his breakfast. Educa-
tion in England tended to keep a man in his own class; in America to
raise him above it. Each country had a different standard of happiness, and
to each the standard of the other seemed unreal and strange.

And now how can I adequately express my perfervid admiration of Mr.
S. A. Boyd-Carpenter? (Balliol). He positively leaped to his diminutive
feet to defend the honour of old England. Happiness, he said with a
sprightly jump to the left, is a matter of opinion. Business is the main-
spring of America, he declared, giving a practical and coquettish demon-
stration. No persecution of individual thought or individual life for us,
he thundered, nimbly turning a somersault to the right. He finished his
speech in as nearly an upright position as ever he attained, but I was left
wondering whether I was sitting on my head or my heels.

Mr. H. E. S. Bryant-Irvine (Magdalen) seerned not only a dull dog but an
insolent one to boot. He was an unfortunate choice for this particular
subject, as he is entirely without a sense of humour. He made some
remarks about the Standing Committee which were, I think, in very bad
taste, and afterwards became merely smug and dreary. Later on he was
again impertinent — on the subject of the Prince of Wales this time. T was
fascinated by only one part of him, his trousers, which were hitched up
on Thursday night a good three inches too high.

Mr. P. H. Gore-Booth3 (Balliol) was the first speaker who treated the
subject seriously. His chief argument seemed to be that America was
unsafe and therefore unhappy. He also discussed American liberty and
pleasure, which seemed non-existent. I liked him very much.

Mr. T. N. Fox (Hertford), Teller for the Ayes, said that Americans were
well satisfied with themselves and failed to perceive that an Englishman’s-
chief delight was to throw mud at everything English.

Mr. A. J. Ayer# (Christ Church) must speak more slowly. But he was
the second speaker of the evening to treat the subject seriously and
successfully. America pursues happiness as an end in itself and fails to
realise that it only comes during the pursuit of other ends. A good 'speech.

At 11.28 p.m. England emerged victorious.

Isis, May 22, 1930
The motion: “That India should receive her Independence”.

1 Later American diplomatist and Ambassador to Argentina from 1962.
2 Later the Rt. Hon. J. A. Boyd-Carpenter, Conservative M.P.

3 Later Sir Paul Gore-Booth, Head of the British Foreign Office.

# Later Wykeham Professor of Logic, the University of Oxford.
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The Hon. Quintin McGarel Hogg! (Christ Church), ex-President, must
take full blame, I think, for the irritating and tedious hour we spent last
Thursday before the debate opened. He proposed it in no very skilful
manner, arguing that the Union should not rush in where the daily press
feared to tread —this seemed a little illogical —and declaring with a sob
in his voice that he had never forfeited the confidence of the Society,
but was moved by a sincere desire for its good.

It was a pity that Hogg thought fit to spring so often to his feet on
points of order. It was a pity that McGarel objected so bitterly to personal
allusion to himself by other hon. members. It was a pity that Quintin
never hesitated himself to allude to others in person. The President must
be warmly congratulated on his behaviour in what was a very trying
situation. We shall long remember the firm and inimitable manner in
which he so often was forced to order the Hon. Quintin McGarel back to
his seat.

Mr. Randolph Churchill? (Christ Church) was very, very British. This is
not a compliment. Nor, strangely enough, is it an insult. He argued that
the English had done an inestimable amount of good to India, but little
harm, and that he would be the last person to thwart the country of self-
government when it was ripe for it. He made the damaging admission
that he had studied the question of how to make the Society laugh. I wish
he would write and tell me. Despite the fact that several later speakers,
some of them on his own side of the house, saw fit to abuse the proposer,
I thought this was a good speech.

Mr. F. R. Moraes? (St. Catherine’s) made one of the best speeches I
have heard in the Union. He declared that, before the British came,
Moslems and Hindus lived peaceably together and that in states at present
under Indian rule relations between them were still cordial.

Mr. Pinto (Wadham), whose Christian name, gloriously and happily
enough, is Ignatius, made a good speech to oppose the motion. No
country, he said, could be declared unfit for self-government which had
never been given the opportunity of trying it. If she was not given free-
dom, India would fight for it. Ignatius should speak again.

Mr. H. Z. A. Kabir* (Exeter) is a gymnast second only to one. He bounced
from his seat and leaped about positively incoherent with excitement. It
was lovely to watch him, but alas, nobody except possibly the President
could understand anything he said.

A good debate, marred only by the behaviour of one or two hon.
members, who, while adding nothing to the debate themselves, con-

1 Later the Rt. Hon. Quintin Hogg, Q.C., M.P., member of successive Con-
servative Governments.

2 Son and biographer of Sir Winston Churchill.

3 Later Editor of the Indian Express Newspapers.

4 Humayun Kabir, M.A., M.P., Indian politician and writer.
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stantly interrupted speakers whose views did not coincide with their
own.

The long summer holidays were some of the happiest times Howard
ever had with his parents. Together with his brother, John, they went to
North Wales, Cornwall or the Highlands of Scotland :

“Dear young and only brother John. I remember him as a fat, wriggling
baby, searching the carpet for imaginary animals called ‘Beadles’ which he
pretended to stuff down your neck.

“I remember him winning the race at his prep. school, so proud and so
eager he was, with father and me cantering along beside him cheering him
to victory as he entered the straight towards the tape.

“He was lucky at fairs—I can see him carelessly bowling pennies
down to the board of squares and going off presently with his pockets
full of cash, the showman scowling and the girls who had gathered to
look on, all giggling and nudging each other.

“He was a slashing cricketer and scored more direct hits on the body
with his own fast bowling and more direct hits on other people’s fast
bowling with his own bat than almost anybody else I know.

“I can picture him hot and happy running in the sunshine or with a
cool, serious gaze studying some book, then bursting into roars of
laughter, hurling it from him and springing half-way across the room with
a single galvanic bound.”

These brothers were so alike, and yet so different. John was fair and
blue-eyed; Peter dark and brown-eyed. They admired each other greatly
but envied one another often. Peter envied John's closeness to his parents.
It was natural, for John was still a child when Peter was already a man.
John envied Peter’s fame on the rugger field; his easy success. These
feelings were deep and unexpressed. The Howards did not easily show
each other affection or its opposite. Instead, they walked for days in the
hills, by rushing torrents and peaceful lochs. They fished and swam —and
enjoyed being together.

Although Howard had made new friends at Oxford, he did not lose
sight of the old ones: “I used to spend many weekends in Oxford with
Peter meeting rather nervously all the king pins of the day, with whom
he was friends, and enjoying the wonderful company and constant fun
he provided,” writes Tony Carter. “He was on holiday with us at Filey
in Yorkshire in 1930. As we were walking along the beach one day, father
pointed out the wreck of a submarine in the distance and remarked what a
deceptively long way away it really was. He knew as he had been there
before. Peter did not think it was very far. “You'll never reach it in twenty
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minutes,” said my father, and meaning it. Without a word, off went
Peter, clambering, hobbling and dancing over the rocks, and within a
quarter-of-an-hour he was there. He was always ready to meet a challenge,
especially if it seemed impossible.”

In October 1930, Howard returned to Oxford. He was in training for
rugger. He was also made sub-Editor of Isis, and stopped doing the weekly
reports of the Union.

Isis, October 15, 1930.

This is principally for the benefit of Freshmen: at the same time I should
advise all of you to read it. I feel sure that you will understand the
Society better when you have done so. Besides, you may get a mention.
If you don’t, I will guarantee that (for the relatively small sum of five
shillings, to be sent in a plain envelope to the Isis office) you will get one
next week.

The new Isis reporter is, of course, with the exception of the President,
the most important person at the debates. Even in this office, that seat of
wit and discrimination, he is conspicuous for the brilliant sharpness of his
tongue. No more need be said. Except, of course, that I shall myself be
sorry to attend the debates in an unofficial capacity. I shall, of course,
attend all the debates. All the best chaps do.

If by any chance you want a mention next week, don’t forget the five
shillings. Puffs come more expensive —half-a-guinea a time. We are, of
course, willing to come to some arrangement about puffing you all
through the term. Good-bye until Thursday evening.

At the beginning of February the OUDS (Oxford University Dramatic
Society) presented Flecker’s Hassan at the New Theatre, Oxford. The cast
included Peggy Ashcroft and George Devine. Howard played the part of
Masrur, the Executioner. His principal memory of the performance was
the hours taken to make up his face, and the longer hours taken in cleaning
it off again. He also enjoyed helping to lower Peggy Ashcroft from the
heights in a basket.

“Mr. P. D. Howard,” wrote Isis (February 19, 1931) “made a most
impressive figure, who in his scene with Yassim gave a real impression
of sinister power, which was assisted by a wonderful lighting effect.”

On February 26, England was to play Ireland at Twickenham. Sam
Tucker, the English captain, had gone down with "flu. In his place, Howard
was picked to captain the side. He was twenty-two years old.

The Daily Telegraph, February 1931.

Iam glad the selectors have made this choice, for Howard is young enough,
and good enough, to play for England for some years to come. Moreover,
he has the sort of personality which makes for satisfying leadership, and
his knowledge of the game is considerable.
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On Howard’s visits to London he would go to his grandparents’ at
Inverness Terrace. Ebenezer Howard was by that time an old man, but
he and Gracie showed much kindness to their grandson. It was on one of
these visits that Howard intended to raise with his grandfather the question
of his Oxford finances. By this time, the bills were pouring in steadily,
and there was no money to pay them. The opportunity arose when Howard
took his grandfather to the station:

“When my grandfather was over eighty, I sought his advice on a certain
course of action. Already I had decided to take that course, whatever
advice my grandfather offered. But I hoped the old gentleman would be
pleased and flattered at my inquiry. The following conversation took
place between us:

“Myself: ‘Grandfather, there’s something I want your advice about.’

“Grandfather: (fiercely) ‘Well, Peter, you shall have my advice, but
you won't pay attention to it.’

“Myself: (stung by the truth of this observation) ‘You see, I am
wondering whether I should. ...

“Grandfather: ‘Don’t bother to tell me about it. I don’t want to hear it.
My advice to you and all young men is, don’t do it. Then they usually
do do it, and afterwards they are sorry.’

“No more would my grandfather, Ebenezer, say. He climbed puffing into
the train. The train climbed puffing out of the station. I was left, punc-
tured, on the platform.”

Disappointed in his hopes that his grandfather might pay his debts,
Howard decided to leave Oxford in April 1931. He did so without a
degree. He considered that with unpaid bills amounting to over one
thousand pounds, a job was more important to him than an Oxford
degree. Financially he was right. Scholastically he was wrong.

His departure had unpleasant repercussions for many people. His old
Headmaster, Mr. Jacks, had great difficulty in explaining his action to the
Grants Committee. Those to whom Howard owed money felt that he was
running away from responsibility. For many young men such a bad start
would have signified a poor future. For Howard it was the beginning of
financial wisdom, which lasted him all his life. Though he received many
offers of loans he accepted none of them. He was determined to earn
enough to pay all his debts. He was to do so within two years.

43



Chapter 5

KULM HOTEL, ST. MORITZ
ENGADIN

August 1931

I never knew a heart could break

So easily —with only pain

To make it never live again.

No sounds or cries,

When a heart dies.

Only dumb and misunderstanding pain.

I never knew a heart could still,
When it was broken and had died,
Love with its happiness, its pride —
And broken, still
Beat down my will —
Still love you, when the blood of it had dried.

In the months after he left Oxford, Peter Howard took on not one
job, but three.

The first was offered him by Sir Oswald Mosley, and he was persuaded
to accept it by Harold Nicolson.! He was to be National Secretary of the
New Party Youth Movement: “At that time public duty made no strong
appeal to me, though I was flattered to imagine that men of the standing of
Nicolson and Mosley should select me as a member of the patriot band
to save Britain.

“I was offered a total of £650 a year for my services. I accepted the
job and the money.

“Those were the days when Mosley was declaiming his bitter opposition
to Fascism and all its ideology. ‘We don’t want any ice cream from Italy,’
he exclaimed. Also he described British Fascists of that day as ‘black-
shirted buffoons, making a cheap imitation of Italian ice cream

2

sellers’.

1 The Hon, Sir Harold Nicolson, politician and author.
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Howard was to be responsible for the political organisation of the
youth clubs and was to write regularly for the New Party paper, Pioneer.
The Howard family, desiring him to have a more stable job, insisted
that he should read for the Bar. He started to work on the necessary books.
" Meanwhile, Howard needed something to bring in money quickly.
Through Lord David Cecil, then a Wadham Don, he heard of a boy, Sir
John Dyer, who needed special coaching to get into Oxford the following
year:

“His parents offered me five pounds a week and all expenses to take him
to Switzerland for six months and coach him.

“This suited me well. It gave me the prospect of setting aside five
pounds a week for the next six months and also would put me outside the
reach of my creditors for the same period.”

Howard arrived at the Kulm Hotel, St. Moritz, in the early summer of
1931. The young baronet whom he was to tutor was a pleasant boy but
in poor health, as a result of which he wore a metal frame on his back.
He was accompanied by his grandmother and sister. Also at the Kulm
Hotel was a young American, John Forbes:?

“Peter was very good for John Dyer —checked him in the midst of
introducing himself as ‘Sir John’ with a ‘Mister Dyer!

“My mother and I, Peter and John Dyer used to walk the mile or two
from St. Moritz ‘Dorf’ to St. Moritz ‘Bad’ to hear the band play in the park
at the Kurhaus daily at about eleven.

“Peter was an interesting mixture of very old and very young. The latter
was reflected in the harmless vanities —University tags like ‘subfusc,
gentlemen, subfusc’, patronising references to people smaller than himself
as ‘little people’ ; mysterious references to the story he was one day going to
write under the title ‘Death of a Rose’; the announcement that he was
wearing ‘my grandfather’s dinner jacket’, when from other allusions it
was a reasonable guess that his grandfather did not own one. (In fact,
Howard did own his grandfather’s dinner jacket, and wore it for many
years.)

“He had a pleasantly witty way of expressing himself. A not very
attractive English girl at the hotel wore a ribbon in her hair. Peter named
her ‘the filleted female’. He was very diverting company, had the usual
British reserve about speaking of his athletic career, and was certainly the
handsomest young man I ever saw.”

St. Moritz in 1931 attracted European society. Film stars, millionaires,
sporting personalities, as well as mountaineers and ordinary men and
1 Later Professor of Business History at the University of Virginia.
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women in varying degrees of health, found their way to St. Moritz. The
summer tennis tournament brought some of the French champions, at a
time when French tennis was at its height. Howard, though only a
moderate player himself, decided to enter for the Men’s Handicap Doubles
with a Cambridge undergraduate, Mr. William Farquhar,! who edited
the University magazine Varsity. The Kulm Hotel had some excellent hard
courts beside it, where players could practise. Howard could watch them
as he did his work:

es sitting in the sunshine of our hotel balcony, teaching my pupil
how  iscover if the hands of a clock were together at five-and-a-half
minutes past one at what exact moment they would next be together
again.
; “I looked over the hotel balcony and saw a girl. She was playing tennis
on the hard court below. I fell in love with her. Three days after I met
her, I had proposed to her. Three seconds later she had refused me.”

The girl was Mlle. Doris Metaxa. She was just twenty years old, and a
Junior Tennis Champion of France. Known later to her friends as “Dog”,
she was a slender, dark girl with lightning speed on the tennis court.
Doé was French by birth and by upbringing, but her parents were Greek.
John Metaxa, her father, was over six feet tall, a native of the Island of
Ithaca:

“John Metaxa’s mother once hid him in the bread oven saying pirates
might come to the Island of Ithaca where he was born. For pirates used to
shanghai small boys from Ithaca, carry them off as cabin hands and cook
boys on expeditions of smuggling and violence.

“So one of John Metaxa’s first recollections is of his mother’s pale
hands fluttering like moths toward him through the darkness of the
oven, thrusting forward a cup of sweet wine and a hunk of bread stuffed
with black olives, and swiftly withdrawing.

“Metaxa ran barefoot on Ithaca. His body grew strong and hard. He
plunged it in the Bay of Ithaca where, on calm days fathoms deep, they
say you still can see pinnacles and fluted pillars of age-old palaces
drowned in the ageless ocean.

“John Metaxa was bred to responsibility and vision. For his family is one
of the oldest in Greece.”

Metaxa had left Greece, never to return, after Venizelos? had broken a
promise made to him at the time of Venizelos’s rise to power. He had
spent many years in Bombay with Ralli Brothers, and was a neighbour

1 Later Director of the Chase-Manhattan Bank in Paris.
2 Prime Minister of Greece for 14 years between 1910 and 1933.
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and friend of Jinnah, with whom he would often ride and talk. He married
Irene Theologo, also Greek, and they had three children—two girls,
Myrto and Doris, and a son, Marc. They were a family of considerable
wealth, though not of luxury. John Metaxa was outstandingly generous
with his money, and when he died it was found that, unknown:to his
family, he had been giving financial help to over two hundred people.
He had a warm heart and a hot temper. Of his three children, Doé was
perhaps the one he loved most, though he would never have said so.
Both he and his wife were sad that Do€ had chosen to play tennis for
France, rather than Greece. But Doé had learnt her tennis in France, with
French tuition and French people. It seemed inconceivable for her to
play for Greece, a country she hardly knew.

At the age of twelve, Doé had first taken a racquet and ball and played for
hours against a stable wall near their home in Marseilles. From there she
went regularly to the club, and entered the Riviera Tennis Tournaments,
of which there were many. At the age of eighteen she had become the
Ladies’ Junior Tennis Champion of France. At the age of twenty, she was
one of the great lawn tennis players of the day.

Howard was amazed by her:

“It was a surprise and shock to me when I first saw the force and fury
generated by so slight a person. 1 felt something of the wonder which
would fill the mind of the onlooker if he saw a gazelle kicking buffaloes to
extinction.”

It was William Farquhar who first introduced Doé to Peter Howard. It
was apparent to all their friends that they were very fond of each other.
Howard tried hard to deny it. He protested, although no one had taxed
him with it, that he was not all that interested. As he sat with Farquhar
beside the tennis courts watching Do€ smash another opponent into
oblivion, Farquhar began to whistle “Three Little Words”. Howard was
furious, and asked him what he meant by it. “Nothing at all. I just mean
game, set and match to Miss Metaxa.”

Howard found meeting Do€ none too easy.

“I soon discovered that to walk and talk with John Metaxa’s daughter
was not so ready an affair as to become familiar with some of my English
friends. No appointment with the daughter could be made without
sanction of the sire.

“I used to telephone the hotel where the Metaxas were staying. ‘Would
it be possible for Mr. Howard to see Mlle. Metaxa this afternoon?’
Presently the concierge would bring a message, ‘Mademoiselle would be
happy to walk at two-thirty.’

“At two-thirty I would go to the hotel. There would be Dog. And there

D 47



would be John Metaxa too, with walking stick, neat clothes, and the
kindly but penetrating gaze of an eagle.

“Dog and I would walk in front. Behind, like the detective who protects
royalty, never within earshot, ever within eyeshot, ever detached, never
removed, strode John Metaxa.

“He was at that time over seventy. It was hot weather, the dry, parching
heat of an Alpine summer. I tried to walk faster than he did to leave him
far behind. But I never succeeded. He always looked cool and faintly
amused as we said goodbye, while I always was sweating and faintly
uncomfortable.

“The man who had spent his youth on the precipitous goat-tracks of
Ithaca found the tourist tracks of St. Moritz very small beer by comparison.

“It would be hypocrisy to pretend that I enjoyed his manoeuvres. But
I conceived an admiration and affection for his character.”

The Metaxas were not pleased with Peter Howard’s attentions. They
had no idea who he was, or whether he had any prospects. Doé had been
brought up on strict and sheltered lines. Howard seemed oblivious of
anything except that he was in love with their daughter. He entered the
golf tournament with her. The first prize was a Cartier handbag and a gold
wrist watch, Howard was very keen to win the handbag for Do€. He
played a brilliant game. At the first tee Do€ hit the ball with some force
backwards over a precipice. They were disqualified. The hazards of
a golf match could not now come between them. They were deeply in
love.

At the end of August the Metaxas left St. Moritz and took Doé back to
Paris. Hardly a day passed when Peter Howard did not write to her.
Unfortunately, he seldom dated his letters.

P.D.H. to Doé Kulm Hotel,
St. Moritz
August 1931
This afternoon a wonder arrow of silver-coloured birds flew across
the lake from the river. And I turned very quickly as I was walking on the
hillside and said, “Look, Do& darling,” before I realised you weren’t
there. But you see how close you still are to me. You remember the last
time I wrote you a letter when I knew that at any moment you might
come in through the door and find me, which you did. You are just as
near to me now as you were then. I believe you will always be as close
to me as this when I am writing to you, even also at most times when I
am not writing to you.
With you in life I feel I could and can do anything. You touch all the
best of my very great ambitions and all the best of my capabilities.
Without you in life, now I have known you, I should disappear. To

48



accomplish things for myself, even for my mother, now seems a very
trivial thing to me.

Up here some few times you saw the truth and felt and knew it to be
the truth. I believe the memory of those months will help you to sift
things in your heart and feel sure of yourself. I shan’t say any more of this
until you speak to me of it again.

The mountains are nearer tonight than they have ever been. I once
thought I hated them, but the mountains and the sea and big rivers have
always been my friends and they will be kind to us now. I have spoken out
loud to you so often today and I swear you are with me in body and spirit
as I write this. I could never feel so happy if you were not here.

P.D.H. to Doé St. Moritz
August 1931

Things that happen to me when you are not here are just stupid
waste of time. This evening the sun crossed the lake and the valley and
climbed up the mountain: where valkyries hide. And there were those
streaks of gold on the peaks which we looked at together. And there was
just a moment when the sun went away when everything was quiet and
the earth so lovely that it was difficult to breathe. And it meant very little
to me. Beauty without you to enjoy it only makes me angry.

The photos were enlarged by an assistant who has spoiled them, as
you see. They are being done again. I had the golf shot one enlarged to
illustrate what is wrong with the finish of your shot. You must not have
the weight of your body anywhere but on your left leg at the end of your
shot, the right knee bent and the left knee braced. In the photo your
arms are absolutely right, but you seem to have taken your eye off the ball.

Doé, a French Bachelor of Arts, and brought up in an intellectual atmo-
sphere, found his letters young and immature.

P.D.H. to Doé St. Moritz
August 1931

It makes me unhappy to think that my letters to you are not the right
sort of letters. It is young, I suppose, to enjoy the stars and the mountains
and call them your friends, and to invent curious phrases for them, like,
the stars hanging in the rich fields of darkness, or the clouds wandering
over the pure lakes of the sky. And it is young, too, to love someone so
that nothing else on earth matters. It is younger still to say so. And
youngest of all to write it in a letter. And it is young to say that you will go
through hell to help someone you love. So young as to be almost old-
fashioned. And it is young to be thrown out of one’s old life suddenly
into a new and strange and frightening one, to allow oneself to be thrown
out of everything that has mattered like that.
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But now I will try so hard to be old and obvious and unhysterical.
Perhaps you will say it is young to want to change yourself, or even
your letters, to please someone. Well, may be, but with your help it shall
be the last act of my youth. I will not have any more emotions and I will
talk about God as if He were a close personal friend, with rather boring
ideas Who comes to lunch every Sunday, and His digestion, poor fellow,
is always upset by your roast beef and Yorkshire pudding. And I will
remember that the clouds are only atoms of dirt and water, when all is
said and done, and the stars only melted stones remote and unconcerned,
stuck into space like plums in 2 pudding.

And as for going out of my way to help you, why, you know that in
future my good sense will prevail and I shall stay where I am and speak
and make money, and dictate to my secretary sixteen pages of good advice
to you, culled from my own experience. And as for loving you, probably it
is only the mountain air which has a galvanic effect on the stomach,
the seat of most human emotions. And all this is the most utter nonsense.
When I write to you I feel young. My love for you is a young love. I
should hate to degrade you by loving you like an experienced person of
forty.

But my letters to you must be old. I think perhaps that I can make them
older if I try. To be middle-aged or at least conventionally middle-aged,
you only have to criticise everything and everyone, and to imply that you
could do far better in their place, to scoff at youth because you are so
bitterly jealous of it, and to praise the cynical pleasures of life which you
know, or knew, were wrong.

Do let me know how you would like me to write to you. It is heart-
breaking to know that when you are with me I satisfy you, but when you
read my letters you can only smile.

P.D.H. to Doé St. Moritz
August 1931

Your sweet letter came just before lunch today. It will be a little
while still before I see the stars again as stars not stones, and clouds as
clouds not dirty water, and God as a Spirit not an old bore poking His
nose into our business because His own is too insignificant to occupy
His attention.

It does seem strange that I should seem most like myself in my letters
to you when I am being bitter, or cynical, or cross. Was I so utterly
horrible up here? Because as a matter of fact, although I have been trying
for years to turn myself into an amiable vegetable, or better still into a
really wicked person with no feelings at all, I have succeeded very poorly.
I still believe that it is a more beautiful thing not to allow your body
and your desires to overrule your conscience, or what loose-livers call
your early Victorian prudery. I still believe it is bad to get drunk. I still
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see nothing unmanly in grasping at shadows, in loving beautiful things, in
writing poetry and in talking to the moon and stars. And I shall always
know that love is the most important thing in life now.

I have just had a long letter from Mosley. He thinks that the recent
crisis in England will help the party enormously as being the only one
which has got constructive plans for placing the industrial position on a
firm basis. Myself, I don’t think so. This crisis has not hit the vast and
phlegmatic lump which is the great British public hard enough yet for
them to take any new steps. You know, in England to get anything done,
people always have to be ridiculed, starved and martyred. And even then
what is done is usually done twenty years too late. But still, they are
good sports, bless their fat hearts and stomachs. And they hate damn
dagos, and anyhow something has always turned up in the past. I shall one
day write a very amusing essay about my countrymen. It will be amusing
because it will be true.

Mosley in his letter also says, “As regards clothes, I think the note for
you to strike is simple cleanliness. I think you may continue to appear
hatless. On the other hand, to dress too untidily will give the impression
you are trying to look like a Labour agitator, and that is the sort of impres-
sion we do not wish to convey.’

Will you please come to my tailors with me on the 18th and order the
right things for me?

P.D.H. to Doé St. Moritz
August 1931

I have got something rather disagreeable to say to you. I wouldn't say
it, but we did promise that if there is anything in the other which we
thought needed putting right, we would say. So you will forgive me.

Here are the two things I have to tell you about yourself, which you
must try very hard to put right. First, you spell Wednesday “Wednesday” —
not Wensday. Second, you spell address “address” —not adress.

You are by no means alone in disliking Mosley’s face, even in disliking
Mosley himself. He is probably the most unpopular person in England
today. But you have to be rather a big person to be as hated as that,
especially in England. He is rather Mussolini-like, you know, when you
talk to him. I must introduce you to him in London. He has rather
shifty eyes. He is the most vindictive hater of anyone I know, even more
horrible in real rage than I am myself. He is very courageous, and by a
long way the best orator in England today. But what endears him to me
(by this I do not mean I am devoted to him as a person. I am not, but I
would never desert him while he still needed me in politics) is that he is
alight with his own cause. He really does believe he can save the, British
working classes and no one else can. And I think you would like thJs part
of him as much as I do.
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When the Metaxas had left St. Moritz, they had planned to come to
England in September. But now they decided to cancel the journey in the
hopes that Do€ would forget Howard.

P.D.H. to Doé St. Moritz
September 1931

I and Richey were going to climb today. There were too many clouds
for it to be safe. So he has gone off in his car to Ziirich and I have sat in
the hotel after taking John for a long walk, waiting for your letter from
Paris telling me why your plans have gone awry.

I rejoice that I have found a relationship with someone sufficiently
strong and enduring and large to be able to absorb small tragedies like
this and make me see them as the little things they are.

Try to see it like this and remember, however much fate may seem to be
against us, yet “God fulfils Himself in many ways, lest one good custom
should corrupt the world”.

I myself have been brought up to believe that I should not love lightly,
that the love I should one day have for a woman would be the greatest
thing which would ever happen to me, and the only thing to which I
must expect to sacrifice my heart and myself; my body and my brain to
winning money or fame as she might desire, yes, but myself for her alone
and my heart to be plucked out for her and for no one else, should she
actually want it.

And now this thing has come to me. In two short months I am changed,
as my mother told me I would be, from the person I was before, rather
selfish and so damnably successful at everything I touched, just because it
never occurred to me that I should not succeed, and because I wanted to
do so for the sake of my pride. Yes, to think that I was so very proud a
person that believed, “From quiet homes and first beginning out to the
undiscovered ends, there’s nothing worth the wear of winning, but
laughter and the love of friends.”

And even then friends seem to fall into my lap without my having to
wear myself to win them. And now I am no longer the same person. I no
longer know I shall be successful. It doesn’t matter at all. And sometimes
now I, who used to be so brave and stand on rocks and perilous places and
not be afraid to go down before the fiercest forward rush at Twickenham,
and who would swim in the fiercest sea, and never hesitated to tell anyone
the truth as I saw it, looking into their eyes, am often so terribly and
ashamedly afraid for myself that I know myself to be a coward.

Personally, I have always pictured truth as a young and vigorous
person. It has to be strong. It has the hardest tasks to perform —not an
old, old man with a goatee beard, rather like Uncle Sam with the same
self-satisfied and inane look on his face.

My thoughts and my prayers cannot but help you, keep you safe and
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give you strength to laugh at the discouragements around you. More
things are wrought by prayer than this world dreams of. I know my
prayers for you will be heard.

Howard had now been invited to stand as a New Party candidate in
Bristol for the forthcoming election. He accepted the offer.

P.D.H. to Doé St. Moritz
September 17, 1931

Whatever you do, don't ever get to a state of bitterness in which you
believe that all family life is the sort you seem to lead. I am certain that
family love is one of the greatest joys life can offer, and one of the best
ways in which we can know we are doing good as we are meant to. I
don’t mean that any family goes on without members of it thinking
differently about different things. You will always find one lot of people
enjoying things which grate on the nerves of the others and so on. Butina
family, as a family should be, you will find a spirit of unselfishness based
on an absolute trust and reliance and love between the members of it,
which we will not find in another group of human relationships, and
which makes everyone see the storms of life as the small things they are,
and to give way instead of crashing into the feelings and souls of the
others. So don’t think that all families shout and quarrel and hurt, because
they don't.

In December I have a Bar exam and next summer a diploma in political
economy which I haven't yet begun to read for. So you can see that with
all these things and my Oxford House activities, I have plenty to occupy
myself. Also, I have to turn out a weekly article for the Pioneer, whose first
number appears on October 1. I have got an important rugger match
on September 23 (England and Wales versus Scotland and Ireland, which
Sam Tucker gets up every year). And also I expect on October 3, I shall
play versus the South Africans. Unfortunately, I am not at the moment at
all interested, but I expect when I receive my first buffet on the head I
shall become a little more enthusiastic.

I wonder if I will ever get back that old flame which used to drive me
to do things better than other people so that my own pride could be
satisfied. For my pride has gone.

You ask about my work in England. My first wireless talk is on Septem-
ber 27. With Mosley I go to Bristol almost as soon as I get back to
England to be introduced to my constituents, poor fools. I hope they
will not suspect that the young ass with nodding ears, which is me, is
lurking behind the voice which will tell them how, if they send me back
to Parliament, they will inevitably find their bread costing them less. 1
speak in the Temple some time before the end of the month, and I start
the three Pioneer Clubs —two in London and one in Birmingham. That
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should take about three weeks. I am speaking at Stratford on Sunday,
October 25 on world peace. Also, before the end of the year, I have to
find time to go to every town in England, Scotland, Northern Ireland and
Wales where I think it likely I can get a New Party Club started and address
a meeting there.

Howard left St. Moritz and returned to England, but whenever he had a
weekend to spare he would catch the boat train on Saturday night for
Paris. Do& would know he was coming. Her father would not:

“I used to telephone to their hotel from the Restaurant Griffon where
the proprietor loved romance even to the extent of once cashing a cheque
for me.

* ‘Mr. Howard finds himself in Paris for the day. Could he call and see
Mademoiselle Metaxa?’ The answer would be, ‘Will Mr. Howard take
luncheon with the family Metaxa at one o'clock?’

“So I wandered around Paris on the Sunday mornings, unknown
and knowing nobody. I used to drink a glass of Dubonnet, watch the
anglers in the Seine, stroll and follow the pigeons and children in the
Louvre Gardens —and at one o’clock I would go to the Hotel Napoléon.

“There would be a family lunch. I would grab a few sentences with
Doé. Then goodbye again.

“In the afternoon, a solitary cinema, often incomprehensible, for I did
not speak French in those days. Then back to the dear, drear Gare du Nord
with its odour of fresh coffee and stale garlic, trains and drains and the
prickling, tangy smell which is France. Away again on the night journey
to Dunkirk and Tilbury, and to my office at Westminster by nine on
Monday morning.”

P.D.H. to Doé The Griffon, Paris
September 27, 1931

I am writing this between the courses of my dinner. At the thought
that you are within a mile of me and yet I am to go away without seeing
you, sadness returns to me. But yet I cannot altogether be sad after today.
Just after you went into the hotel I nearly made a fool of myself and came
as far as the door for a last chance of seeing you, and I wandered down
the Avenue with a breaking heart.

Forgive me if I was dirty or dull today. I am terribly, terribly tired, but
happier than I ever hope to be able to be. I never thought I would spend
twenty-six hours out of thirty-six free hours travelling to see anyone,
except my mother, and I so rejoice that I was sensible enough to come.

The journeys home were long and tiring, Doé was tormented with doubts
and fears, which were encouraged by her parents, and the partings were

difficult.
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P.D.H. to Doé New Party Headquarters
London
September 28, 1931
It was rather hellish that journey back last night. I sat in the train at the
Gare du Nord and as we began to move I blew a kiss to you up to the
lovely full moon. Paris looked so lovely, and I so hated leaving it and you:
I think that the mistake you have made in the past is that you have
known the truth now for some time deep in yourself, but whenever you
have had bad moments —and we all of us have them you know —you
have not argued with the truth that you know is your strength and with
me beside you. You have not said, “I have known and I know that Peter
loves me and will always love me. And I have known and I know that I
will always love him.” Don’t hazard our future and great happiness by
refusing to fight thoughts which you know deeply in yourself are untrue,
and which, if you don’t at once kill with the truth as we have known it,
could grow stronger in time.

P.D.H. to Doé London
September 1931

I am hiding in a little café near the Houses of Parliament called the
Pewter Jug. Everyone in the office is hunting for me and very cross because
I have gone off. But I can’t go on any longer without writing to you.

1 arrived at Stoke-on-Trent at four-thirty and had to arrange for the
stewarding of the hall where Mosley was to speak. Also interview several
people for him and make a short speech of thanks and encouragement to
the local New Party committee. At seven-thirty his meeting started. I had
to stand on a statue outside the Town Hall and speak for an hour-and-a-
half to all the people who couldn’t get inside to hear him, a crowd of
about 7,000. Well, you try speaking even in an ordinary tone without
stopping for an hour-and-a-half and see how tired you feel, but to pitch
your voice in the open to caity to 7,000 is a terrific task, and I was really
almost fainting at the end.

P.D.H. to Doé London
October 1931

I am sorry that you do not like me being devoted. It doesn’t mean
quite the same thing to me as it does to you. By devoted, I don’t mean
that I shall always be crawling at your feet and saying you can do no
wrong, and doing always what you say. Such a life is impossible to me. I
have got my own ideas of the way to go about things and I shall put them
to you for your approval, just as I hope you will put your ideas to me.
But any grovelling subservience is bound to kill affection.

About my clothes, that is a thing about which I shall definitely be at
your feet. I am no good at choosing them myself. It is far better that you
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should choose them for me. I think myself that a cream bow would be
nicer in your hat than a yellow one, unless you have got exactly the right
shade of yellow. This won't be very helpful, I am afraid, but you see I do
remember little things about you, even in the middle of this babel. The
noise in election time is the worst part of it — telephone bells, typewriters,
people dictating letters. It never stops.

P.D.H. to Doé October 1931

Yesterday I had to go and see Mosley. After he had finished talking to
me I had no time even to finish off my letter and post it. But I have
carried it in my bag down to Cardiff. After my speeches there last night
I came to Merthyr, where I am now.

Merthyr has been a Labour seat for the last forty years and everyone
says it is madness to fight it. We are the only Party which has put up a
candidate against the Socialist wall-head and we are doing very well here.

We have a crowd of about 8,000, and if it wasn't for you I would be
feeling very afraid. Most of them will be hostile at the beginning, as our
policy is not a popular one, and it doesn’t promise the voters much for
another year.

You see, I am only a little boy sometimes — very nervous and afraid of
big things I have to do. This is not an easy speech I have to make in an
hour’s time. It will be the hardest I have to make in the whole election,
except the one at Glasgow on Monday.

Later

I have just come in from making a speech to the miners at Treharris as
they came up out of the ground from their work in the pit. It was rather
wonderful, a thing T won't forget. I was standing on a heap of slag making
my speech and the sun was going down very red and splendid (you know
what a British winter sun is like) behind the pithead and the other black
slag heaps. All the miners came pouring out of the shaft with coal-black
faces, tired from their work, and looked up at me and listened. It was
strange and wonderful. My body was the only white thing and everything
else black, except the red sun.

It was in South Wales during the election campaign that Howard was
to see the torment of unemployment for the first time:

“I went in a car along the valleys of the Rhondda. Presently I saw a
crowd of people, three or four hundred of them, squatting on a hillside,
gazing at a pond. There they were on the grass, crouching down on their
heels as miners do, like a flock of black crows against the green and grey
of the Welsh landscape.

“For two days before I arrived they had sat stolidly from dawn to
dark gazing at that pond (the water was not more than fifty yards across).
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A miner bathing in the pond had been drowned. They were dragging the
water for his body.

“And dl the miners from the village turned out and watched these
operations. For they had nothing else to do. Nothing at all. They were all
unemployed. For years the older men had done no work. Many of the
younger men had never done a day’s work in their lives. So now they spent
their time watching the pond. It was their only occupation in life.

“I learned that they sat there for another whole day after I left the
Rhondda, until the steel drag caught firm in the dead arm of the drowned
miner, lying thirty feet below the surface, and hauled him into the
daylight. When the ambulance had taken the body off, the unemployed
miners went home. They had no excuse to watch the pond tomorrow.

“It was in the Valleys that I first saw how women take on men'’s coun-
tenances when they are in grief —then the taut, still, chiselled lines of the
women’s faces have a masculine appearance. The shape of one such face is
etched for ever in my memory, the lips slightly parted, bitterness fighting
faith in the deep lights of the eyes, the cheeks and chin soaking wet,
though no rain had fallen.

“Class means nothing and hatreds mean nothing, and the old political
_ cries and slogans mean nothing at the pithead on days like these. Manager’s
wife and miner’s wife brew tea together, stamping to keep warm on the
blackened mud around the shaft. It is a sisterhood of sorrow.

“Men from pit-face and office who for years have not spoken about
each other except in terms of abuse, go down together to face the trouble —
they work until clothes, hands and nails are torn. Sometimes they die in
company, taking risks to cut their way swifily to the entombed men. Itis a
brotherhood of travail.

“In one street I saw twenty or thirty children playing. I stopped to
watch them. And in a2 moment, anger, pity, humiliation, 2 compound of
every deep feeling of the human heart rose within me. For I saw that
almost every one of those children had mis-shapen legs or ankles.

“They had felt the weakening drag of malnutrition, because there was so
little money coming into the mining areas at that time.

“When I asked a Member of Parliament about this tragedy, he said,
‘Well, it’s very sad. But if they spent the dole on milk for the children
instead of beer for themselves, they’d be better off.’

“Perhaps there was some truth in the remark. I cannot say. But it
sounded so cynical and it was so inadequate. It filled me with fury. I
cursed God and man, especially that man.”

P.D.H. to Doé October 1931
This is the first time since I left you that I have been able to sit down

with you and be alone with you and speak with you for more than a few

minutes. They will come for me in a quarter-of-an-hour and take me
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away and give me food before I speak. They look after me like a child these
people all over the country, for I am so utterly exhausted after I have made
a long speech as I put all of myself into it. I am so utterly tired nowadays
that I really have passed the stage where I can think of things like food and
sleep for myself. But I eat when they tell me, and sleep when they tell me.

Tomorrow (Sunday) I am in Birmingham; Monday and Tuesday in
Glasgow —the Great Central Hotel. After that until October 28 at the
Stafford Hotel, Stoke-on-Trent. Mosley is having a grim fight there to keep
his seat and wants me to be with him until the poll.

Howard’s election visit to Glasgow was as difficult as the one to Wales.
The memory of it never left him:

“I was sent to canvass a street in one of the Glasgow constituencies
which a supporter of Mosley was fighting, In the basement of a house
there, I found a man living in a single room with five children. The eldest
was about fifteen, the youngest near two. There was no window at all in
this dug-out. The place stank. On the faces of the children, except of the
smallest, there were sore scabby places, looking like scrum pox.

“The man stood talking to me quite politely. He told me that he was not
interested in politics and did not mean to vote in the election at all.
‘You see none of these fellows do anything for me,” he said. I explained
that the New Party was really a new party, it attempted to give expression
to all the hopes and ambitions of men of goodwill, it planned to right the
wrongs of the submerged millions of our population and to make a new
Britain with equality of opportunity and justice and work.

“The fellow was just not interested. ‘They all say the same,’” he said.
Then, in a more forthcoming voice, because I was doing all I could to
make him like me —and succeeding — he added, ‘You know, they none
of them do anything for me, because they none of them can. It's all a
hopeless muddle.’

“*Well,’ I said, ‘if you do change your mind and vote, vote for the
New Party.” ‘Maybe,’” he answered, grinning at my persistence. ‘If the New
Party was in power,’ I told him, ‘you'd get a better place than this to live
in —more room.” He replied in ordinary conversational tones, ‘Oh, we
were more crowded a week ago. There was another kid here then. She
died down here last Friday.” He gave me this information exactly as if
he had told me that he liked kippers for supper. Life had so beaten this
fellow that he just no longer cared about anything at all.

“I heard from his neighbours that the daughter, aged nine, had d1ed
down there among them all one night, and next morning the father had
carried the corpse in a sack over his back to a place where arrangements
had been made to bury the child.”
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By this time both the Metaxas and Howards were keen to end the
romance between Peter and Do€. The Howards felt Do was a foreigner
and there were plenty of good English girls around. The Metaxas wanted
references from England to assure them of Howard's good character.

P.D.H. to Doé October 1931

This is going to be a very serious letter. It is the first time I have had a
chance to write for the last three days. I have never known such a rush as
this. I have made over twenty speeches in three days, some of them more
than an hour long. I spoke before Mosley at the meeting in Birmingham.
You may have read about when the Communists tried to kill us with
chains and bottles and I got cut on the head (I am sending a photo of it)
just before the real fighting began. You see how dishevelled and angry I
am looking. I and Mosley had just been fighting with batons and clearing
the space round the platform. All our speeches in Glasgow were made in
places where there was rioting less than a month ago. We are going to
have another meeting in Birmingham once the election is over.

I have just answered your mother’s letter and said that if she will wait,
as she herself has suggested, until after the election, it would be better as I
can give her a far fuller and more detailed answer then.

As to the question of nationality, I am afraid I do not think as your
mother does about this. If you come to me with the determination of
making yourself into an English woman with a love of England which
would exceed your love for any other country, even if you succeeded,
the love you formed would be a love which you had forced upon yourself,
not a natural love at all, and you never would wholly succeed.

Of course, you love France best. It would be unnatural if you did not.
If you come to me resolved to turn your ideas and ideals into English
ideals for my sake, it implies that you belong to me far more than I
belong to you, and I don’t think this should be so.

I shall think of the people I will get your mother to write to. Harold,
yes, and “Buster” Brown, who has known me and my family for years.
And Lord David Cecil, who has known me all through my Oxford days.
And as soon as I get home at the end of the month, I will get my mother to
write both to yours and to you, but it is better for you not to write to her,
I think, until I have seen her. She will be a little sad although she has
known that it was going to happen.

T am glad to say that I think the national government is safe for a
majority now. As for our own candidates, they are doing far better than
at one time we dared to hope, but we have a long, long way to go yet.
My own people have been sorely hit by this new emergency budget.
Unless we reorganise our trade, none of us will have any money left. If
this is a bad winter there will be fighting and looting in the streets I am
afraid. ‘
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The General Election took place on October 27, 1931. For the New
Party it was a fiasco. Every one of the twenty-four candidates, including
Mosley and Howard, was defeated. After the election, Howard spent a few
days with his parents in Bexhill, before returning to London. In London he
spent many nights on a houseboat in Chelsea, going to his grandparents’
home for occasional hot baths. It was not surprising that he caught "flu.

P.D.H. to Doé The Studio, London
November 1931
I am better but very, very tired. So odd, I got 2 great rugger press on
Saturday. Evidently some reporter mistook me. It was fun to read about
how well you had played when you had been lying in bed. I hope I will
be able to stay up in a few days. I shouldn't really have got up yesterday.

P.D.H. to Do& The Studio, London
November 1931
A little better, but temperature still up. Each day the office boy, Charlie,
comes at about six o'clock from head office and brings your letters. It
is funny when you are ill how it seems quite impossible that one could
ever get really well.

Worn out from the election campaign, 'flu and his increasing work,
Howard was less and less able to resist the pressure from his family.
They urged him to break off his attachment to Doé. He could not say
he no longer loved her. He did. He took the only course which in his
weakened state seemed open to him, It involved telling Do€ an elaborate
lie.

P.D.H. to Doé December 1931

Here baldly is the truth. No man could love a woman more than I love
you. I hurt my leg at rugger a fortnight ago and was ill also afterwards,
but was only in bed three days. On examining my leg the doctor says it is
diseased. When I asked if it would pass to my children, if any, he said yes.
1 hadn't the courage until you found me out to tell you the truth. Here it is.
You may have been unhappy yourself, but what of me now?

P.D.H. to Doé& London
December 24, 1931

In the course of the next few weeks I am going to see all the best
London surgeons. It was pure chance that I had to go to a doctor to have
this rugger injury put right or I wouldn’t have found out about this. This
seems almost more than I can bear. You must forget me as soon as ever
you can. If you want difficult things done I shall be here to try and do
them. I have not lost my courage, but just my faith and hope.
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P.D.H. to Doé Christmas Day, 1931

This is only going to be a short letter. I have written so very many
long ones lately and all they have done is to make me more sad. As things
are now, you are the last person I would marry because you are the person
I am most fond of. Your letters made me so very sad that although it is
almost unbearable, I have not opened the last six. I am sorry. I will when
I am better able to do so. You must if you love me be sensible and know
that in time you will get over this and find someone you will love.

My father is the only one of my family who knows of my misfortune.
I will have to tell my mother soon, I suppose.

P.D.H. to Doé Boxing Day, 1931

I don't think I will write again for a few weeks if I can bear not to.
We shall both be in hell for a long time, I am afraid. We may always
have memories of a hillside in Switzerland and a cinema in Paris. Bless
you always. I am thinking of taking a job in the Sudan I have been offered.
It would be a change.

For three months the letters ceased. Do€ knew that the leg injury was
not the real reason for the silence. She feared that the true reason might be
another girl. She was wrong.

During the months which followed Howard became disillusioned with
the New Party. Mosley became increasingly Fascist in his outlook, and
Howard felt the days of the New Party were finished.

Harold Nicolson records the beginning of the end in his Letters and
Diaries 1930~39:

March 15, 1932

“We suggest . . . that the New Party can now acknowledge its own
death. Peter Howard is summoned and speaks out in this sense with an
openness which neither Bob Forgan nor I have as yet dared to assume. An
important meeting, in that the death of the New Party has now been
frankly discussed and the ice broken.”

April 5, 1932
“We decide to dissolve the New Party as a political or electoral organisa-
tion . . . This means sacking Peter Howard.”

The sacking came as no surprise to Howard. It was more with relief
than regret that be left the New Party. Howard wrote:

“Funds were declining. Mosley’s thoughts began to turn to Fascism,
which Harold Nicolson —and I —detested. There was plenty of talk about
it and about. But Mosley's shirt darkened as day followed day. Presently,
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Nicolson picked his hat off the peg. I was handed mine. And we both
walked out of the New Party together.”

The break with Mosley seemed to clear the air for Howard. Other aspects
of his life began to fall into place. In April 1932, he wrote his first letter to
Doé for three months.

P.D.H. to Doé 4, Chepstow Villas,
Bayswater, W.
April 1932
Will you just send me one letter to show me you are still there? 1
wonder if you care for me as much as you did? Only one thing is sure
that, such as I may be, I love you.

P.D.H. to Doé New Party Headquarters
April 1932
I think for the last few months my whole mind has been ill. When are
you coming to England? Let me see you when you do. It will be better to
speak to each other I think. It is today for the first time I have had a hope
that things may come right, though I am so dreading that you have been
too unhappy ever to want to see me again, or to forgive.

P.D.H. to Do& North Stafford Hotel
Stoke-on-Trent
April 1932
I have been so very happy since your letter came to me this morning.
I can scarcely breathe. You say why wait if there is hope. There is more
than hope. My leg is perfectly all right so far as marriage goes.
Will you send me directly you get this your address in Rome? I will
send to there the whole sad story of my stupidity.

P.D.H. to Doé April 1932

Our news made my parents so happy. Mother came into my bedroom
and kissed me goodnight and said, “I do so hope she likes us, Peter.”
That was her only worry. So I assured her that you would, and things
there could not be better.

I had not mentioned you at all to my father and mother for three
months. I felt rather awkward about it, but you will see now that things
with them could not be better than they are. They are both coming to
London to see me tomorrow, and we are going together to a theatre in the
evening.

. On the insistence of the Metaxas that he must get a steady job, Howard
gave up reading for the Bar, and joined Brown’s, Solicitors of Bishopsgate,
as an Articled Clerk. Then he wrote once more to the Metaxas asking their
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permission to marry Do€. She was not yet twenty-one. The Metaxas were
still resolved to stop the marriage. They were to spend Easter in Montreux
and Howard had hoped he would be invited.

P.D.H. to Doé 1, Great George Street
London
April 1932

This is an important letter because I have just had your mother’s
answer to mine. I am going to tell you the bones of what she says with
quotations in inverted commas.

She thanks me for my very kind and straightforward letter. She is glad
that I and my family are very devoted and says, “With us it is the same,
and I hope that we will live all our lives in loving union with our children.”

She says that my position and prospects are secure, which means a
great deal. “What you earn and what we intend to give Doris should
allow a young couple to live comfortably if carefully. But I am wondering
if Doris is capable of being careful. She probably thinks she is, but the
nomadic life we have lately been obliged to lead has accustomed her to
luxuries which she does not get at home and have made her restless and
- exacting. It is almost impossible for her to remain quietly at home or
without company. It has given her false ideas of values and made her
recklessly extravagant. She spends her pocket money almost as soon as she
receives it, and then either borrows or owes, but does not attempt to deny
herself the things she wants or thinks she needs.

“For justice to yourself, I think you ought to make sure that she will
be content with the simple home and pleasures you can afford her, and
that she will not crave for the constant limelight and expensive amusement
of that position of society to which the Daily Mail devotes most of its
columns. She has social ambitions as well, visions of herself married in
London, the centre of an admiring circle of your literary and political
friends, and where her tennis acquaintances are always welcome to her
small but perfectly appointed flat, where she gives smart little dinner or
supper parties that are the talk of the town, and over which she presides in
beautiful clothes from the best Paris dressmakers, (where we cannot afford
to have her frocks made) driving her own Rolls-Royce or Packard to
fetch her husband from his office and take him on to Queens Club or
Roehampton. She means to go off in her own aeroplane for weekends.

“I should be distressed to know that any child of mine was wasting its
precious use in such a way and I feel that with her many qualities, Doris
is made for a better and more useful life. I think she can be brought to see
it, but it may take some time to show her that she is dazzled by false
glamour. And I do not think she should marry before she realises that
married life is made of constant sacrifice and that we enjoy what we
give far more than what we receive or take.
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“T hope this does not sound like cant. I am very much in earnest and
am striving for my little girl's happiness, and yours too.”

I seem to have copied out most of her letter for you and very boring
and trying it has been. You see for yourself two snags about the answer
she has sent me. She doesn’t say anything about asking me to Montreux.
And it is difficult to say to her that I think she has a wrong impression of
Doris altogether. She naturally likes aeroplanes and Rolls-Royces and
Roehampton. Who doesn’t? But they are not indispensable to her happi-
ness. And as for the salon of young authors and politicians, I know most
of them and she could see as much of them as she wanted. But she knows
or should know that the days of famous London hostesses have gone, and
that people who get their names in the papers are mostly climbers who
send in the account of their own dinner parties.

But what on earth am I to say to your mother? If I say that she is
wrong about you and that your good sense is capable of separating the
truth from the false, and although we both like expensive treats we also
like inexpensive treats. Then her complete answer will be, “Well, I
suppose I know my own daughter better than you do,” to which I would
answer, “No you don’t.” And there we reach a deadlock.

I do resent her taking the line that you are going to be the wrong sort
of wife for me. After all, you and I must be the best judge of that. And
according to her, the only husband who could be happy with you and
make you happy must be a fat and incredibly rich vegetable with no love
for you yourself as a person, just as a hostess, and no love of simple things
like flowers and poems and the country and golf and so on, and no more
feeling than putrefying codfish.

P.D.H. to Doé April 1932

I have just written to your mother thanking her for her letter and saying
that although the news of all your wicked tendencies and ambitions is
disturbing, I think you are far too sensible a girl to have them long, even
if you do have them now, and will she write as soon as she comes to any
conclusions with you and your father. I thought it best policy not to argue
by letter.

Doé wrote anxious letters about Peter’s health. In truth, she was worried
that he would not be fit enough to come to Switzerland. The Metaxas
had invited him but were keen that he should not be known as Doé’s
flancé.

P.D.H. to Doé London
April 1932
Hello grannie! I see that when we are married I shall have to wear
my winter woollens from September onwards until June, and never go
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out within three hours of a hot bath, and never run about the house in the
early morning in bare feet, which I may say is a thing I always do. I am
to be so coddled and comforted that I shall grow fat and red and sluggish
and have an enormous chocolate-coloured beard to keep my chest
warm, and wear one of those appalling red flannel things that I think the
Victorians called “comforters” around my middle. You are a silly ass.
Of course I take care of myself. I am far too fond of myself not to do so.

When I come to Montreux, I seem to have to be, (a) your brother, and,
(b) a friend of a relation of your mother’s who is there on business. A
very difficult dual role to perform. Who am I to be in front of which
people? What business exactly have I come to carry out? It is annoying
of your mother to refuse to acknowledge that we are engaged. But if she
insists upon blinding her eyes to the truth, there it must be.

Howard left for Montreux. It was only a weekend visit.

P.D.H. to Doé En route to England
April 1932
I had breakfast on the train and one of the wildest rides in a taxi from
station to station that I have ever had. I was sure I was about to be killed.
Then I sent a telegram to you —a great argument with a man in my best
French as to whether ‘sweetheart’ was one word or two.

The engagement was still not announced and impatience was setting in.

P.D.H. to Doé London
May 1932

I will have a determined attack at your father in Paris and see what
that brings forth. I propose with your consent to say this to him: all I
want is to marry Doris without the unpleasantness of doing it against
your wishes. Both of us would hate that. If you will give us your blessing,
you need not bother to give us your money. If on the other hand, you
feel this may be hard for Doris, as indeed it may, give us your blessing
and give her the money. I will not touch it. I will support her and myself
in the best way I am able with the money I earn, and she can have her own
money for her own absolutely to spend on her clothes and her entertain-
ment.

P.D.H. to Do& Knole, Sevenoaks
' May 1932
We went to Sissinghurst yesterday and Harold and Vita! were too
sweet to us. Harold has a tiny scrap of a terrier bitch called Rebecca, and
his golden spaniel, Sally, is very, very jealous.
! Harold Nicolson, and his wife, Vita Sackville-West, author and poet.
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I have two contracts with the BBC but can be dismissed in two
months. I am not likely to be, but I can be. Everyone else in the BBC is in
just the same boat. And if your mother supposes that anything else is
the rule in England, except in business, which I will not go into, she is
mistaken. Of course, I shall never make as much money as your father. He
is plainly particularly competent in that line of country, which I am not.

After dinner, Eddy* played for us and he plays at least as beautifully as
anyone I have ever listened to. Then I went early to bed. This morning
Lord Sackville and I played golf. Eddy doesn't play but walked round with
us. I played rather well which was fortunate.

This place is with no exception at all the most inspiring and beautiful
I have ever been in. Everything left untouched for the last five hundred
years, and most of it for longer.

Doé was due to come to England at the end of June for Wimbledon.
It seemed possible that both families would agree to an engagement
being announced then.

London
May 1932

Just as I was writing this the post came with your mother’s letter. It is
very nice and charming, and a very long way the most definite thing I
have got out of her. She says, after a long explanation of why she isn’t
coming to England and so on and so forth, “If I can possibly go over to
England for a few hours even, we might arrange to meet your parents
after the tournament, and if we can settle things to our mutual satisfaction,
the engagement might be announced then. The marriage might be fixed
up for the end of the year or the beginning of next, according to how you
would be able to fix it in a few days’ leave.”

She keeps on telling me that she has my happiness as well as yours at
heart, and ends by saying, “Do not leave your work to meet the boat as
it will enrage my husband. And I should also advise you, if you wish to
preserve his good opinion of you, to refrain from familiarity of attitude
and language, which are not usual with us who are naturally more reserved
outwardly than northern people.” Now, what have I been up to?

Howard left for a weekend in Paris.

P.D.H. to Doé Harlech
June 1932
Money always seems to be cropping up as a bugbear between us. I am
entirely sincere when I say that money is of no importance to me, because
I know by experience that it can contribute little or nothing to my happi-
1 Edward Sackville-West, later Lord Sackville.
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ness, As for your statement about charity and your enquiry as to what is the
use of a kind smile without money to back it up, I think that you are a
little wrong. Remember that Christ, who presumably invented charity as a
virtue, had seldom if ever any money to distribute. And you may remem-
ber the story of the widow’s mite?

In June, Doé came to London with her father for the Wimbledon
fortnight. John Metaxa planned to return to France with Doé the day she
was knocked out of the tournament. He was anxious to attend to some
business. Do€ was eager to stay in England as long as possible.

During the first round of the championship, when Do& had match
point against her, John Metaxa produced a telegram form and, in full view
of Do& who knew what he was doing, began to draft a message to his wife
in France saying that he and Do€ would cross the Channel that night.

Doé won that match. She went on to win the finals of the Women's
Doubles at Wimbledon.

Howard watched that match:

“Dot led five games to four, and forty love. Her opponent was serving.
The first service Do hit with terrific force, a foot beyond the base line.
Fifteen-forty.

“The second she hit even harder and it landed about three inches
beyond the base line. Thirty-forty.

“The third. She hit it as hard as ever I have seen a tennis ball hit. The
ball looked elliptical as it travelled. The chalk flew up in a cloud from the
corner where it landed, a perfect winner. But the linesman called it
‘out’. The umpire questioned him. Doé’s opponent told the umpire it was
in. But the linesman remained obdurate. So deuce was called. Doé lost
that game.

“But she won the set and the match. Some people sail more strongly
and steadily the harder the harsh winds blow. Dog is a warrior. She has the
steel quality of the undaunted. She has vividness coupled with warmth,
and that is an exceedingly rare combination.”

On July 9, 1932, Peter Howard and Doé Metaxa announced their
engagement.
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Chapter 6

PROVENCE

Out of the hills ran a wind, heavy with dust for the plains
Where the vines and olives stand thirsty for springtime rains.

Drenched in the sun it ran, laden with smells of flowers
Over the brick red plough where oxen plodded the hours.

Twitched with its hand as it came from my shoulders the
load of the years,
The hopes that were never fulfilled, the foolishness of my fears.

Twitched them away to the sky with never a syllable said,
As a frolicsome wind in England steals the hat from an old
man’s head.

I stood there laughing and crying under the southern sky
And again in Provence this winter there is only you and I

With a life to live before us, and the past all left behind,
Twitched from my foolish shoulders by the breath of
Provengal wind.

P.D.H.

Howard’s engagement brought him security and happiness. He had
already managed to pay off his Oxford debts. Now he learned the solici-
tor’s job in the office by day and worked for his exams by night. He found
the law fascinating:

P.D.H. to Doé London

December g, 1932

Two attendances before the Master tomorrow, for which I shall have to
prepare. We have managed to get the timber case adjourned again. But
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the anti-fire and anti-Cunard appeals are coming before the Divisional
Court, and we can't adjourn that. I am afraid I will not be able to attend it,
though I ought to as Geoffrey! is pleading it for us. Four people this
afternoon with appointments and two of them waiting outside now —
some of them to take proofs of evidence which take at least forty minutes.

I took three-quarters-of-an-hour today to have lunch with Tony's?
father because I hoped to get some work out of him, and sure enough I
did. Only a small claim for damages from a North Wales hotel proprietor.
If we get them which, on the evidence, I believe that we will, he will give
us more work I hope. That would be a help as his leather business is
enormous. Sorry to talk about work, but it is spinning in my head today.

But, as December 17 approached, his excitement grew:

P.D.H. to Doé December 11, 1932

Today week we shall be a married couple. Isn’t it lovely to remember
that? I think of it all the time. Today the weather is filthy. I have got a
bit of a cold so I stayed in bed rather late this morning and then got up,
wrapped myself up in about half-a-dozen overcoats and went into the
garden to pick roses. Isn’t it wonderful that in spite of frost and cold
winds, summer is still blooming here?

Howard travelled to Marseilles with Tony Carter who was to act as his
best man. None of the Howard family went to the wedding, though
Geoffrey lent his nephew his tail coat and Gracie paid the fares—a
return for Tony Carter and a single for Peter! They arrived two days
before the wedding and stayed at a small hotel. The wedding itself, as
Howard was later to write, was something of a marathon:

“I have been five times wed. It is only fair to add, for the delusion of the
wise and the confusion of the ignorant, that each time it was the same
girl who plodded with me through the ceremonies. So we can stake out a
claim, which is unique within my experience, to be a quintuple couple,
five times a husband and five times a wife.

“Doé and I finished this steeplechase of a marriage at Marseilles — once
at the English church there, twice and at great length at the Greek Church,
once at the English Consulate, and again at the French Mairie.

“I was so gay on the morning of the first day that I bowled sous down -
the gutter of the Rue St. Jacques and the little French children screamed
and fought for them.

“The French Mairie had a tricolour scarf so tightly reefed about his middle
that his flesh swelled out top and bottom of it like twin waves of the ocean

1 Howard’s uncle, Geoffrey Howard. Later Q.C. and High Court Judge.

2 Tony Carter.
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with a trough between. His stomach bulged with each breath. It was a
poignant spectacle, and the onlookers gasped and sweated in sympathy.
He took eight-and-a-half minutes to marry us. Then he got up steam and
steered towards me to kiss my cheeks. He would have done so had I not,
with English pride, out-sailed him.

“At the Greek Church an unseen choir chanted from a gallery overhead
Young girls moved before us scattering rosebuds and living orange
blossoms at our feet, as thrice in a holy ritual we followed the bearded
priests around the sanctuary. Over each head, Doé’s and mine, a crown of
wrought and delicate gold was held by friends —held at arm’s length for
ninety minutes without pause or respite.

“At the English Church, where on the afternoon of the third day the
ceremonies came to an end, I had lost all nervousness. By then getting
married was to me a commonplace and, indeed, an everyday affair. I
sang ‘The Campbells Are Coming, tra la, tra la’ in an undertone to my best
man as Doé and her father came up the aisle.

“We spent two days getting to England. That was our honeymoon. I
remember the pigeons, living and rotund, on the street by the Concorde
Gardens in Paris, and the thrushes, dead and roast, on the spit in the
café at Avignon. We ate them with thick black gravy and thick red wine.

“Arrival in England was an ordeal for Doé. Her life had been in France
and her friends in England few.

“My mother wept when I left England before marriage. Doé’s mother
wept when she left France after marriage. It was with this salty background
that Dog and I strode across the gangway onto the shore at Dover to savour
the tang of life.

“The stars were tender to us and the earth was warm. Do€ and 1 were
deeply in love.”

The Howards took a flat in Disraeli’s old house at 22, Theobald's
Road off Gray's Inn. It was a home full of secret cupboards and doors.
The bathroom was hidden behind sliding bookshelves in the drawing
room and gave plenty of scope for Peter’s practical jokes. For Dog it was a
lonely life, but she learnt to find her way to French shops in Soho and
brought home croissants, mussels, olives and hors d’ceuvres which gave
her a taste of her much-loved Provence.

On Sundays they would walk together through the silent City streets.
They came to know London so well that soon it was hard to believe they
had not lived there always. Doé began to speak perfect English. Peter
was working long hours and often late into the night. His eyesight began
to be affected, and Doé was afraid that the intense work might do him
permanent damage.

On November 2, 1933, their first child, a son, was born. He had dark
hair and brown eyes, and they called him Philip. “I was astonished,”
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Peter Howard records. “There is a feeling of wonder when the things
you have often heard about happen to you. But coupled with the feeling
of astonishment was one of irritation and a tiny fear.” The irritation was
because something had occurred which was beyond his control and the
fear was financial. “The child would multiply our financial commit-
ments, while in a measure subtracting from our pleasures, liberties and
comforts.” There was still no steady income coming into the house.

Two months later, in January 1934, a new source of income presented
itself. The Sunday Express asked Howard to report rugger matches on Saturday
afternoons. It would not interfere with his legal work and would bring in
£1 10s. a week. He accepted.

One evening, the following June, a friend took Howard along to Lord
Beaverbrook’s political club, the Empire Crusade Club. There he heard a
number of speeches advocating Empire Free Trade. Howard thought it all
a lot of rubbish. He got to his feet and said so with his usual vigour. He
relates:

“Afterwards a funny little fellow looking rather like an ape in a suit of
clothes came up to me and said, ‘Mr. Howard, I listened with close atten-
tion to every word you said and it will all be in the Evening Standard to-
morrow.” Next day there was a paragraph in the Evening Standard ‘Londoner’s
Diary’ praising my abilities. Two weeks later, Beaverbrook phoned my
office and asked me to go and see him. As I entered his room, he said,
‘Howard, I hear you are going to write a political column for me.’ It was
the first I had heard of it.”

Beaverbrook made it clear that if Howard accepted, he would have to
give up the law and devote his entire time to the Express Newspapers. It was a
hard decision. Everything in Howard wanted to accept Beaverbrook’s
offer, but it seemed mad to leave yet another unfinished career behind
him. In the end Howard took a calculated gamble. He was not to know
that from his first political article in June 1934, which earned him only
£9 12s. 3d., he was within five years to become one of the highest paid
political journalists on Fleet Street, earning nearly £60 a week:

“For seven long years I gave Fleet Street my life. In return Fleet Street
gave me three F's —Fun, Fame and Fortune. It was a more ample return
than is received from most things to which men devote their lives.

“At nine o’clock each night those massive steel and concrete structures in
Fleet Street begin to quake and tremble like corn before the evening
breeze. The very pinnacle of the roof shakes and oscillates at the moment
when, embedded fifty feet below the surface of the earth, the sprawled
machines begin to revolve and pour forth million upon million of
newspapers to every corner of Britain until the daylight comes again.
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“Life in Fleet Street is a bug. It burrows beneath your skin and into your
blood-stream.

“There is a loyalty and a gaiety of comradeship and a zest and a stir
among the Black Brotherhood of Ink. Life tastes strong and distinctive in
the Street. Its flavours there are full and grip the throat.

“You are of the world and in the world and yet above the world. You
scan life from a crow’s-nest, the waves and tides of humanity surge and
struggle and break around you. You perceive the toil and triumph, the
suffering and success, the tears and tumult, the complaints and the ap-
plause. You groan and rejoice in sympathy — for every good reporter must
feel in his own heart, and so understand, the emotions and the motives he
describes. Yet all the time you remain a spectator and an observer. And
some can still be found in Fleet Street, not enough, but a valiant section,
who hold their pens unimpassioned and without bias, servants only of the
truth and masters of humanity.

“With it all, life in the Street can be a jungle business —the survival
of the foremost and death to the hindmost. The dives and joints which
surround Fleet Street are awash with those who for one reason or another
have not stood their feet and have been carried off by the tide.”

Beaverbrook immediately took Howard in hand and the training was
both rigorous and detailed:

“At all hours of the day and night my telephone bell would ring.
Sometimes at two o’clock in the morning I would hear that tough
Canadian voice saying, ‘Peter? Youre a young man and it's just the
time to be up and working. Now get out of bed, there’s a good boy.
Put on your clothes. Get to it. We need an article for today’s Evening
Standard.”

“Every word of almost every article I wrote was chewed, swallowed or
spewed forth in disgust by that hungry and discriminating jaw. He would
read through some effort, scanning it slowly and carefully. Then a dia-
logue something like this would take place.

“Lord B: ‘Did you do this all by yourself?’

“P.H. (puffing with pride): “Yes.’

“Lord B: ‘Did you write every word of it yourself without getting help
from anyone at all?’

“P.H.: ‘Yes.

“Lord B. (scrumpling up the papers and throwing them on the floor):
I can’t believe it of you, Peter. It's so bad. Now there’s a typewriter in the
other room. Go outside and do it all over again.’

“From his criticisms I learned to create. The training I had was beyond
price. The truth is that if I paid back all I earned that sum never could buy
what Beaverbrook gave me.
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“When I worked with him his praise was lavish. His blame no less so.
Sometimes I thought of him as Santa Claus, sometimes as Satan. Sometimes
it was Christmas, sometimes the Day of Judgment. Though you were
often conscious of being a goose, he had the encouraging and endearing
habit of always expecting you to lay a golden egg.”

Howard was found to have two natural assets for his new job. He had a
phenomenal memory. He never took a notebook or pencil with him on his
journalistic jobs. He did not need them. A conversation, even of four or
five hours, was so imprinted on his mind that he could reproduce it
word perfect the following morning. He seldom asked for an interview,
and politicians did not know when they were giving one. Many of his
best stories came from the House of Commons where, over a social drink,
Howard would listen to the chatter of unsuspecting M.P.s. It was a new
kind of journalism, ruthlessly employed.

His second asset was an exceptional speed of writing. He would rise
early and finish four articles by mid-morning. Later in life, he would do
fifty letters, then proceed on to speeches and articles, all before breakfast;
and complete the first draft of a play or book in three days.

His journalism was terse, tough and often cruel. He sometimes recalled
that a previous political journalist, Harold Begbie, had called himself,
“The Gentleman with a Duster”. “If I had to choose a pen-name for my
own excursions as a political journalist,” added Howard, “I should call
myself ‘A Man with a Knuckleduster’.”

His entry into Fleet Street provided him with a platform for the
unspoken hatred which he felt for men in positions of power, a hatred
which he first conceived in Oxford and which had grown through the
days of the 1931 election. One of his colleagues in Fleet Street remembers
him like this:

“Malice to be sure glowed through his veins and came out of his pen —
mostly gall and often pure vitriol. In short, Peter was all for Peter Howard.
He was out for glory and gold, not minding how he got it. Beaverbrook
and his newspapers were made to measure for him. Whatever tune was
called by the Beaver, Peter would play it. He was a ruthless and buccaneer
political journalist. He seemed to love malice for malice’s sake. He used
his pen (never once did I see him at the typewriter) like a dagger.

“He would say of some politician he was attacking, and he was a
master of invective, ‘I pin him wriggling on the point of my pen.’

“He relished office intrigue and office gossip, lolling over a glass of
beer or sprawling in his chair, a cynical grin on his good-looking face, as
he relayed the latest bit of poison.”

Howard himself said much the same in other words:
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“After a time in Fleet Street I developed a philosophy of writing. My
philosophy was that each man should make up his mind where he was
going —and go there —ruthlessly. If an opponent strikes at you, strike
him back twofold. Stand on your own legs. Be your own friend. Rely on
nobody but yourself. Always be pleasant to those who can be of use to
you —jolly them along. Be as pleasant as you like to other people. But let
‘'em down with a bump if that suits your convenience. (Of course, in the
case of a friend you loved, it did not suit your convenience to betray
him. For you felt wretched afterwards.)

“I was, in short, a materialist, handicapped by an annoying streak of
affection in my nature, which in tough moments I derided to myself as
sentimentality.”

There was little sentimentality about Howard's writing. In his column
entitled “Politicians and Politics”, later known as “Cross-Bencher”, he
specialised in printing information about M.P.s. which they wished to hide.
He did it regularly:

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, August 5, 1934

In this age of Youth Ballyhoo, hundreds of young men have been given
their chance in politics. Not one of them has taken it. I do not see
one young man in politics today who is worth a fig, or a snap of the
fingers.

Someone will write to me to say that Mr. Hore-Belisha? is an exception.

Perhaps he is. But is he old or young? He is a man of all the ages. A
birthday chameleon. He changes his age as readily as some politicians
change their party. Perhaps hell change that soon too. I think he’'d do
better for himself if he did.

Will he tell us if he intends to do so? Not he. He gives away nothing.
He doesn’t even give away his own age in the 1934 Who's Who, nor
Dod’s Parliamentary Companion, nor Kelly’s Handbook.

But look at this:

In 1932 Who's Who gave his birthday as September 1898. Dod agreed
with the month and gave the day of it — September 8.

But the year was 1895.

The Liberal Year Book of 1933 made no guess at the day or the month,
but plumped for 1895, also. The 1932 Debrett’s House of Commons said his
birthday was September 7, 1893. Kelly’s Handbook said 1893, and left it at
that.

1 Secretary of State for War and President Army Council 1937-40. Member of
War Cabinet. Minister of National Insurance 1945.
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Miss Thelma Cazalet, M.P. for East Islington, is another political
athlete. She plays tennis. She serves underhand, and moves slowly about
the court. She does not play as well as she used to, but she is not at all
bad for a woman of her age.

How do I know her age? Not from any reference book. She doesn’t
give it. She may think it a secret. But I'll tell you.

She’s thirty-five. She was born on May 28, 1899.

I asked one of my aunts who knows her.

Following this article Beaverbrook made one of his normal com-
ments:

“I was bidden by Lord Beaverbrook’s secretary to come and hear the
Master’s Voice on the tape. It ran something as follows:

“ ‘Now Peter, the article you sent me. Baldwin —too long, too long,
too long. Lloyd George —too long, too long, too long. Churchill —too
long, too long, too long.’ Then the voice rose in tone nearly an octave.
It bubbled with glee and malice. It said, ‘And the lady you mention,
Peter —too young, too young, too young.’

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, November 25, 1934

Now for Dr. Summerskill.2

She is the Socialist candidate for Putney. I know that she is, for I saw
her name up outside her committee rooms.

But inside it is a different story, for Dr. Summerskill’s husband, the
other Mr. Samuel, with blue eyes and a yellow tie, does all the talking.

“Why do you want to go into politics?” I asked Dr. Summerskill.
‘T will tell you,” said Mr. Samuel. He did.

“How is the fight going?” I asked Dr. Summerskill. “I will tell you,”
said Mr. Samuel. He did.

I should be astonished if Dr. Summerskill were elected. But in one way
I should be pleased. For I should like to hear her do her own political
talking. She might get a chance at Westminster.

Mr. Samuel, her husband, would not be there.

1 Later Mrs. Thelma Cazalet-Keir, National Conservative M.P. for East Ishngton.
1925—-45.

2 Dr, Edith Summerskill, Labour M.P. from 1938-61, Chan'man 'of the
Labour Party 195455, created Life Peeress i in 1961.
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“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, December 30, 1934

Commons School
Westminster

Dear Sir (or Madam),
I trust that your little boy (or girl) arrived home quite safely, happy and
well for the holidays.

I am glad to be able to tell you that the school has had a good term.

Some parents say it is far too short. But you all know my views on that
matter.

I think the dear children need all the relaxation and change they can
have, so they can return to my loving care fit and eager for their daily
round and common task at Westminster.

I enclose your little boy’s (or girl’s) Report. It tells you of the progress
the little ones have made during the last twelve months.

Some have done well. Others have done badly. If your little boy (or
girl) has done badly, try not to be too harsh.

Remember, we cannot all win prizes.

May I take this opportunity of wishing you and all your little ones a
bright and prosperous New Year?

With best wishes,

Yours sincerely,
Peter Howard
(Headmaster)
Ramsay MacDonald!
Our head boy has been unlucky.

No doubt he would have made better progress if he had not been so
long absent through illness. As it is, he has gone backward.

He has lost his influence over the school. I know it will sadden the
public when I tell them that many of his juniors laugh at him.

He has had a great school career. But I can’t help feeling it is a pity
Ramsay did not leave us at the end of last term.

He would have left at the height of his prestige.

I think that perhaps when he goes out into the great world from this
school he will rise to great heights.

He may even become a peer.
English Master's comment: Syntax and grammar definitely his weak subject.
Composition. Style flowery, but lacks any sort of form.

1 Prime Minister of Great Britain in 1934.

76



Winston Churchill*

A bad boy.

He is always making trouble. He is always fighting. He started a feud
against young Sam Hoare? last term, and split the school into two camps.

He has great influence and a large gang of followers.

I think the boys are afraid of him. And they have reason to be. For
Winston has a tongue, as well as cheek.

Geography Master’s comment : His interest in this subject is extraordinary.

He has been devoting all his time and attention to a study of the British
Empire, and to India in particular. Some of the opinions he forms are most
controversial.

_ But it is refreshing for a master of a school like ours to have such a
pupil who shows such sincere and able interest in such a great subject.

Leslie Hore-Belisha

The busiest boy of the year.

Capable of exercising the very greatest influence over the steps taken by
all of us, masters and pupils alike.

Despite his industry, Leslie has been in a lot of trouble. In fact, he
has spent a large part of his time doing lines.
Music Master’s report: Not much of a voice. Leslie’s best song is “I'm for
ever blowing bubbles”.

Nancy Astor3

She has struck up a friendship with Isaac Foot (Foot Major). She will be
sad when Isaac leaves. And I fear he will not be with us next term whether
he wants to or not.

No headmaster could wish for two better pupils. They use all their
influence in the school against drink, smoking and betting.

I am sorry to say that influence is not great. Not even as great as it
was at the beginning of the term. Next term I expect it to be even smaller.

Victor Cazalet*

I had thought of moving Victor up into the Lower Fourth next term. But
have decided not to do so.

Fourth Forms are not faggable. And little Victor is easily the best fag in
the school.
House Master’s report: An unpopular boy. But I can't see why. Little Victor
has many friends among the prefects, and treats them generously at the
tuckshop.

1 Later Rt. Hon. Sir Winston Churchill.

2 Later Sir Samuel Hoare, Secretary of State for India in 1931.
3 Unionist Member for Sutton Division of Plymouth 1919—45.
4 Unionist Member for Chippenham 1924—43.
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“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, January 6, 1935

Let us observe Mr. Robert Boothby.! Although only thirty-four, he has
represented East Aberdeenshire in Parliament for the last ten years. He is an
attractive personality. Good-looking, untidy and square. If anything too
square, for he is putting on weight.

A few years ago many saw in him a future leader of our party. But his
political star began to wane. For Mr. Boothby is a City man. And his City
habits were a weakness in the House of Commons.

Sometimes he was a bull; sometimes a bear. He could never make up
his mind about the values of the political stocks and shares.

But in the City he did well. He began to spend more and more of his
time there. People began to say that his political career was over. And they
said he was getting too fat.

Yet Mr. Boothby sent his star flaming up sky high at the end of last
session. He made a successful speech on the motion for the adjournment.

I believe Mr. Boothby, if he gave up all his time and energy to it, could
climb to the very top of the political ladder. But I doubt whether he will
give up his time and his energy.

He is fond of good living. He does not care if a woman is a good looker,
so long as she is a good cooker. And his favourite dish is herrings.

“I shall choose a wife who can cook,” he declares. “And the peak of
her art will be in the preparation of the herring.

“Good looks are of no importance whatever.”

Howard developed a style of his own, often bringing his own name into
the article. His style was not easily forgotten. It annoyed some and amused
others, and lent itself to parody. Punch of July 11, 1934, quoted at length
from his column, using it, ironically, as an example to young reporters.
The quotation from “Politicians and Politics” ran:

It is said that while Mr. MacDonald is travelling, Mr. Baldwin? will spend
a month at Aix-les-Bains.

That decision will give great joy to Sir John Simon3 and to myself.

Sir John's joy will lie in the fact that he will be Acting Prime Minister
while his seniors travel south and west.

My own joy is more difficult to describe. I can only say that Sir John's
triumphs have always been a joy to me. He once refused to address a
public meeting unless I was present. Don't assume that his decision was

1 Later Lord Boothby M.P. for East Aberdeenshire, 1924—58.

2 Prime Minister of Great Britain.
3 Chancellor of the Exchequer 1937-40. Lord Chancellor 1940-45.
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taken on account of my size, though I stand over 6 ft. 3 ins. There was no
danger of disorder.

It was due entirely to the admiration of the Wadham double first for
the Wadham Blue and International.

Punch added:

This is not taken, it is true, from a news report but from an article, in the
form of notes, on politics and politicians.
I hope that the author will pardon me for borrowing it without per-
mission. It is so good that many a young reporter might study it with profit.
With a model like that before him, his account of the Stepney fire
should gain considerably in popular appeal:

I Attend a Conflagration and Receive Thanks of Fire Chief
(by our Best-Looking Reporter)

“An enormous crowd thronged the streets in the vicinity of Messrs.
Battock and Slag’s cattlefood warehouse in Stepney early this morning,
and it required all the strength of a man who in his time was wrestling
champion of Shropshire before I could thrust my way through to the
scene of the fire that threatened destruction to the valuable consignment of
linseed-cake stored in the huge building.

““A fire, eh?’ I said, looking down at the six-foot five-inch Captain of
the Stepney Brigade. Flames licked my boots. A lump of falling masonry
crashed to the ground within six inches of where I stood.

*“ ‘Come out of that, you fool!” called the Captain. ‘No man can stay
there and live.’

“A two-ton block of stone brushed my shoulder on its furious earth-
ward career, but I did not move. A reporter has to take risks.

“For nearly two hours I held my ground in that hell of smoke and
flames and splintering débris, while the intrepid firemen, advancing with
reckless courage almost up to my own point of vantage, battled to subdue
the flames.

“It was Sir Rollo Fitzhose, Chief of the Metropolitan Fire Brigade
(East Division), who finally persuaded me to withdraw.

“ “Chris!” he cried to me above the roar of the fire that now curled
and flickered about my knees — ‘Chris, for the sake of our old association
on the cricket field, come back to safety.’

“He was thinking of the time we used to go in first together for
England.”

Howard’s politics had changed during his first year in Fleet Street.
He supported Lord Beaverbrook’s campaign for isolation and Empire
Free Trade, and advertised it in his column.
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“Politicians and Politics”
Sunday Express, June 2, 1935

Next Thursday evening at 8.30 at the Caxton Hall, Westminster, a young
politician is speaking. Soon he will be leading a vast section of opinion in
this country. He is Mr. Frank Owen,! who sat as member for Hereford from
1929 to 1931. I predict a fine future for him. Why? Not because he is
well-known. Not because he is wealthy. But because he has returned to
fight in the political arena armed with the most powerful of all political
weapons — absolute sincerity.

He is a fiery and unforgettable orator. He commands a Welsh fervour.
He has something of Mr. Lloyd George’s flame. He preaches the gospel of
peace. Wherever he goes, he wins proselytes for the cause of Isolation.

Do not be disappointed if, when you arrive at the Caxton Hall next
Thursday, you find someone speaking without that unforgettable fire of
which I have told you. For that will not be Frank Owen. It will be me.

1 speak before Frank Owen. And, while I may not approach him in the
force of my oratory, I equal him in the abundance of my conviction.

At the same time, he applied to stand for Parliament for the last time in
his life:

“In those days my Tory convictions were much to the fore. When a
vacancy occurred in a certain Parliamentary division, I put on my best
coat and went to see the Chairman. I told him I would like to be a
candidate.

“He informed me I was just the sort of fellow they were looking for.
Then he asked, ‘How much will you subscribe to the local association?’
I answered that I did not wish to make money out of public life, but
would give my Parliamentary salary, at that time £400 a year.

“He replied, T am sorry, Mr. Howard. We have already been offered
£1,000 a year. If you can’t do better than that, I'm afraid it is out of the
question.’

“This was my first introduction to the power of money in the British
democratic system. But I soon discovered that many good Tory seats
were up for sale.

“On the Labour side also, a seat in Parliament was sometimes awarded,
almost in the nature of an honourable pension and retirement, to those
who had grown old in Trade Union service.”

.Howard returned again and again to themes of his earlier convic-
tions:
1 Frank Owen, Editor of the Evening Standard, 1938—41.
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“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, August 4, 1935

I have just returned from a Distressed Area. Abertillery, Merthyr Tydfi,
Ebbw Vale, Pontypool.

What of the politics in these Valleys of Despair? The miners were the
Black Storm Troops of the Socialist movement.

What are they now? Socialists still. Storm Troops no more.

The spirit has gone out of them. They have gone beyond politics as
they have gone beyond everything else in life.

They are the salt of the earth. The salt that has lost the savour of living.

It is better to wear out than to rust out. And these men are rusting out.

Now the concern for these unemployed should be the sole issue in
public life. It should be the only question at the next election.

But will it give subject matter for speeches when the General Election
comes on?

Not at all. Peace and war will be the big issue.

But his main task, which served both his beliefs and his ambition, was
to scourge the politicians:

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, September 16, 1935

Now Hitler has a friend in the House of Commons. His name is Sir Arnold
Wilson.! He is the fifty-one year old member for Hitchin. Lantern-jawed,
beetle-browed, Sir Arnold loses no opportunity of boostmg Hitler’s
stock in this country.

“He has made an astonishing declaration. He says he will not go to
war against an expanding nation unless we first have offered them a piece
of British territory. To which expanding nation does he refer? Plainly to
Germany.

Only a few days ago Dr. Frick, Hitler’s Reich Minister for the Interior,
said that Germany’s need of expansion was greater than Italy’s.

Why does Sir Arnold so concern himself with the interest of foreign
countries? Such concern on the part of a member of our Parliament
damages our interests. It does us harm, not good.

Sir Arnold was elected as member for Hitchin. He is self-appointed as
member for Hitler. If he doesn’t throw Hitler over, I hope and believe
that Hitchin will throw him over.

1 Nationa! Conservative Member for Hitchin (Herts) 1933—40.
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“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, October 27, 1935
We stand a fine chance of losing both the Liberal Foots. Dingle! is sure
to go, and Isaac? stands a first-rate chance of defeat.

Isaac Foot, member for Bodmin, is fifty-five years old. Grey-haired and
severe, he is the leading Pussyfoot of Westminster.

His thirty-year old son, Dingle, member for Dundee, is like his father
in appearance and manner. Dry as dust, the pair of them.

Without its Feet, I think the next Parliament should be able to move
forward a great deal faster.

Sometimes Howard was right, sometimes he was wrong. When war
broke out Sir Arnold Wilson was to prove his courage by enlisting, at
over fifty years of age, in the R.A.F. as a bomber’s tail gunner. He was killed
in a raid over Germany. Sir Dingle Foot was to survive to become Solicitor-
General in Mr. Wilson'’s Government.

Meanwhile, Howard made his mark: “I think I was feared,” he wrote
later. “I am certain I was hated. I am sure that in the eyes of Fleet Street
I was successful.”

! Later Rt. Hon. Sir Dingle Foot, Q.C. Labour Member for Ipswich.
2 Liberal Member for the Bodmin Division of Cornwall. President, Liberal
Parliamentary Organisation 1947.
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Chapter 7

“British Governments of the last few years have been much like a
child with a button in its gullet. They have had to be shaken and
banged by public opinion until they are on the point of destruc-
tion before they will yield the smallest item.”

P.D.H. Guilty Men, July 1940.

Peter Howard did not always agree with Lord Beaverbrook. Sometimes
he told him so to his face, but seldom or never in the newspaper. There
he gave him almost unqualified support. That is what he conceived him-
self to be paid for, and that was what he did.

On many issues —on Beaverbrook’s hostility towards Baldwin and his
advocacy of rearmament, for instance —Howard’s beliefs and his duties
coincided. On such issues they both supported Mr. Churchill, then pro-
testing in the wilderness.

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, June 7, 1936

Mr. Churchill in his campaign for rearmament, lasting over three years,
has now been shown by events to be right.

Mr. Baldwin himself has been compelled to acknowledge that on the
question of German air strength Mr. Churchill was right and he, Mr.
Baldwin, was wrong.

Now that the rearmament programme of the Government is moving
too slowly for Mr. Churchill and too slowly to protect this country from
the danger of sudden foreign invasion, Mr. Churchill is in duty bound to
resort to any and every method within his power to drive the Government
into effective and aggressive action.

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, October 4, 1936

The sooner Mr. Baldwin hands over the better. For the world is full of
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crisis. Everywhere we face calamity in foreign countries. On all sides
danger threatens.

This is not a time for Mr. Baldwin to fill the office of Prime Minister.
He has talked in the past about the prerogative of the harlot, power without
responsibility. Well, Mr. Baldwin enjoys that prerogative now. He has the
power and he cannot undertake the responsibility.

He has been treating the country very badly. The absentee landlords
of Ireland were bad enough, but the absentee tenant of Downing Street is
much, much worse.

Beaverbrook entered fully into these campaigns:

“In the days when Beaverbrook and Baldwin were at each other’s
underbellies, complaints about what I had written would sometimes
come by telephone from Sir Samuel Hoare, later Lord Templewood, who
was a friend of both B’s. I happened to be in the room when Hoare
called Beaverbrook.

“Beaverbrook: ‘Yaas . . . yaas . . . yaas. Now listen to me. I can’t do
anything with the fellow. No, I tell you. I can’t do anything with him.
Now listen . . . Listen. I tell you what I'll do. I'll have him down here and
I'll roll him in the mud. Yaas. I'll roll him in the mud. Will that satisfy
you? . . . Goodbye to you.’

“Then, replacing the telephone, he looked at me and a grin like a slice
of melon cut across his face. He began to slap his hands on his knees and
to laugh. ‘Ha, ha, ha. Do it again, Peter. Do it again next week.” And
indeed, I did.”

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, March 28, 1937

There is a campaign. It is directed against Mr. Winston Churchill.
Politicians are whispering about him in the lobbies.

What do they say? That he has suddenly changed his mind about the
Government. That he has stopped attacking it and has begun to praise it
in the hopes of getting a job when the Cabinet shuffle comes along and
Mr. Baldwin retires.

This is a strange accusation. For it is not Mr. Churchill but the Govern-
ment itself which has changed its mind. Not long ago, when the Govern-
ment stood firm against rearmament, Mr. Churchill attacked it on that
issue. He urged the rearmament of Britain.

And now the Government has adopted Mr. Churchill’s policy. It is busy
rearming. And, at the same time, its supporters criticise Mr. Churchill as
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inconsistent because he no longer attacks the Government which has
adopted his policy.

Will Mr. Churchill be in the new Cabinet? He should be. Some say
that Mr. Chamberlain will be afraid to include him. Certainly the people
of the country want to see him back in office.

But there were other issues where the views of Lord Beaverbrook and
those of Mr. Churchill did not coincide. Churchill was at this time writing
a weekly article in the Evening Standard, and the differences between the two
men were often to cause difficulties in the Standard offices:

“Churchill sat all by himself in the moonlight, or almost, it seemed, in
the sunset of a career which had somehow missed greatness. His war song
against the Nazis was almost a solo. Just the same he sang it fortissimo in
the columns of the Evening Standard.

“Meanwhile, my boss, Lord Beaverbrook, was advocating the cause of
Splendid Isolation. He was coining phrases such as, ‘There will be no
war this year or next year either.’ He was paying me a large salary to
write leaders on the subject. And he was entirely opposed to Mr. Churchill’s
big idea.

“So Percy Cudlipp, then Editor of the Evening Standard, experienced some-
thing of the sensations of a football during a Cup Final. Fortunately,
Percy has toughness, resilience and a sense of humour, which are qualities
needed by any successful football.

“His phone would ring in the morning, ‘Cudlipp? This is Lord Beaver-
brook here. What's the name of that fellow who writes in your paper?. ..
What's his name? . . . Yes, Winston Churchill. That's the fellow I mean.
Now, Percy, I hope you're not paying him too much for his articles? . . .
Good God, all that? You don’t mean it. That’s terrible, terrible . . . Well,
anyway, I hope you're not tied up too long with him —how long does his
contract run? . . . Good God, a year? Another whole year? Well now, see
here, Percy, get him off the subject of the Nazis. He's obsessed by this
damned fellow Hitler. Get him on to the Broad Home Theme, the great
themes of the Empire, Unemployment, Agriculture —let him write on
subjects like that. Anything else? Goodbye to you.’

“And Percy would find the telephone dead in his hand. Then he would
ring up Mr. Churchill. The conversation would run something like this:

“‘Good morning, Mr. Churchill. What will your article be about this
week?’

*“‘Good morning, Mr. Cudlipp. I thought we should deal this week with
the subject of the Nazis. We must awaken the country to the danger of this
gang of criminals, and I feel we could profitably discuss the Nazi dreams
of expansion in the Balkans this week.’
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“‘Yes, Mr. Churchill, that would be most interesting. But I wonder if
perhaps this week an article on the Broad Home Theme might give
our readers a change —some subject like Unemployment or Agriculture?’

“‘Quite so, Mr. Cudlipp, quite so. And we will come on to the Broad
Home Theme. But I think this week a strong declaration on the Nazis will
be more timely.’

“And the telephone would again to silent.”

Churchill read Howard’s articles and was kind to him when he called
at Chartwell:

“He used to read my political articles with care, though not always
with appreciation. He helped me greatly with comments and suggestions
which found their way to me.

“He took exception to the phrase, ‘For why?* which I used from time to
time. He would steam up to me in the Lobby of the House of Commons,
looking like a formidable battleship pouting, ‘For why? For why?’ at me
aggressively through the funnel of his mouth.

“One evening I had to go to Churchill’s country home on newspaper
business. I travelled straight from my work in Fleet Street to Chartwell. It
was summer weather. I was wearing old clothes, and was hot and tired
from the bustle and stir of the presses.

“Churchill was in his garden. He was dressed up in some ancient and
subfusc costume which made him look like a genial Michelin tyre
advertisement come to life. He was building a wall, and handling
the bricks with an enthusiasm which I could easily detect and with a
skill which I found it harder to judge —though the wall seemed straight
enough.

“He had a party of distinguished guests coming to dinner. He insisted
on my staying, a black crow among gilded birds of paradise, an inky
journalist in grey bags among white ties and tiaras. Yet I was made to feel
the most welcome of all the guests. Churchill has a great-heartedness, a
warmth and simplicity in private life which explains the rock-ribbed
loyalty of his friends.

“He fetched his own shaving tackle for me and stood over me in his
private bathroom while I washed, brushed, scraped and made myself
presentable. He showed all the comradeship and solicitude of an elder
brother, eager for my sake, not his own, that I should appear to best
advantage among his friends. It was a revealing sidelight on the character
of this citizen of fate.

“At that period, Churchill was almost at the ebb of his fortunes. He was
mellow, genial, philosophical and wise. Lord Beaverbrook, in writing of
Churchill, has recorded his opinion that ‘Churchill down’ is the most
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charming of companions. But ‘Churchill on the top of the wave’ has in
him the stuff of which tyrants are made.

“I remember that Lord Baldwin was on the point of retiring from the
Premiership. Churchill had many reasons for being bitter with Lord
Baldwin. He had been in the British Cabinet before Lord Baldwin entered
Parliament at all. He had seen the older, slower, steadier man start from
far behind, catch him up and outstrip him in the race for power. Yet
Churchill was not bitter.

“He said to me after dinner that night, ‘Baldwin is as clever as a
Redskin. He will go down to Bewdley and on Friday nights, or whenever
it is that he dances, he will prance around his wigwam pole with my
bleeding scalp dangling at his belt.’

“He laughed without rancour. It was said with lightness and in tones
which Lord Baldwin himself would have heard without taking offence.

“Later Churchill spoke of the things deep in his heart. He spoke with
the smouldering fire of a visionary about the need to destroy the Nazis.
He felt war was inevitable —and the sooner it was over, the sooner to
sleep.

“This big idea had gripped him entirely, just as Hitler and Lenin had
been gripped by their ideas. It stirred me to meet the explosive force of a
master passion in an age when most Britons regarded enthusiasm with
suspicion.

“As a result of that evening in his home, one thing became perfectly
clear to me. I had doubts as to whether this simple and single idea, ‘The
Nazis must be destroyed’, was adequate by itself to build a new world.
But I had no doubt at all that as an organiser of victory against the Nazis,
Churchill would be unsurpassed.

“I did not want war. I did not yet quit my hopes of peace. But if war
had to be our lot and portion, I wanted Churchill. I can see him now, a
sombre and brooding figure bidding me farewell from his doorway in the
darkness of that summer night. Looked upon by the majority of his
countrymen as a spent force, he was heavy with his own sense of impend-
ing destiny.”

It was during the Abdication crisis that Howard had his first major
disagreement with Beaverbrook. Beaverbrook was a passionate supporter
of the King, not least because Baldwin was the King’s principal opponent.
The crisis had broken while Beaverbrook was on the Atlantic en route for New
York. He took the next boat back, and led the King’s campaign both
privately and in the Press:

“When King Edward VIII, now the Duke of Windsor, was on
the Throne and wishing to wed Mrs. Simpson and remain as King,
it was bold to tell Beaverbrook that the plan was brave but bogus—it
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could never work. When the local inhabitants began chalking rude
messages about the American lady on the walls of the Highland stations,
Beaverbrook did not want to hear it. He ordered me out of his house for
telling him I did not believe the King could wed the lady, and keep his
Throne.”

Yet it was Howard who wrote the Sunday Express editorial, headed, “A
Right that Belongs to All Men”, putting Beaverbrook’s view of the matter
on December 6, 1936:

The British people face a constitutional crisis which tries to its utmost
those qualities of political judgment and human sympathy fostered in
this happy island through centuries of democratic growth.

The crisis takes on gravity and poignancy as it relates to the cherished
institution of the Monarchy and the person of a King who has in the
faithful discharge of heavy duties given and won love and devotion.

The King’s intention to marry Mrs. Simpson is not the whim of a
young and inexperienced man. It is the result of the ripe reflection of one
who is mature in years and instructed in judgment.

In seeking to unite his life with the woman whom he loves, he asks for
himself no more than he must wish for all his people.

In the clash of opinion which dismays our people, it has been suggested
that the King might marry Mrs. Simpson in his capacity as Duke of
Cornwall.

This proposal Mr. Baldwin has brushed aside. But it has yet to be
determined whether the people, attached as they are to the person of the
Sovereign, are prepared to endorse Mr. Baldwin’s decision.

Whatever their views on marriage, they regard even the possibility of
abdication with deep sorrow.

And they may ask themselves whether, in a world where our outlook on
fundamental matters is changing so rapidly, it will be possible to impose
indefinitely on our monarchs a code of restrictions which is not founded
in law nor hallowed by the conscience of millions.

As soon as the crisis was over and the issue decided, policy changed:
Sunday Express, December 13, 1936

Today the whole Empire and all those who were embroiled in the recent
tragic controversy are united in one single loyalty: a loyalty to our new
King and his Queen, and a determination to strengthen and maintain
with love and affection the man and the woman who take up their heavy
burden of responsibility in such circumstances.
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This item appeared in a second column called “The March of Time”,
which Howard had been writing since April 1936. His increasing salary
enabled the Howards to live more comfortably. They had moved from
Theobald’s Road to a larger house at 25, Newton Road, Holland Park, in
which they were to stay until the outbreak of war. On October 16, 1936,
the Howards’ second child, Anne, had been born.

In May 1937, Baldwin resigned the Premiership.

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, May 23, 1937

Mr. Baldwin is not our retiring Premier. He is our retiring Prima Donna.
The number of his farewells is growing.

Farewell Number 1 was in the House of Commons when he made his
“Give Peace in Industry” speech.

Farewell Number 2 came over the wireless on Coronation Day. This
time the theme was “Fair play for George VI”.

Farewell Number 3 was delivered to the Youth of the Empire at the
Albert Hall. And what was Mr. Baldwin’s wisdom then? —“The League is
bust”.

Each one of Mr. Baldwin’s farewells was better than the one before.

I'm bound to say that in his third farewell Mr. Baldwin was more like
Melba than ever. It was not a speech but a song our retiring Prima de-
livered.

The language used by Mr. Baldwin at the Albert Hall was among the
finest heard in this generation.

The phrase “brotherhood of man implying the fatherhood of God”
was magnificent.

Never before has Mr. Baldwin made such copious notes for a speech.
He read from them all the time.

The day of abdication is Friday. And no Prime Minister or Prima Donna
has ever left the stage in such a blaze of glory as Mr. Baldwin.

“Envy itself is dumb, in wonder lost,

And factions strive which shall applaud him most.”

Mr. Baldwin has never in his long career had so many fans as now,
when he is quitting the footlights for ever.

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, May 30, 1936

The Man we Need
Winston Churchill is not in. He is still outside in the cold.
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In my opinion, it is a national disaster that at a time like the present the
country is deprived of the services of Churchill. He is the man for the
hour.

He has made mistakes. But no one has ever accomplished anything
without making mistakes.

Never mind. Winston Churchill is only sixty-two. Five long years
before he reaches the age of Mr. Chamberlain, who now becomes Premier
for the first time.

One of Howard’s principal targets through these years was the Govern-
ment Chief Whip, Captain David Margesson.

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, December 15, 1935

New members have been having an interesting time lately. The Chief
Whip summoned them to a meeting.

I am told it was just like school again. The strictest of discipline. No
talking, except by the Headmaster. And plenty of sound advice.

Captain Margesson warned his pupils not to wear top hats. Then he
passed on to the subject of maiden speeches. He advised his flock to make
them soon. Otherwise he said a disaster would befall them.

What disaster? Why, said Captain Margesson, that terrible fellow Peter
Howard would write about them in his column and call them silent
members.

Now I love helping Captain Margesson whenever I can. So I will
reinforce his horrid warning by giving here and now the names of
half-a-dozen Government members who, so far as I can discover,
have sat in Parliament for the last four years without breaking their
silence:

Captain M. Bullock (Waterloo)

Colonel H. W. Burton (West Suffolk)

Lord C. Crichton-Stuart (Northwich, Chester)
J. Despencer-Robertson (Salisbury)

Major T. L. Dugdale (Richmond, Yorks.)

Sir J. Edmondson (Banbury)

The names are in alphabetical order. From time to time I will continue
with my list. '

Now, come along, gentlemen, I shall be in the House next Tuesday. If
some of you stand up then and speak, I promise to listen to you. What is
more, I promise to write about you if your speech is worth it.
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“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, July 11, 1937

A friend of mine came up to me in the Lobby of the House of Commons
and said in a shaking voice: “David wants you.” “David who?” said L
My friend looked shocked. There was only one David for him. “David
Margesson, of course,” he answered.

Captain David Margesson is the great Chief Whip of the Government;
M.P.s tremble at his name.

As I walked off for my interview my friends among them regarded me
with sympathy, my enemies with glee.

But Captain Margesson could not have been more charming. He wanted
to talk to me about Mr. Lipson, Conservative M.P. for Cheltenham, who
won the by-election there against a Government candidate.

He said, “I read in your column last Sunday that I had walked out of the
House of Commons when Lipson took the oath as a new member. I did so
because I had to introduce another new member directly Lipson had
finished. I should never be discourteous to a new member even if I did
disagree with him.”

“Do you disagree with Mr. Lipson then?” I asked.

“I have no quarrel with him,” replied Captain Margesson. “Why
should I? He fought the by-election supporting the policy of the Govern-
ment.”

“Then why doesn’t he get the Government whip?” I demanded.

“Well, there is no doubt,” said Captain Margesson, “that the diffi-
culties which exist at present at Cheltenham will soon be smoothed
away. That will be all right. Lipson will be taken in with us.”

So Mr. Lipson and his friends in Cheltenham can sneck up. Chief
Whip Margesson is quite ready to give Mr. Lipson the Government whip
as soon as the differences at Cheltenham are composed.

By August 1937, Howard was writing regularly for the Daily Express and
the Evening Standard, as well as for the Sunday Express. The pressure was enor-
mous, but it suited Howard. At different times he wrote under many
pen-names. There were serious articles from Adam Bothwell and John
Hampden, a daily children’s feature called “Pindar the Panda”, illustrated
by Low, in the Evening Standard and farming articles under the pen-name
Brent Ely. One of the most notorious of these noms-de-plume was
Captain Barnabe Rich:

“Rich was a colossal cad. He used to say all the things that people
want to say but never do say. He was rude to all the people you had to be
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very polite to. Beaverbrook knew I was writing this stuff, but nobody else .
knew.

“Captain Barnabe Rich became the talk of London society. And every-
body was trying to find out who this awful cad was. A great friend of
Beaverbrook’s was a society figure called Captain Michael Wardell,! who
was right in the thick of the crowd Rich was writing about. So I used to go
round the London clubs and drawing rooms and if anybody asked me who
Captain Barnabe Rich was, I would say, ‘Well, who on the Express would
know all these people?’ They would say, ‘Well, Mike Wardell is the only
one, I think." And I would say, ‘Well, I don’t know who it would be,
but Wardell knows them all.’ It was hard on Wardell, but Beaverbrook and
I enjoyed it.

“Then the time came when we had to say who Captain Barnabe Rich
was. So I said to Beaverbrook, T know what we'll do. We'll print the
photograph of Rich in the Evening Standard.’ ‘How will you do that?’ he
said. ‘You leave it to me,’ I replied. So next day we had a picture taken
right out of the Moss Bros. advertisement of a very splendid fellow in a
dashing suit and top hat. The caption read, ‘Captain Barnabe Rich at the
Races.” Everybody thought to themselves, T've seen that man somewhere.’
But nobody could think where. And, of course, it was the Moss Bros.
advertisement.”

Partly to get away from the pressure of Fleet Street —or at least make it
more difficult to recall him at weekends — Howard now began looking for
a country cottage. With two children and a third on the way, he wanted a
place for them outside London. But, more important, Howard himself
wanted to get away from the “abominable nuisance of having to meet
people”. He chose East Anglia because at that time it was the most
difficult part of England to reach. The travel arrangements were poor; the
roads were worse; and nobody in their senses, he felt, was going to
follow him there. He was also deeply drawn to the land. Perhaps in some
forgotten corner of his mind the Howards of Meldreth pulled him to-
wards his past. He seemed more at home in the countryside than he ever
did in London, even at the height of his success. There was no explanation
for this, except that the earth and its fruits were a part of him which he
could never discard.

On August 30, 1937, Howard bought a small thatched cottage at Preston
in West Suffolk. It was called Old Thatches. It was, in fact, three agricultural
cottages rolled into one, with low ceilings, oak beams and three stair-
cases. As a country escape it was ideal. There was enough land to provide
an orchard, a lawn, a duck pond and a small paddock beside it for the
children to play in. After this he became a weekend commuter, travelling
to Suffolk early Sunday morning after the Sunday’Express went to bed, and

1 Later Proprietor and Publisher of the Daily Gleaner, Fredericton, New Brunswick,
Canada.
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back to London on a Tuesday unless summoned by Beaverbrook before.
He would sometimes bring Fleet Street friends home with him, and the
cottage shook to the bang of doors and men’s feet. The small drawing
room was filled with smoke and beer mugs. The children, who after
December 31, 1937, included a second son, Anthony, were kept upstairs or
outside.

Howard had a hot temper and did not like his weekends disturbed.
He also had 2 warm heart, and would play riotous games, charging round
the house with the children on his shoulders or throwing them high into
the air and catching them again. His friends were by no means all journa-
lists. Artists, politicians, writers and sportsmen, as well as some of the
best French chefs in London, would spend weekends at Old Thatches. The
food and drink were good. The talk lively. But inevitably the Express
deadlines had to be hit.

1938 was the year in which Beaverbrook was to herald the cry, “No
war this year, nor next year either.” Howard still called for rearmament.

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, June 5, 1938

One situation will have to be cleared up. That is the Hore-Belisha situation.

Our War Minister has made many pronouncements that our anti-
aircraft defence services are in good order. He says, “Modernised three-inch
guns are ready for immediate use in an emergency.” He declares, with
reference to the 3-7 inch gun, “Delivery is ahead of schedule.”

Now, nobody doubts Mr. Hore-Belisha’s word. But what is schedule?
Schedule may be far behind our requirements.

Anxiety among the public on this issue has reached a very high pitch.
The simple question is: ARE OUR DEFENCES ADEQUATELY EQUIPPED
WITH 37 GUNS? None but the 3-7 guns will satisfy the people who
know.

With 3-7 guns London can be adequately defended. But in no other
circumstances. These guns are more necessary to our defence system than
bombers or anything else.

The public has confidence in Mr. Hore-Belisha’s administration at the
War Office. It makes no complaint of his continued appeals for support.
But at the same time, this particular matter can be left where it is no longer.

Mr. Hore-Belisha must clear up the position for his own sake as well as
ours. If he does not, a storm may arise against him like the one which
blew Lord Swinton away.

But he continued to badger M.P.s at sensitive personal points:
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“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, June 19, 1938

It is surprising how often M.P.s mistake the date of their birth. The late
Lord Carson’s age was wrongly stated in Who's Who.

Then there is Mr. Henry “Chips” Channon, member for Southend.
His reckoning is just two years out. It is said in the books of reference
that he was born on March 7, 1899, making his age thirty-nine.

On the other hand, Mr. Michael J. Flynn tells me that Mr. “Chips”
Channon was born on March 7, 1897, making his age forty-one. On the
whole, I prefer to accept Mr. Flynn's version.

For why? Mr. Flynn is Clerk of Cook County in the State of Illinois,
where Mr. Channon was born. And Mr. Flynn has backed up his story by
sending me a photostat copy of Mr. “Chips” Channon'’s birth certificate.

Mr. “Chips” Channon recorded in his diary:

“June 19, 1938: The Sunday Express today published a most extraordinary
paragraph to the effect that I am really forty-one instead of thirty-nine,
and hinted that I had faked my age in the reference books. The awful
thing is that it is true. Now I feel apprehensive and shy, as one does when
one is in disgrace. Honour is being very sweet and loyal about it . . . I
told her she would be a widow two years earlier.”

In July 1938, Howard began writing the “Opinion” column in the
Daily Express, and the Evening Standard editorials. His leader in the Evening
Standard on September 15, read:

Today we walk in the sunlight: from our path has been lifted the shadow
of the clouds which so long darkened our journeying.

It was the dread of war which cast the gloom upon us. It is the hand of
Mr. Neville Chamberlain, our Prime Minister, which now removes that
dread.

By his air journey to Herr Hitler, the British Premier reinforces and
establishes the high position which he has already gained for himself in
the hearts and affections of the people.

By November 27, he wrote in his column:

The old plan is dying with the old year. The leaves have fallen, and so
have the dreams of Mr. Chamberlain.
Appeasement is dead. Appeasement with Germany is finished because
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of the Germans. They have ended it with their pogroms and their attacks
on Britain.

At the beginning of 1939, Beaverbrook was still supporting appease-
ment. Howard wrote in support of it, but felt increasingly that it was a
forlorn hope. That January he had an experience which pushed him further
along that path. At lunch in Fleet Street one day he was asked to join the
British Bobsleigh team for the World Championships at Cortina. One of
the team had fallen ill. Would he take his place?

When Howard said he had never been on a bobsleigh in his life, his
friend replied, “Never mind, you are the right build. You are not afraid
of speed, and you know how to work with a team. You are just the man
we are looking for.” The Express gave Howard two weeks’ holiday with pay.

Howard took Doé with him to Cortina, and she was a good deal more
frightened of the event than he was. On one of the trial runs, the loud-
speaker announced, “One man off” the British bob. Do€ leapt to her feet,
“I know it’s Peter,” she said. It was. But he was unhurt:

“The teams for the World Championship assembled at Cortina. It was
an immense occasion for the Italians. The eyes of all the sporting world
were upon them, and they made the most of it. Countess Ciano, then in
the heyday of her power and glory, represented her father, Mussolini,
throughout the four days of the races, and handed out trophies at the
end.

“There were fanfares, flags and all the pomp and ceremony of a Fascist
Fiesta. Teams came from most countries in Europe to compete — Rurmania,
Belgium, France, Switzerland, Italy and many more. There was a strong
and fine team from the United States of America, under the captaincy of
Jack Heaton.

“The Germans entered four teams, most of them officers from Goering’s
Luftwaffe. They had been told to win the World Championship at all costs,
on the grounds that the prestige of the Reich would be boosted by victory.
They set about this task with silent, sustained efficiency. They kept to
themselves, spoke as little as possible in case they inadvertently gave
away any secrets, and mounted a permanent guard on their racing bobs,
fearing the rest of us might tamper with them.

“The American team were our strong allies. The Italians, on the other
hand, cheered the Germans loudly from the grandstands and in public,
and occasionally booed or whistled as the British team flashed by.

“At night, in the privacy of our hotel, some of the Italians came to visit
us, and begged us with tears in their eyes to beat the Germans, as they
thought we were the only team likely to do so.

“There were some strange interludes in this warfare. The Italians had
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built a wonderful racing track at Cortina. But it finished at the finishing
post. They had forgotten that the bobs raced past that point at nearly one
hundred miles an hour and needed at least a quarter of a mile of surfaced
and uphill ice before they could pull up in safety.

“The result was that the most dangerous part of the race came after
you had finished the course. The Germans found themselves quite unable
to take the corner after the finishing post. They crashed there almost
every time. By the last day of the Championship they had been reduced by
injuries from four teams to one.

“They displayed a cold courage which startled and frightened us. One
German team crashed badly. Two of the men were seriously injured and
had to go to hospital. Another was cut on his thigh. The fourth, the
captain, had a gash nearly four inches long on his cheek. As we ran
. forward to help, the captain picked himself up, surveyed his fallen and
writhing comrades, then turned his back on them and marching to the
timekeeper’s hut said in German, ‘What was our time, please?’

“The Belgians also crashed here. One of their team was injured and they
had no reserve to take his place. They were doing well in the races and
had one more descent to make to complete the course. That night they
scoured the bars of Cortina, searching for some Belgian who would make
the descent for the glory of his nation. Around midnight they found him.
He was a charming, unassuming and above all unsuspicious young man
who knew nothing about bobbing.

“Lobsters turn from black to red very swiftly when plunged into boiling
water. Humans change yet more swiftly from pink to green when plunged
down an ice track on a racing bob without knowing what they are in for.

“How they held him on remains a mystery. But they made good time
and the young Belgian was rightly a hero of Cortina.

“After the first two days we made a united and vehement protest to
the authorities about the dangerous state of the track. They went into
conference and presently emerged with beaming smiles, saying, ‘To-
morrow everything will be all right.’

“Next day we eagerly visited the danger point before climbing the
mountain to the start. The track was as it always had been. Evidently the
job of reconstruction had been too heavy to undertake. But there was an
addition to the amenities. An aged and lovable gentleman with long
drooping moustaches had been stationed there. He had an open penknife
in his hand. He explained that his job was to scrape the blood off the ice
if there was a spill, so that the onlookers should not suffer from any
feelings of distress.

“We had no reserves for our British team. So we provided ourselves
with drugs in case any of us suffered injury. For, injured or not, we were
resolved to get the bob down the track somehow or other.

“The first day of the Championships we made a bad beginning. We got
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the worst of the draw, having to race on a badly cut-up track after the sun
had risen and a slight thaw had taken the bite and speed out of the ice. The
Germans led us by over a second.

“On the three following days, the situation improved. We broke the
world’s record for the Cortina run on each occasion, doing better every
day, and finally ended ahead of the Germans.

“It would be idle to pretend that this triumph gave everybody satisfac-
tion. There was a sultry atmosphere as we moved into the hotel to receive
our prizes.

“A band was provided. Unfortunately, owing to some misunderstanding
or more probably because our victory over the Germans had upset
previous arrangements, when the words ‘Great Britain’ were shouted and
we advanced towards the Countess to collect our pots, the band broke into
a loud and spirited rendering of Deutschland uber Alles.

“The Germans looked furious. We stood to attention with British
phlegm. But the Countess, after giving the band a glance almost loud
enough to drown their music, suddenly burst into peals of shrill laughter.

“Then she gave us our pots and we took our departure,. We had a
happy party with the American team that evening. We talked together of
the Olympic Games which were to be held at the end of that fateful year,
1939, in Germany at Garmisch and at which some of us had been invited
to represent our nations.”

“The March of Time” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, March 9, 1939

What will Hitler do now? That is the question each man asks his neigh-
bour. And all the world waits for the answer.

In a situation so uncertain as the one which faces us today, confronted
as we are by a man of power who has shown himself to be untrustworthy
and unable to deal honestly with his neighbours, we have a duty to
perform.

We cannot afford to let another week or day or hour go by. We must
stimulate our activities and increase our vigilance in regard to defence.

For the warning bell is clanging. The red light shines forth. The signals
are at danger. We have come to the point where now and here the nation
must be mobilised.

The time has gone past when we can afford to pass our days discussing
with our friends whether or not to volunteer for some form of National
Service. As an essential measure of security, on which the future of all of
us may depend, we need a register of our national resources of manpower.
And that register must be compulsory.
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“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, July 23, 1939

Last week an account was published in the columns of the Sunday Express
of the political movement against our Prime Minister, Mr. Chamberlain. It
gave a first-rate objective view of events.

But there you are. Perhaps I shall be thought prejudiced on this issue.
I wrote the article myself. For it I find myself attacked and assailed in the
leader columns of the Daily Telegraph. Why? Because the Daily Telegraph declares
that it is not opposed to Mr. Chamberlain though in favour of Mr.
Churchill.

That organ knows perfectly well that you cannot advocate the cause of
Churchill without opposing the Premier.

Mr. Chamberlain does not want to bring Mr. Churchill into the Govern-
ment. The Daily Telegraph desires to push Churchill into the Cabinet whether
the Prime Minister wants him there or not. If that is not opposition to
Mr. Chamberlain, then what is?

If I plan to try to push Mr. Churchill on to the board of the Daily
Telegraph in face of opposition from Lord Camrose, would not that be an
act hostile to Lord Camrose?

For my part I make no objection to those who say that they are for
Chamberlain and for Churchill too. It is much the same thing as being a
devout member of the Roman Catholic Church and at the same time going
down to the street corner to make a confession from the midst of the
Salvation Army circle.

It was during these three months before the outbreak of World War II
that the first cracks began to appear in the Howards’ marriage. Do spent
many weeks with the children in the country, while Peter stayed at his
work in London:

“I began to wear a mask in the home. It was only a little mask, but it
was a thick one. I discovered to my surprise that my interest in the
freshness of lips, soft eyes and the beauty and admiration of other women
had not left me. My interest was academic. But the margin between an
academic interest and an actual interest was like hair on a bald man’s
head. It diminished slowly but steadily with the years.

“I told myself that there was little harm in what I did so long as Doé
had no cause for grief. If she knew nothing, she could not feel sad on that
account.

“In fact, as my married journey ran on, I found that the ideas propa-
gated by gentlemen like Bertrand Russell were deep-rooted in my heart and
desire. They had been covered up rather than cured by happy marriage.
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“Sometimes I took an evening off from the home. 1 worked hard to
earn money for it. And I felt that a man who worked hard was entitled to
his relaxations, wherever they might lie.

“Doé thought, or at least was told, that I was on newspaper work on
such occasions. And indeed I did pick up gossip this way around the
town.

“Naturally, the follnwing evening I would return home early, often
bringing some small gift to Doé. I would devote myself entirely to her.
We would go out together perhaps to some cavernous café in Soho to
eat pungent-spiced continental dishes, to hear French talked and talk it
together, to rejoice in the fun of each other’s company. These were the
best evenings of life. I found it hard to see while they lasted how I could
ever want to spend them differently. And yet, and yet.

“So our marriage ran, Doé’s and mine—a gay and rippling journey,
like a Dartmoor stream, with light and shade, the sudden sharp and
jagged rock, the occasional calm, still stretch of deeper water.

“And presently, before you can see why or how, the waters are divided —
two streams run side by side where one travelled the heather before —the
waters still chatter and laugh and run together for a time and then perhaps
in different directions. In their shrunken and divided condition they
tinkle still but lose the deeper notes.

“Doé and I found each had corners in our lives which belonged to
ourselves alone and not to each other. We felt that normal. We found it
the way to live. A wife has the right to her own friends. A man must
have some privacy. That is what we told each other, with a spontaneity
of the lips and a sadness of the heart.”

But, although the marriage was no longer entirely happy, the division
was still slight by Fleet Street standards, and money was plentiful.
Howard decided to invest in a farm four miles from his cottage at
Preston. In September 1939, he bought Hill Farm, Brent Eleigh, near
Lavenham, for £10 an acre:

“Much of it was in a tumble-down state. The hedges marched out
across the headlands and were tall with years of neglected growth. The
fields were hungry, and in some cases starving. The land was hilly and
awkward. The ditches were full and many of the drains blocked.

“We bought the farm in a fit of enthusiasm, and often afterwards thought
it was a mad thing to have done. We had a romantic idea that the stream
of money which for so long in Britain had poured from the land into
the cities should be diverted back to the countryside again.”

The second World War was declared on September 3, 1939. The Howard
children were in Suffolk with their nanny for the summer holidays. Doé
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was in London. Peter persuaded her to load the car and leave London at
once for Suffolk:

“When war broke out, my thoughts flew to my income. That was an
immediate reaction to events.

“I began to keep a careful account of expenditure in my diary. Being
fond of food and drink, I used to spend plenty on these commodities.
They seemed to me the obvious things to cut down on. For a month I
went on the water-wagon. I told my friends that I did this for the sake of
my stomach. In fact I did it for the sake of my pocket. I was worried by
the thought that my newspaper work might come to an end and that my
money would be taken from me. Although some of us forget this now,
many people shared this feeling at the outbreak of war.”

The Howards' house in Newton Road was sold, and later hit by a
bomb. Meanwhile, like all other men of his age, Peter Howard received his
call-up papers. He was passed “not A.1.” by the medical board on
account of his lame leg. Also journalists were in a reserved occupation
because their work was considered to be of national importance. The
Express Newspapers, once war was declared, immediately put all their
strength into backing the British war effort. In this Howard joined.

“The March of Time” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, September 3, 1939

Twenty-one years. What a staggering change in our fortune has come
about in that short space of time.

Twenty-one years ago we were swinging along with a shout of triumph
and joy, convinced that never again would the civilised nations of
Europe submit their quarrels to the awful arbitrament of war.

Today we prepare once more to dig ourselves into the mud, to sweat
and toil and suffer, to see our husbands and sons and friends struck down
in battle.

And, if the worst forebodings are realised, women and children, too,
may be called on this time to face bombardment from the skies.

We have many advantages compared with our 1914 position. We do
not expect easy triumphs. We know the Germans to be a strong and
ruthless enemy.

We realise quite well that at any rate in the early days of the contest we
may have to suffer and endure disappointments and setbacks which
befall every nation marching into battle. We are ready to face them without
dismay.

Above all, our cause is recognised as just by the whole earth, except our
enemies.
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At the outbreak of the last war, in many countries and especially in the
United States of America, there was a substantial body of opinion sym-
pathetic to German aims.

Today Britain and her friends carry into battle the hopes and prayers
of every liberty-loving man and woman over the whole surface of the
globe.

So we go marching on.

There was still much in a seeming lighter vein:

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, December 17, 1939

I dedicate my article this week
“To the tintinnabulation that so musically wells
From the bells, bells, bells, bells, bells, bells, bells,
From the jingling and the tingling of the bells.”

The bells I mean are, of course, telephone bells. For the last three days
my telephones have not stopped ringing.

I have made a careful note of each call. No fewer than twenty-eight
of them have been from people anxious to give me an exact and circum-
stantial account of all which took place at the secret session of Parliament.

Were these people who rang me up M.P.s or noble Lords? Oho, aha.
Like the young lady in the song, ‘I will not say, yes. I will not say, no.’

But I will reveal to you that the details of all these accounts bore a
striking similarity to each other.

My conclusion is this. No secret of any consequence should be disclosed
by the Government at any secret session. That being so, secret sessions
serve no useful purpose. None at all.

In the days of phoney war, Beaverbrook, who had to the last hoped that
there would be no war, was still anxious that there should not be a big
war:

“One evening late, I was down at his house with Brendan Bracken,!
Aneurin Bevan? and Frank Owen. Beaverbrook turned to me and said,
‘What do you think of the war?’

“I said, ‘We've got to win it. We're in it. Politically it is impossible for
anybody to withdraw. The British people would not stand it. We have got
to beat Hitler.’

1 Conservative M.P. for N. Paddington 1929—45. Minister of Information

1941—45§.
2 Labour M.P. for Ebbw Vale from 1929. Minister of Health 1945~51.
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* ‘What should we do with Chamberlain?’ Beaverbrook went on.

“ ‘Chamberlain is not a war man,’ I replied. ‘He’s a man of peace.
His heart is not in the war. The only hope is to put Churchill in charge
and get rid of Chamberlain.’

“ ‘Get out of my house,” roared Beaverbrook. ‘Get out of my house.
I don’t want you in my house. Get out of my house.’ He was shaking with
rage.

“I went. It was one o’clock in the morning. I started to walk the two
miles to my bed through the blackout. I had gone about two hundred
yards when behind me I heard a scurry and a patter. There was Beaver-
brook, a small asthmatic figure, coatless and hatless, trotting after
me.

“ ‘Peter,” he said, ‘forgive me. I shouldn’t speak to you like that. You'll
think no more of it?" ”

It was by now apparent that the British preparations for war had been
disastrously mismanaged. Howard and his friends, Frank Owen and
Michael Foot, were becoming increasingly impatient. They blamed
the Cabinet and all who had supported them, including Lord Beaver-
brook.

“Right and Wrong” by P.D.H.
Evening Standard, February 6, 1940

Do you know of the Boothby technique? It is a political method of
approach to problems, which gets its name from Mr. Robert Boothby,
Tory M.P. for East Aberdeenshire. That gentleman has been right about
every issue and wrong about every issue that has ever arisen.

For why? Because his mind is so broad, his opinions so liberal that he
sees two sides to every question —and advocates both of them.

Some public men adopt the Boothby technique. Others, not so. You
can never doubt for a moment where they stand or what they think.

Lord Beaverbrook, for example, is always decided and entirely cocksure
that his views are right.

Iam bound to tell you, however, that sometimes he is wrong.

He said in 1938, “There will be no war involving Britain this year.”
Quite right.

In the dark days he stuck by his prediction. When midnight of Decem-
ber 31, 1938, chimed away he was much praised for his sagacity and
sound judgment.

He said in 1939, “There will be no war involving Britain this year.”
Quite wrong. .

When the black hour of 11 a.m. on September 3, 1939, struck, he was
much reviled for folly, optimistic bluff and wishful thinking.
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Beaverbrook retaliated two weeks later:
Evening Standard, February 22, 1940

One of our contributors —Mr. Peter Howard — telephones to know why the
raid” on Liverpool is not included in the map on page seven.

The reason why it is not included is that it has never been estabhshed
that it took place.

An airplane did appear over Merseyside, and was fired at.

A little later a British training machine landed, bearing traces of
gunfire.

If Mr. Howard would give some time to reading as well as writing he
would have known that the Evening Standard “Diary” published this fact at
the time. And that would have saved him his telephone call this afternoon.

On May 10, 1940, Hitler marched into the Low Countries. Beaverbrook
telephoned Howard at the Express offices:

“He asked me how the news was coming in and then said, ‘You can
record in your diary, if you have one, that today Hitler lost the war.’

‘Everyone else in London at this point seemed to think that Hitler
might win the war. His attack and its speed had struck an icicle of fore-
boding into the warmth of many a brave heart. Beaverbrook went on,
‘Hitler’s entry into the Low Countries makes the intervention of the
United States of America inevitable. I do not know whether he will overrun
France. I do not even know if he will attempt to invade this country. But
sooner or later now America will intervene and when America inter-
venes you can be sure Hitler will be vanquished.” ”

That same day, the Chamberlain Government fell and Winston Churchill
became Prime Minister. Beaverbrook joined the Cabinet as Minister of
Aircraft Production. This spelt disaster for Howard’s political writing. For
Beaverbrook was not so pleased for Cabinet Ministers to be assailed each
Sunday, when he had to meet them in Cabinet each Monday. Howard did
not know it then, but he only had until July 7 when his column “Poli-
ticians and Politics” was to appear for the last time.

“Politicians and Politics” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, May 12, 1940

I need utter no words of praise of Mr. Churchill. Since war began he has
been looked on by the public as the man they desire for their leader in
war.
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He marches forward with the confidence, the heart and the hand of the
entire British public.

On Friday, May 31, 1940, the British troops were in retreat at Dunkirk.
That fateful weekend thousands of small ships crossed the Channel to
evacuate the British army from the beaches. Peter Howard, Michael
Foot and Frank Owen sat in the offices of the Evening Standard that Friday
afternoon discussing the news as it came in. They placed the blame for the
disastrous retreat squarely upon Chamberlain and his colleagues, most
of whom were still in Churchill’s Government. They decided to write a
book, in which they would pillory the wilful negligence of these men.

On Monday, June 3, Howard, Foot and Owen returned to London each
with eight chapters written during the weekend. They called the book,
Guilty Men. They wrote under the pseudonym “Cato”, because it was Cato
who cleaned out the sewers of Rome.

The book was finished by Tuesday, June 4. On Wednesday it was
accepted for publication by Victor Gollancz. The only parts to be queried
for libel were those written by Howard, and these were swiftly adjusted.

The first edition of Guilty Men was published in July 1940. It was
regarded as unpatriotic to attack British leadership in time of war, and
W. H. Smith and Wymans refused to sell it. The authors engaged a fruit
coster with a barrow to wheel copies of the book up and down Fleet
Street. This started an avalanche, for which Gollancz were ill-prepared.
They had expected the sales to reach five thousand. Over two hundred
thousand copies were sold in the next months.

Speculation as to who had written Guilty Men grew and grew. Some
accused Beaverbrook, others suspected either Foot, Owen or Howard.
None guessed that it was all three of them.

Michael Foot wrote his own review in the Evening Standard :

“A Mystery Here” by Michael Foot

Pamphleteering is a forgotten weapon, yet once it was perhaps the
most potent in English politics. A pamphlet by Swift broke the Duke of
Marlborough. How many other of the great names in English literature
were associated with this particular art? Milton, Burke, Junius and
hundreds more.

The weapon has now been drawn from its scabbard with a vengeance.

Guilty Men written by a mysterious and bashful “Cato” (Gollancz: 2s. 6d.)
promises to become the most sensational political publication of the
war.

It is a searing, savage, but documented, attack on the men responsible
for the failure to provide Britain with the armaments to fight this war. It is
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an amazing vindication of the foresight of the present Prime Minister,
and it pays full tribute to the men who have intensified the war effort in
recent weeks.

The story is told by one who appears to have watched the drama from
the floor of the House of Cornmons itself.

Some of the judgments are unfair. It has some flagrant omissions. But,
whatever verdict is passed on the whole, none can dispute that its total
effect is terrific.

Who is this “Cato” M.P.? And why does he hide his fireworks under a
bushel ?

Howard wrote his review in the Daily Express:

I cannot do more than pay a tribute to the powerfulness of the indict-
ment brought by “Cato”, the mysterious author of Guilty Men.

He starts off with the Blood Bath of Flanders:

“One Bren gun and one hero against eight Heinkels” . . .

“Three bayonets and three heroes against machine guns” . . .

“Marching men against incessant bombers. Why? Why? Why?”

“Flesh against steel, an Army doomed before it took the field.”

Then, going back into the history of the last few wasted years, “Cato”
dramatises the blundering, the broken pledges and the unfulfilled pro-
mises of arms, quotes the speeches and takes us behind the scenes of the
most shameful of happenings in British politics for many years.

His epilogue tells of the new determination that came with Churchill’s
accession to power and the vigour shown by his three Supply ch.lefs,
Bevin, Morrison and Beaverbrook, to make Britain a fortress.

“But,” and these are his last words, “the nation is united to 2 man in its
desire to prosecute the war in total form; there must be a similar unity in
the national confidence.

“Let the guilty men retire, then, of their own volition, and so make an
essential contribution to the victory upon which all are implacably
resolved.”

The publication of. Guilty Men embarrassed the Government so much
that Howard was called to the office of E. J. Robertson, the General Manager
of the Daily Express. He was told that, so long as Lord Beaverbrook was in
the War Cabinet, he could no longer write articles about politics.
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Chapter 8

OWARD was furiously angry about the General Manager’s decision.

His career and reputation were based on his political column. His

entire outlook was geared to attack, and his power rested in the
politicians’ fear of his assaults: “When I punched, I punched to hurt.” Now
he could punch them no more.

He haunted the ante-room of the General Manager’s office, complaining
bitterly of his treatment and demanding a reprieve. There he came up
against the General Manager’s secretary, Mrs. Edith Ducé, whose task it
was to guard E. J. Robertson from interruption:

“Edith Ducé was a middle-aged woman. For a long time I cherished a
grievance against her, I drank too much at a party, and behaved badly
there. Mrs. Ducé got to hear of this affair. She went around the office
telling her friends of my misdeeds.

“I detested Mrs. Ducé for this malicious gossip. Day by day, for months,
we greeted each other with the frigid and artificial grin of mutual re-
pugnance, I regarded her as a dangerous and distasteful person. I felt I
had to mask my emotion and smile at her whenever we met in the lift or
passed in the passageway because, after all, she was the General Manager’s
secretary, and being as I knew both a tattler and an intriguer might do me
some harm.

“Presently I noticed a most remarkable change in Edith Ducé. Instead of
appearing acidulous, she looked out at life with greater benevolence. She
seemed altogether more contented and happy.

“One day she stood still in the passage as I hurried past her with my
determined grin, and called after me, ‘Peter.’ It was the first time she had
used my Christian name in addressing me, and I was indignant that a
secretary, even the General Manager’s secretary, should call me ‘Peter’
inside the Express building. Edith Ducé asked me to come into her room.
There, after some polite palaver in which I was on my guard and she
appeared to be seeking for words to use, she told me that she knew that
in the past she had tried to do me some injury by her malice and her
tongue. She apologised for it and hoped we should be better friends in
future. Then she said something like this, T am a different woman from
what I used to be. I thought it right to tell you why. I made up my mind
that the only way to lead my life was on a Christian basis.’
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“This was said to me by Mrs. Ducé in a matter-of-fact fashion, without
embarrassment on her part. Its effect on me was shattering. I mumbled,
‘Thank you very much. Very interesting. Must tell me more about it some
other time.’ Like a chicken I bolted.

“I remember, as I went away, breaking into a run as I realised with
ferocity that I had stumbled on a story about Mrs. Ducé which would
make her seem far more ridiculous and contemptible in the eyes of my
fellow journalists than her account of my drunkenness had made me
appear in the eyes of her fellow secretaries.

“I went about the place telling everyone that Mrs. Ducé now suffered
from religious mania. But she beat me to it. Many people had heard the
story from her own lips already. In the language of Fleet Street I had been
‘scooped’. For Mrs. Ducé was not a common-or-garden Bible-puncher.
She had actually joined the Oxford Group, and was to be known until the
day of her death as a Buchmanite.

“She received much abuse and some persecution because of what were
casually called her ‘pernicious doctrines’.

“I knew all about these ‘pernicious’ doctrines. That is to say, I knew
everything that had appeared in the Press, or had been whispered down
Fleet Street, about the Oxford Group.

“I believed a good deal of what I heard. For by this time my whole
temperament was attuned to attack. I sought for weaknesses in the situa-
tion of any person or company, I was not on the lookout for strength.

“One day, as I stood in the anteroom where Mrs. Ducé worked, waiting
to see the General Manager, I was treating her to my opinions about some
fellows who in my judgment were impeding the war effort. I said these
men ought to be shot, like any other individual who, when his country
was in danger, proved obstructive and unhelpful.

“Mrs. Ducé stopped typewriting. She said, ‘You are quite entitled to
say that, Peter, provided you are doing all you can yourself to help.’
I must have looked somewhat bewildered, for she then said, ‘Have you
yourself been as helpful as possible here lately? Do you ever ask yourself
that question?’

“I replied that I thought I had.

“The next event was the ringing of the telephone on my desk at about
midday one Thursday.

“ ‘Are you free for a moment, Peter?’ said Mrs. Ducé’s voice.

- “ “Yes,’ said 1.
“ ‘Come down for a minute then, will you? I have something for you.””

Mirs. Ducé suggested to Howard in her office that morning that he should
meet a Mr. Garth Lean.

“I had no intention of getting mixed up with the racket. So I asked
Mrs. Ducé, ‘Who is Garth Lean?’
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“ ‘He is one of my friends in the Oxford Group, and I think he'll be
able to help you,’ answered Mrs. Ducé.

“ “Very kind of you,’ said I, ‘but that’s not my line of country as well
you know. I am not a religious person. I am an agnostic and that sort of
thing doesn’t interest me much.’

“ “That’s a pity,’ replied Mrs. Ducé. I left the room.

“ When I got upstairs to my own desk, a new thought, potent and
actractive, stimulated my imagination. Here, after all, was the chance I had
been waiting for. Already much of Fleet Street abused the Oxford Group,
or Buchmanites as journalists prefer to call them, saying that they were
racketeers, pro-German and all the rest of it. Nobody had yet dared to
print the story in that form.

“If 1 could take advantage of Mrs. Ducé’s offer to introduce me to Lean
I might be able to expose the whole affair.

“I went downstairs again to Mrs. Ducé’s room. ‘T've changed my mind,’
I told her. T'd like to see your friend Bath Green or whatever he calls
himself, after all.’

“Mrs. Ducé arranged that I should lunch with Lean at a flat in the
Temple that very day.”

Howard’s lunch with Lean was an interesting encounter:

“He did not impress me very favourably. Physically he is a shaggy-
looking sort of fellow, with a head that is going bald, and a laugh
which now amuses me, but which then irritated me exceedingly. I can
see that two things more than anything else impressed me unfavourably
about Garth Lean.

“The first was that he spoke about God with respect but without embar-
rassment. This prejudiced me against anybody. I loathed that sort of
business.

“The second was that, when I spoke of my problem of having to start
and rebuild my newspaper column, he was not particularly sympathetic
about it.”

Howard did not much like Edith Ducé nor did he care for Lean. His
purpose with both was malicious and in certain ways dishonest. This
must have been apparent to them. But surprisingly it did not discourage
them, even though Howard presented Lean at this time with one of the
early copies of Guilty Men inscribed, “This book is splenetic like me.”

“That day at luncheon in the Temple, Lean told me he believed in God.
“I told him I did not.

“He asked me, ‘Why not?’

“For some reason, I found it difficult (I, so slick of the tongue that I
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could hold my own with Cabinet Ministers) to provide a cogent answer
to that simple enquiry.

“I swallowed a mouthful of food to take time for reflection. Then I
said to him, ‘Well, why do you believe in Him?’

“This man replied, ‘It is as foolish to argue about whether there is a
God as it is to stand looking at an electric light switch and arguing whether
if you turn it the light will go on. One fellow says it will. The other says
it will not. The end of the argument is to turn the switch and see.”

“I asked Lean what he meant. He told me that the way to see whether
God was there was to put Him to the proof. He declared that God would
talk to each person who was ready to listen and obey.

“I said this sounded far-fetched to me. But I knew he believed what he
told me. He was living at a swifter pace than I, and he had in his eyes a
peace I longed for but never had grasped.

“When I told him again that I did not believe in God, he smiled and
said, ‘In that case, you won't mind listening to Him, will you? For you
won't expect to hear anything anyway.” ”

Incredibly Howard agreed to try it. He did so because, “I knew Garth
Lean would ask me if I had listened to God. And I wanted to worm my
way into the full confidence of Lean and the others, so that I could find
out the whole truth about them.”

The lunch came to an end. “We parted. I meant to expose the Oxford
Group inadramatic newspaper scoop. I suggested meeting Garth Lean again.”

Howard did meet Lean again. This time at the Oxford Group head-
quarters in London. Howard’s arrival there was greeted with mixed
feelings. Some of Lean’s colleagues had tried to persuade him to cancel the
invitation. They felt, knowing Howard’s record, that whatever he wrote
was bound to be hostile. They found it impossible to believe that
Howard’s interest was sincere. In this they were right. To his credit,
Lean persisted in having Howard received.

“One fact soon became apparent to me. You might dislike these people,
but you could not, if you surveyed the scene with an open mind, distrust
them. Sincere goodwill radiated every room and person in the dwelling.
There was a stimulating air about the place.”

For Howard, it was a surprise. He had expected to find evidence to
support the rumours he had heard in Fleet Street. He found none. It
cannot be said he did not search for it. He stayed several days and nights
at the headquarters ; he met everyone; he asked questions; he kept his eyes
open; he remembered everything that was said. He left convinced that the
Oxford Group was not for him, but equally sure that what he had heard
about them was untrue.

That August William Hickey's column in the Daily Express four times
attacked the Oxford Group. This column was then written by Tom
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Driberg! who had first established himself with the Daily Express twelve
years before by writing the first public attack upon Dr. Buchman and the
Group. It was not Howard's policy to contradict his own paper, but he
felt he could not let the matter rest after his new-found information:

“After reading what was said, it seemed to me fair that the other side
of the affair should be written. I thought it best, in the interests of good
journalism and of truth, that both sides of the picture should be presented
and that the public should judge between them.”

Accordingly, Howard wrote his “Reply to Hickey”:

All good cider comes from stinking apples. And some good things appear
even out of the war.

One clean thing emerging from the grime of this conflict is an increase
of tolerance. Jews are no longer news in Britain. Anti-Semitic sentiment
has faded. In addition, the hysterical hatred of all aliens which gripped the
country not long ago is now relaxing.

Many people have had a share in this transformation. And among the
leaders of this crusade for fair play for Jews and aliens stands William
Hickey.

Much of the vigour of this man’s mind, much of the fire of his voice
and the fury of his pen have been turned to the defence of these afflicted
creatures. As an apostle of tolerance he has won the gratitude of hundreds
and the admiration of thousands, including myself.

So I am surprised and dismayed to behold him now entering upon a
savage persecution of a section of our community on account of their
beliefs. I refer to William Hickey’s sustained attack on the Oxford Group,
or Buchmanites, as he prefers to call them.

It seems plain that William Hickey has a set detestation of these folk.
He makes black and bitter charges against them.

There is nothing new in these stories. Plenty of people in Fleet Street
mentioned them to me. I passed on the tales myself. And I believed them.

But then I did something about them which, so far as I can see, few
other people in Fleet Street have bothered to do. I made it my business to
investigate them.

1 sought out the Oxford Group. I went to its headquarters. I made
friends with the people there. I did my utmost to establish the truth or
falseness of the charges laid against them by eminent journalists.

Now William Hickey says that guileless simple people are deceived by
the Oxford Group. That they “have put it over them”.

So I must set out my qualifications for the task of investigating the
allegations against them. I do not regard myself as either guileless or
simple. For years I have earned my living by dealing with politicians. I

! Later Labour Member of Parliament for Barking.
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have interviewed them in order to earn my bread. My whole business in
life has been to drag the truth out of M.P.s and Ministers of the Crown
reluctant to disclose it. I declare that as a result of my experiences with
politicians I never begin any interview without expecting that an attempt
will be made to “put something over me”. I am on the lookout.

Having set down these facts, I must record that after several weeks of
close investigation, by means of conversation, cross-examination as well
as by asking for and being given access to letters and files, I have reached
the firm conviction that there is no basis of truth in the allegation of
pacifism or of pro-Nazism (conscious or unconscious) made against the
Oxford Group.

If I had found proof of pro-Nazism I should have disclosed it in the
newspaper and given details to the Home Office. Instead, I regard it as fair
to set out the conclusions I reached.

Thousands of Oxford Group men and women belong to the fighting
services. Many of them are in the fighter squadrons at present engaged
against the Nazi bombers.

The Oxford Group people in factories engaged on war production are
striving to lessen friction between employers and employed, to settle
disputes by friendly negotiation instead of by strike action, and to
increase production in their factories. In many cases they are succeeding in
a remarkable degree.

It would be useless for me to present these facts to you as matters of
hearsay or second-hand evidence. I have held in my hands and inspected
confidential reports from factory managers, workroom stewards and
ordinary craftsmen, some dated as recently as last week, testimony which
in my judgment is beyond dispute.

I place on record my considered view that the Oxford Group are
exerting all their efforts to increasing the unity, strength and abilities of
the country. And they are doing it well.

Now the question will be put to me, “Hey —Peter Howard —are you a
member of the Oxford Group?”

My answer is that I find the standards aimed at by the Oxford Group
difficult of achievement by me. But I should like to achieve them
shall try to achieve them. ‘

Two of them are absolute honesty and absolute unselfishness.

I cannot believe these goals deserve the flouts and gibes of anyone.
Certainly they do not get mine.

And it is a real sadness to me to see a man with the power and ability
of William Hickey spending his forces in hatred of the Oxford Group.

To Howard’s surprise the article did not appear in the Daily Express. Its
Editor, Arthur Christiansen, frankly told Howard that he thought it better

" 111



journalism to attack the Oxford Group (Moral Re-Armament) than to
print both sides. Howard now found himself in a difficult position. He
was certain that the MRA people were honest in their beliefs, and that if
they were true, nothing else mattered so much. But he knew the hostility
he faced if he admitted this was enormous:

“I was afraid of contempt or ridicule. It may seem strange to you that I
should be ready to send in a written article to the Editor of the Express
saying what I did, and at the same time shrink from speaking about it.
But that was the case. I was like a spectator at a football match. I was
ready to cheer for the unpopular side when I felt sure nobody was
looking. I was even convinced that this side would have to win out in the
end. But I was far too comfortable in my furry overcoat, with my flask
of whisky and sandwiches in my pocket, to get into shorts and go out
into the mud and clamour and join the game myself.”

Peter Howard’s articles continued to pour into the Express. There was,
at first nothing different about their style, but there was a difference in
his personal attitude:

Most human beings if they get the chance persecute those who differ
from them. Certainly, I have had the chance of indulging in persecution
in this column. And I have grabbed it. I have rampaged about the place
kicking and cursing everybody, knocking the politicians down and
beating them up. I am bound to add that at the end of it all my knuckles
are unbruised and the heads of the politicians are unbowed. In fact,
everything is much the same.

Now with the years, I am becoming less harsh. I dip my pen in honey
not vitriol. My violence is abated. I hope to woo with the soft notes of the
flute in cases where I failed to terrify with the big bangs on the drum.

And so it might have remained for Peter Howard. But there was within
him a sense of urgency, a sense of destiny — call it what you will —which
thrust him onwards. But that was not enough to transform an agnostic
journalist into a passionate Christian revolutionary. Howard felt he was
within reach of a great experience, which he could only achieve by a
decision of the will. He made that decision, not in the rush of Fleet
Street, or in the glamour of a mass meeting, but alone, in a small room in
London:

“I went back to my little top-storey room in Northumberland Avenue. I
read again through those four absolute standards of homesty, purity,
unselfishness and love with the orders which someone, call Him God
or what you will, had put into my mind so luminously that morning. I
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thought to myself, ‘Well, try anything once. If it doesn't work out,
nobody need know. There’s no harm done.’ Yet just the same there was
that in me which said that if I did do it, things would never be the same
with me again.

“In that room I got down on my knees, And I prayed something like
this, ‘God, or whoever you are, if you are there, I will do what you tell
me if you'll give me the strength to do it. But I can’t do these things
unless you help me.’

“From that moment when for the first time in my life I decided to give
God a chance, if He were there, to talk to me, to be really honest with
myself about the things He said to me, my life has been transformed.

“Do I mean that from that instant I became perfect? Of course not.
Far from it. I stumble and grope my way along the thorny, narrow path
which is marked by the blood-stained footprints of history. There are
plenty of falls and many difficulties. Paul and Bunyan and many others
wrote about that journey, charting the road for us ordinary men. :

“It is an exhilarating human experience to be granted a sense of destiny,
to be offered a distinctive place in a great and growing army marching
under God to remake the world. Yet each of us can have it.”

The results of this experience in Howard's life were manifold. He apolo-
gised to his brother, John, for his jealousy, and repaid money he owed in
Oxford and to the Education Grants Committee for not becoming a
teacher as he had promised to do. He went down to Suffolk and was
completely honest with his wife. It was the most difficult thing to do.
Doé had, unknown to him, already encountered Moral Re-Armament
through reading a book. Had it not been for her understanding and
encouragement, there is little doubt that Howard would never have been
able to face telling her the truth. He had already deferred the decision
several times. It was on the way to the station one cold Monday morning
that Doé turned to her husband and said, “Peter, whatever you have done,

you know I will always love you.”
Howard wrote later:

“Our marriage has been transformed. Our lives have been transformed.
We have found together, after all these years of married life, a| swifter
and more satisfying adventure than any we expected or experienced as we
strode forth across that gangway on to Dover Quay, a honeymoon couple
with the flush and flame upon us, two days after our wedding.

“Today we know the answer to all those things, great and small, which
can and do stain or shadow the happiness of marriage and of life.

“We have been given a unity which does not depend on looks or on
wealth, on health, on moods, or any physical intimacy which the years
might shred and stale.
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“We know that God understands both of us and loves both of us more
fully than we can ourselves. It is not God’s plan that marriage shall be
nagging, dull or tumultuous. His plan is for marriage to begin as a free
joyful human relationship and for it to stay this way.”

Although Howard often spoke throughout his life of the results of that
decision he took in the Constitutional Club, they were not the most
important part of his experience. Of that, he spoke seldom. Yet, it was
that miracle of faith which mattered more to him than any other part of
his life. It was that faith which was to hold him through the storms which
were to beat more heavily upon him than any he had ridden through
before. Garth Lean, who saw most of Howard at the time, described it this
way':

“The change which transformed Peter Howard from a brilliant journalist
into a no less brilliant leader of Moral Re-Armament mystified many.

“His was a simple, but far-reaching experience of Christ’s power,
comparable to that of Wesley in the room off Aldersgate, or of St. Ignatius
in the sick room at Loyola: an experience which Howard was later to
make possible for thousands of others in many countries.”

This was the only possible explanation. How else could a young man of
thirty-three who cared little for those in MRA, who had never met Frank
Buchman and who had no belief in God, suddenly change so completely?

“I was always searching for something. Call it what you will. It is hard
to put a name to it. I named it Happiness. Looking back, I believe I was
in search of some master passion, some great ideal to which I could
wholly give myself, which would provide a motive and force for my
living and by which the world could be remade.

“I sought it in my work, my home, my ambitions. And though I
received much from all these things, and gave much to them also, yet the
fullness of my heart’s desire remained unsatisfied.

“Now, I have the silly but satisfying feeling that I have made a new
discovery. I feel like Watt when he saw the kettle lid hop off, or when
Newton beheld the apple fall to the ground.

“The thing I have discovered, the truth about the meaning of life, the
very heart of the whole body of creation, was there all the time —like
the force of gravity or steam power. But I, I have got at the secret.

“Will other people believe my secret? Not all of them. But I have been
touched by a hand which I know is there even if others deny it or refuse to
see it.

“I have faith in the future of mankind. I believe that from this war,
even during this war, new ways, finer and more splendid ways of living,
can appear upon the earth.
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“Yet I know now that there is no hope at all for a better future in the
world unless this message is learned by millions of men and women over
the earth’s surface.

“Here is the only remedy for the ills of the earth. I believe these ills
will be cured.

“Here is the only light, the only glint or glow of expectation for the
future, There are many reflections of life, many moons of delusion and
delight. Here is the only true, blazing sun. This great light is being tended.
A minority watch over it, cherishing its flame.

“Presently that flame will spread across the whole earth, setting the
stubble alight, blazing its swift path from continent to continent, warming
the hearts and illuminating the dark corners of the spirits of men.”

The reaction in Fleet Street, when news of Howard'’s decision began to
leak around, was electric. “My God,” Percy Cudlipp, then Editor of the
Daily Herald, exclaimed to his informant, “who will be next?” Some were
hostile, others incredulous, still more scoffed. “Howard’s gone soft. The
Beaver won't stand much more of this sweetness and light stuff.” Others
were pleased but few dared to say so.

At Westminster the reaction was more positive:

“A woman M.P. who disliked me and for years had not spoken to me,
stopped dead in her tracks in the Lobby of the House of Commons when
she saw me: ‘Good heavens, Peter Howard,’ she said, ‘what have you been
doing? You look ten years younger.’ ”

At home in Suffolk, the effect upon Howard’s family was no less
shattering:

Doé to P.D.H.

Darling, I find it a bit difficult to get used to you. I had so made up my
mind that certain things you did would go on as long as we —making
fun of me in public, getting drunk three times a year, making your
angry face when I asked for money —that I can’t quite get used to losing
them. It unbalances me. I had built up a technique to deal with them and
this has collapsed and I'm a bit lost. Only don’t be too kind to me now.
I only became tidy because you were untidy. I mustn't get slack or
pleased because you aren’t there to force me into better ways by your
ways.

Howard suddenly found time for his children. Instead of the usual
tablespoon of beer on Sunday mornings, they were taken to Sunday
school. There was a peace and happiness and joy which the children could
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feel and respond to, without understanding how it had happened. His
writing in Express newspapers was different.

“The March of Time” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, October 27, 1940

It is easy to give way to spleen and disappointment when we survey the
present activities of our former ally France. It is easy to abuse the French
as treacherous and cowardly when we perceive the miserable rulers of
that fallen republic toad-eating at the table of their Nazi lords.

Yet remember this. We owe a debt to the French. For many months
they fought hard in this war. We could never have withdrawn all our
soldiers from Dunkirk if the men of France had not, at the moment of
departure, borne back the Nazi onrush. While the last of our soldiers
embarked, the men of France held the rear.

And we thought so highly of the part played by the French sailors on
that occasion that we decorated the French Admiral in charge of the
operation.

Every Briton whose relative or friend came away safely from Dunkirk
should remember with gratitude France as she was yesterday.

Today, instead of abuse and foolish recrimination, we should study
the reasons for the disintegration of France, so that we, in these days of
test and trial, may profit from the lesson.

What caused the collapse into ruins of the whole fabric of France — that
nation whose masonry seemed so solid and whose towers seemed able to
withstand for years the onslaught of tyranny?

The reason was decay, insidious and prolonged, in the very foundations
of the State,

“The March of Time” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, December 1, 1940

Complacency is the Devil's drug. It produces the fatty degeneration of a
people. Last winter our complacent attitude to events, the self-satisfaction
with which we waited for the Germans to crack and collapse, without
exerting ourselves to the limit to bring about that situation, lost us the
Battle of France.

We must beware lest this winter we are caught a second time in the
saie snare.

The fact must be faced that as a nation we have a tendency to be over-
complacent. This tendency is sometimes displayed by the over-optimistic
Ministerial pronouncements or by the tones with which BBC announcers
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give the news of a success. It is to be seen in the columns of the news-
papers, and it is to be heard in private conversations around thousands of
family tables.

So let us never for one instant forget the huge nature of the task before
us. While we may lift up our hearts at each success as it comes to us, let
us refrain from dining out for weeks on every small triumph. Let us cheer
but not jeer. Let us repeat to ourselves as we get up each morning and
before we go to bed every night:

“Love not to brag,
Love not to boast,
Grief comes to him
Who talks the most.”

“People I Meet” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, December 15, 1940

Here let me say that during last winter I was guilty of offering a piece of
fatuous advice to the public. Before the bombardment by air began, 1
advocated that the numbers of auxiliary firemen and other paid A.RP.
workers who at that time lingered in idleness about the streets of our
cities should be cut down.

This was a short-sighted viewpoint. Fortunately for us all, the authori-
ties disregarded it. Since Goering’s flying gorillas began their work,
the firemen and A.RP. workers have behaved with splendid skill and
courage.

“The March of Time” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, December 22, 1940

What does Christmas mean to many of us? If we are honest we shall
admit that in many cases the réligious character of the celebration has been
lost by us.

In many homes Christmas has come to mean cigars, champagne,
turkeys, plum pudding, and mince pies —a lot to drink and too much to
eat,

How should we celebrate this wartime Christmas?

The Sunday Express suggests that this Christmas every woman, child and
man in the islands should celebrate Christmas by eating a little less
instead of a lot more.
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“The March of Time” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, January 5, 1941

Britons never, never, never shall be wrong. That is the new slogan which
we seem to have adopted for the duration of this war.

Many of us are obsessed with a fatuous complacency about our own
infallibility, and tainted with the foolish belief that it is weak to admit
that we have fallen into error.

Our minds are dulled by the stupid doctrine that since we always win
the last battle, we can be excused slowness and incompetence along our
road to victory.

Must we always wait until we have suffered, bled and been brought to
the edge of catastrophe before we exert ourselves?

“People I Meet” by P.D.H.
Sunday Express, March 9, 1941

Political systems and schemes and dreams do not really settle anything
very much. Will you agree with me that the only real cure for the condi-
tion of things in the world today is a fundamental change in heart and
habits of great masses of people in every country in the world, including
our own?

Nations will continue to bleed and perish until a nobler conception of
their duty towards their neighbour is established in them. It can be done.
It must be done, if any lasting benefits are to come to us as a result of this
war we are waging against Hitler. Now there are plenty of folk in Britain
who consider that a better spirit in this nation will be achieved if they
can get rid of the people who at present rule us and take on the job
themselves.

I can speak with authority on this subject. I used to buoy myself up
with the conviction that our fortunes would continue to decline until the
day when Peter Howard was given some position of power and authority
in the councils of the nation. This Peter Howard party remained a party of
one, and I am still at large.

Are we going to begin now to build a new Britain in the spirit of faith
and toleration? Or are we going to go forward into an age of “reason”
which makes no bones about it and declares that God is all a myth and
that man depends upon his own efforts for salvation and happiness (the
same efforts he has relied on for the last twenty years) ?

During these months after he had run up his flag, Howard obtained a
greater response from the public and a larger number of letters than
ever before in his career:
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“I set these facts down, as some people have foolishly suggested that in
Fleet Street a man who adopts as his standards the Christian standards of
MRA is automatically a less effective journalist. For months after I
declared my association with MRA, my work continued to appear in the
paper and received praise from the management. Naturally, I did not
attempt to write about MR A, for I should not have been allowed to do so.

“These were difficult days. In my own paper, columnists wrote para-
graphs with the innuendo that MRA was pro-Nazi. Secretaries in the
office were told that MRA members of the staff would not be tolerated.
Other people were warned not to discuss MRA with me.

“Of course, these attempts to create difficulties added salt to the soup,
so far as life in Fleet Street was concerned. Most people laughed at these
admonitions, as I did myself. Certainly nobody paid much attention to
them.

“Now I come to the point when this campaign reached its peak. Part
of my duty was to write the leader column of the Sunday Express. One
Saturday my leader was praised by the Editor, who had himself suggested
to me the subject for the column. My leader was set up in print.

“Hours later, and by chance, I discovered that the Editor had secretly
written another leader. This leader began with an account of how,
when the Germans entered Paris, the door of a newspaper office had been
opened to them by a disloyal employee. It discussed the subject of
quislings and fifth columnists and ended with a demand that MRA
whole-time workers should be conscripted into the army.

“This leader contained suggestions which I knew to be false. I told my
Editor about them. The leader went out to 1,500,000 breakfast tables
next morning just the same.”

Pressure was brought to bear from other quarters. An Editor and a
Cabinet Minister took Howard out to lunch and told him they had informa-
tion that immediately America entered the war, Dr. Buchman, the
founder of the Oxford Group and Moral Re-Armament, would be arrested.
Howard asked them to produce their evidence. This they refused to do.
“It comes from too high a source,” they said.

Howard knew that President Roosevelt had supported MRA’s pro-
gramme in America, so he discounted his hosts’ innuendos. |

“I decided to write a book setting out the truth about MRA. I asked
permission from the Express to publish this book. The answer I got was
one which the Express was legally entitled to make —namely, that I could
write a book on any other subject I chose, but not on the subject of
MRA. If I wanted to write about that, I should have to leave the Express.

“It was a big decision to make. But there was that in me which said
that publication of the truth about a great world movement was of more
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importance than the fate of one journalist, even a journalist so important
to myself as me. So, with regret, I picked my hat off the peg and said
au revoir to Fleet Street.”

The decision which made Howard leave the Express was not taken by
Lord Beaverbrook, who was by this time fully engaged building aircraft
for the Battle of Britain, nor by E. J. Robertson, who was away ill, but by
the Assistant General Manager, Leslie (Dick) Plummer!, who had long
opposed MRA. Years later, Lord Beaverbrook told Howard that he was
troubled by what had happened. Afterwards he tried to get Howard back.
He never succeeded. At the end of his life, Beaverbrook did not want to
succeed. He recognised that Howard was meant for a different job.

Howard’s departure from Fleet Street startled his friends. His arrival
within the ranks of Moral Re-Armament startled everyone. He brought
with him a hurricane personality which swept accepted concepts before
him. If Fleet Street thought that Howard had lost his dynamism as soon as
he stepped out of the Express buildings, they were wrong. He increased that
quality until the day of his death. But immediately, he had to think of how
to provide for his family:

“When I left the Express building for the last time, I clattered downstairs
and out into the Fleet Street traffic. I had lived, slept, dreamed and
breathed for my work. Now, I was out of a job. I walked to Liverpool
Street Station and climbed into a railway carriage and travelled to Suffolk.
For I meant to farm the land.

“Our farmer friends told us that it would take five years before Hill
Farm could be made to pay. But at that time my salary from the Express
came rolling in. Now suddenly our whole circumstances had altered.
My job and salary had vanished overnight. I knew a little of the theory,
but next to nothing of the practice of farming.

“There is a big difference between a man in a highly paid job in Fleet
Street who owns a farm and has plenty of money to spend on it, and an
ex-journalist with an old farm which is losing money fast and which is
the only means of livelihood for himself and his wife and children.

“As I travelled eastwards towards Suffolk in the corner of my third-class
carriage, 1 felt the prickle of fear. I was up against the timeless, ageless,
endless problem of man—how to wrest a living from the stubborn
womb of the earth. Would the land be my master or my servant? Would
the old farm break me, or would I break it? I knew one of these two
things had to happen.”

! Later Sir Leslie Plummer, M.P. for Deptford.
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Chapter 9

In the dawn days of Suffolk

When horses went to plough,

Their breath twin trumpets blowing
My shoulders did not bow

Beneath the load, as now.

We knew the sun must tumble
From summits in the sky,

That autumn follows summer,
That what is born must die.

We laughed —and asked not why.

The leaves are off the hedges.
The frost is on the wing.

The winds are blowing stronger.
We laugh, we leap, we sing,
Whatever seasons bring.

Come winter, come wild weather,
Come envy of the foe,
Or friendships smile and stabbing,
Unfaltering we go,
The victory ours, we know.

P.D.H. 1963

It was Spring, 1941, when Peter Howard stepped off the tram at
Lavenham Station to come home. As he passed through the village and
along the Brent Eleigh road he could see the first pale green buds bursting
in the hedges. Here a primrose, there a wild violet, and everywhere the
earth beginning to move with life. After the second hump-backed bridge
he turned right, up the farm drive. The road was rough and holed, with

gaping puddles and loose stones.

At the crest of the hill, he saw the first dark shadows of the thatched

barns and the house itself:
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“There was an atmosphere of vanished glory about the place, a glory
which had disappeared from so many British farms and holdings during
a get-rich-quick age which despised and neglected agriculture, a glory
which could be restored.

“The farmhouse had the shadow of old nobility about it, though many
of the rooms were covered with layer upon layer of garish wallpaper,
concealing the oaken beams beneath.

“That evening in our farmhouse, with the children put to bed upstairs
in a bare room with oak beams, Doé and I camped in the unfurnished
kitchen, cooking stew on a primus stove.

“In the old Fleet Street days, we often dined at the Savoy at midnight
amid the lights and perfume, the paint and wine and music of a rich and
artificial age.

“Now we spooned stew into our mouths, with an oil lamp stuck on a
deal table as our companion, an inquisitive mouse stuck his nose through
a cranny in the ancient farmhouse wall and peeped at us. I hit at him
with a tablespoon and missed.

“We laughed together, Do€ and 1, and moved upstairs, gazing down by
the light of the lamp on our three children drawing the soft, deep breaths
in sleep. What would they say of the decision we had taken when they
were old enough to understand it?

“We felt a tug of fear at the heart and a throb of resolve also. Before we
went to bed that night we knelt and prayed to God for strength and
courage.”

The Howards were to need strength and courage. Inmocent Men was
published that April. It sold 155,000 copies, but Howard received no
money for it. As with all his books and plays hereafter, he gave his
royalties to Moral Re-Armament.

The Fleet Street reaction was a mixture of amazement, fury and a certain
grudging admiration. Beaverbrook asked Michael Foot and Frank Owen
down to Cherkley for dinner. He had a copy of Innocent Men there, and they
read it that evening. Foot and Owen were angry about the title.

Foot telephoned Doé Howard in Suffolk and gave her a piece of his
mind. It lasted twenty minutes, but Doé was too paralysed to put the
phone down. Foot and Owen met Howard for lunch in a Fleet Street pub
and suggested to him that in the spirit of “absolute unselfishness” he
might not wish to take any more royalties from Guilty Men —a suggestion
taken up by Philip Jordan in his column in the News Chronicle. Howard
assured them that he preferred the original financial arrangement. It was
his only income.

Cassandra! of the Daily Mirror, lamented the departure of “a gifted
cuss with plenty of Adam”, now turned into the “Reverend Howard

1 8ir William Connor.
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throwing his soul on the counter where it stinks like a codfish that’s
been too long out of salt water”. But the writer of the full-page review in
the Sunday Pictorial commented, “He is a courageous man. I admire him for
it.”

The general reaction in Fleet Street was much the same. “Peter Howard is
off his nut. He’s got no money of his own. Here he is — worked for years
to establish himself in the Express. Beaverbrook looked on him as one of
his brightest boys. He would certainly have got an executive job before
long. And he throws it all up and goes out into the cold because of this
MRA, whatever that may be.”

Others were more unpleasant. They accused Howard of treachery not
insanity. They said he was pacifist, Communist, Fascist and dishonest.
These newspaper accusations disturbed his family. His parents, who had
been so proud of him, were now ashamed of him. His mother wrote:

Wealden Way,
Little Common.
April 1941
We are both deeply distressed over you and your affairs. We have a
strong feeling that you are worried and things are not going well. The
Buchmanites have absorbed you, but before you are entirely lost, can
we do nothing to rescue you? At a stage in world affairs so dreadful, do
not let pride or anything stand in your way. We would be only too glad to
help you gain control of yourself, which you seem to us to have entirely
lost.
This letter is written in real distress, which has been eating my heart out.
Our dear love,
Mum

The only member of his family who seemed to understand at all was
his grandmother, Gracie:

£3B, St. Anne’s Crescent,
Lewes.

Sunday, April 20, 1941
Dearly loved Peter, f

Thanks for your book. I have read it. I will re-read it with' deepest
interest.

The idea is no new idea, of God’s guidance and help. Surely we could
not have lived without it these past years. It is real, and most vital to us.
Perhaps you have received a special call from God, and if so you must
obey it, and go wherever He bids you. It has come to many in past years,
and what a privilege to be chosen in this way.

I wish we could meet sometimes. Today we are in Spring sunshine,

123



leading to hope that the summer may not be far off, and that it may
bring victory and peace once more.
Ever in my thoughts are you,
Grannie

With few friends to turn to and no money, Howard had to make
Hill Farm pay:

“Because I knew no better, sometimes I used to tell the men to plough
when the weather made the land unfit to plough, or order them to roll the
young corn when it would have harmed the crops for them to do it.

“They would look at each other when these orders were given, but
were too polite to make any reply. They would go off to the fields, and
return to me after half-an-hour or so with the comment, ‘Can’t work it
today, master.’

“The hedges had crept out on to the land, ten and fifteen yards in some

laces.

F “We skirted them and sat doggedly on our tractors, from dawn till
dusk, cranking the heavy engines with cracked and blistered hands as the
first glimmers of light shone through the darkness, switching from petrol
to oil as the engine grew hot after a few minutes’ work, and chugging
steadily through the day, our bodies aching with fumes and vibration,
chilled by the wind and mizzle of rain which blows in from the North
Sea, but cheered by the even furrows of good earth laid in neat rows
behind us, where the wilderness had been before.

“In the evenings we worked to restore the old glory of the farmhouse.
Sixteen layers of bright wallpaper were stripped off one room before we
came to what lay beneath —a copy of a newspaper, dated 1832 with an
account of how a bull ran amok at Bury St. Edmunds and killed a dog
before it was mastered, and the iron-hard beauty of the oak beams with
the marks of the mattock still upon them.

“We uncovered an ancient chimney-piece, and found in the corner of it
the sign of the master-builder which he had scratched with compasses on
finishing the job centuries ago.

“Doé and I had to set our hands to tasks we have never done before.
We planned and built our first new building, marking and measuring its
foundation with sticks and string on the soaking meadow grass one dark
morning. We sunk the corner posts, sloped the roof, sawed the beams and
weather boarding, our unaccustomed hands and minds being perplexed
and bruised at-almost every small operation.

“How that building rose at all, I cannot think. But it still stands. We
made so many mistakes, Doé and I. But we learned from each one of them.

“We quickly learned the bitter lesson of the handsome cow, with
shiny hide and swelling udders, which proudly faces the dealers and the
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auctioneers at the local market. You take it home —and a few days later
discover why such a fine-looking animal was for sale.

“We planned to increase our herd of cows so they should femhze the
hungry fields, which had smelt little muck for a decade and were hilly and
awkward to plough.

“We chopped and hacked and sawed down the jungle growth of a
quarter of a century. We burned it up behind us, and the charcoal dust
from the fires stuck in the sweat on our brows and hands.

“Steam engines came and broke up with deep cultivations the hard pan
of clay, which years of shallow ploughing to the same depth had left
beneath the surface of many of our fields.

“So many memories of those early days of our farming adventure come
crowding in upon me —and most of them are of Doé.

“She had lived all her life in cities. Her clothes and hats ofien came from
Paris, which was the European capital she knew best. Her hair was curled
and cosseted, her nails a delicate and almost human shade of pink.

“She dreaded life in the country. She was afraid it would turn her into
a vegetable.

“Life on the farm drew forth from its scabbard, where Fleet Street life
bad laid it, all the shining, unconquerable steel of Do&’s spirit.

“I see her now, sweat dripping off her brow on to the baking summer
earth, hoeing, hoeing, hoeing until the time came for her to prepare the
evening meal.

“I see her in an old mackintosh, with a sack tied round her head and
shoulders, her body bent forward like an arrow against the horizontal
December rain, rescuing hens from the swamped hencoops and bringing
home a handful of eggs triumphantly for our winter meal.

“I see her standing upright with one hand rubbing her aching back and
the other sweeping away the hair which had fallen into her eyes.

“Best I remember her in the evenings, when the day’s work was done,
when new difficulties had to be faced and planned, when sometimes it
seemed hard to continue, to know whether we should pull through,
when the temptation was to sell the place at a profit, which we could
have done, and to get clear.

“Doé never faltered. She saw steady, cool and straight from the begin-
ning. She had the dauntlessness of heart and the confidence in God which
makes it hard for others to keep secret their fears or to maintain them.

“Today Doé’s hands are chipped, chapped and stained. Yet they are
lovelier to me than in the days of expensive and fragrant manicures in the
West End of London —lovelier in the sense of more to be beloved. For
they are the hands of a mature spirit which has stood full stature through
the grey days. She has fought and triumphed in the battle of adversity.”

In that battle everyone took part. Philip, Anne and Anthony would lie
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in bed at night and listen to the steady scrape, scrape, scrape of a knife
below, peeling the last piece of plaster off the oak beams. But in the
mornings, or the hot summer afternoons, they would be out pulling
thistles and charlock from the growing crops.

At first there were few helpers. There was Fuller, the farm manager,
Fred, the horseman, and Tommy Beeton. Tommy had come up the hill
on his bicycle and asked Peter Howard for work. Howard told him that
he planned to run the place on the basis of absolute honesty between
boss and worker. Tommy took the job. A few weeks later, he came to
Howard and returned rope and other material he had taken. What he
could not return, he offered to pay for out of his wages. Howard accepted.
It was the beginning of a lifelong friendship:

“Tom’s face and arms are tanned by the sun, washed by the rain and
hardened by the wind of many seasons. He cannot write or spell as well as
a schoolmaster, but he understands the living heart-beat of the earth, the
nurturing of animals from conception, through maturity to market, to
breeding and to death, the rhythm of every field from ploughing and
seeding to harvest. He is accustomed to balance the sudden disaster of a
day against the steady pattern of years and of centuries. In ways unknown
to himself, he has part of the wisdom of God as instinct in his bones.

*“Those hands of his are chunky and strong with the warm wooden feel
of the bark of trees in sunshine as you grip them. They are able to snatch a
great weight and lift it upon his shoulders, and to weave straw delicately
together in a thatch even if the strong winds blow, to perform operations
upon pigs and other animals swiftly, painlessly with his penknife, without
mistakes and without anaesthetic, or to mend many kinds of red-hot
machinery in open fields, may be in winter time and often alone.”

‘From Tom, Howard learnt the secrets of the land. This was more
valuable to him than any agricultural college. It taught him not just what to
do, but when to do it. Gradually, Howard began to make his way. “Old
Man Thorpe™! from Lavenham Park would send over two men and a load
of turnips: “That young man is sure to be in trouble. You get over there
and help him out,” he would say. The generosity was great. No one said
very much, but they all knew that Howard was up against it. They under-
stood the worry and the work which would decide the future of Hill
Farm.

In the summer of 1941, it was not easy to imagine how the war would
end. In Suffolk, many supposed that the Germans would invade. All the
signposts were removed. You could not ask your way in East Anglia,
even if you were well known. Nobody was saying anything. The Home
Guard had great support in Lavenham and Howard was a member of it.

1 Mr. W. E. Thorpe, a farming neighbour.
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“We expected the Nazis to attempt an invasion. Men, women and
children, all of us, meant to fight. Yet we had nothing to fight with. In
our part of Suffolk we had seven rifles and 120 rounds of ammunition to
defend a front of eleven miles long and four miles deep.

“Fach night as Doé and I tucked the children into bed they would say,
‘Mummy, Daddy, are the Germans coming over now?’ We would look
at each other over their heads and make some joke as an answer.

“Every evening after the day’s work men and women met together all
over the Eastern Counties and concocted home-made bombs out of tar,
gas and cotton-wool. We had to light the cotton-wool with a match and
then throw the contrivance underneath an advancing tank in the hopes
that it would catch fire.

“We dug trenches and hiding places in the undergrowth beside all
roads leading from the coast, so the Nazis would not see us before we
hurled our home-made bombs at them.

“We arranged meeting places in the woods if our countryside was
overrun.

“We hid food in places where the Germans could not find it.

“We planned to set fire to our haystacks and burn everything of use to
the enemy in the line of his advance.

“All night long we kept watch on the church towers, at cross-roads and
at every important point in case the Nazis began to drop on us from the
skies by parachute.”

The Home Guard often made Hill Farm the base of their operations. It
was not unusual for the children to see a soldier emerge from a milk
churn in the cowshed, “Ssh, I am a British soldier,” or from a haystack
with straw all over his face, “I am a German,” which sent them running in
terror to the house.

There was only one machine gun on a firing range outside Lavenham.
It was here that the Home Guard would assemble for firing practice.
Many of them were teenage boys, longing to “have a go”. Howard and
Pryke! were responsible for the targets. On a summer evening, when firing
had stopped, they went to remove the targets. Suddenly the machine gun
behind them opened up with a barrage of bullets. Pryke and Howard
fell flat on their faces. The bullets missed them by inches. They heard
the sergeant bellowing at the young boy on the gun, “What on earth
are you doing?” “But you said I could have a go,” the boy replied. “I
said next week,” the sergeant roared. Mistakes of this kind were all too
common.

During the war the men and women of Moral Re-Armament entered the
Forces. Only eleven men remained to keep the organisation going in
Britain, These were classed as “lay evangelists” and were as such exempt

1 Lt. Reg Pryke of Lavenham.
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from military service. Mr. Ernest Brown, the then Minister of Labour, had
created this category for all non-ordained religious workers because of the
value he placed on their service to the nation.

After Mr. Bevin became Minister of Labour in 1940 he announced that
he was going to call up the MRA men. This meant he would treat
Moral Re-Armament differently from any other Christian body. The
Archbishops of Canterbury and York, and the heads of all the Free Churches
protested, but Mr. Bevin stuck to his opinion. The resulting “battle of the
eleven men” was one in which Howard was immediately involved. He
left the farm in Doé&’s complete care at a critical moment and went to
London. For Do the responsibility was enormous. She had no experience
of farming, nor much of England.

P.D.H. to Doé 4, Hay’s Mews,
London, W.1
August 1941

So far almost forty M.P.s are committed to our cause. The number
grows each day. There is no doubt at all, whatever the result of the
immediate issue, that a steady and substantial advance is being made in
almost every part of the country.

Whether it is right or wrong, but certainly it is true, I often find myself
missing you with real pain. At least it is joyful to be so deeply in love
after so many years of marriage with many more to come. You have my
heart and I live with you in thought and spirit, even though just now we
are separated by distance.

The wireless said this morning that farmers could apply for harvest
help to the local military commander. You would be the best person to do
this, I think.

P.D.H. to Doé London, W.1
August 1941

A farm is one of the very few undertakings in which a man and wife
can have full partnership. Unlike almost any other enterprise, you and I
can work as a team there on every decision and every operation on the
place. Someone has to work out the new philosophy for the land,
putting in rather than getting out. Service first and perfection in every
detail.

I also feel, beloved Dog, for the first time that we have some great task
which we can learn together from the beginning —the apparatus and
knowledge needed to farm the land, how much wheat per acre to drill,
how to manage the milking in perfection from beginning to end, etc. It
will be great fun and for once we shall really be marching in step in
equality on the same mission.
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P.D.H. to Dog London W.1
August 1941
The farm loss in our first year was £1,200. I had reckoned on £1,000.
The effect is that our debt to the income tax people of £5o00 is almost
exactly wiped out. Into the lays goes the £316 we spent on seed last year
and on which we are getting the benefit in this year’s harvest. Clemetson!
reckoned we lost nearly £6o0 on livestock last year.
My expectation is that we shall get results this year.

In fact, the losses on the farm increased steadily. It was only in 1943
that the first returns began to come in.

P.D.H. to Do& London, W.1
September 10, 1941
Thanks for your letters which greatly strengthen and encourage me.
I am sorry if you had the impression that I was worried about money.
I am now satisfied that by careful management we can live on the farm
profits. But, of course, we must be prudent. In any event, I will try and
earn something this winter by writing.

On Tuesday, October 7, 1941, Mr. Bevin took part in a two-and-a-half
hour debate in the House of Commons on the issue of the “eleven men”.
One hundred and seventy-four Members of Parliament had signed a
motion supporting MRA. The debate was grave, passionate and, in some
cases, venomous. But Mr. Bevin had told the Cabinet that if he was
defeated, he would resign. The Whips were on the doors and Mr. Bevin
got his way. In the debate Mr. Bevin accused the “eleven men” of being
conscientious objectors as opposed to “lay evangelists”. He said he
regarded the public protest on their behalf as “undemocratic pressure”.

P.D.H. to Doé London, W.1
October 8, 1941

I am enclosing a verbatim account of what went on in Parliament
yesterday. It is exactly as The Times carried the story this morning.

Of course, Bevin's line on the affair opens up an issue far wider than
that of the eleven men, calling into question as it does the whole work —
past, present and future. It is the most serious attack ever delivered upon
us. Yet, in a sense, it is an attack which in the minds of fair-minded
people can be easily defeated. <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>